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INFORMATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS
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SHARE INFORMATION

First listed on the Stock Exchange
13 October 1998

Place of listing
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code
0166.HK

Board Lot
2,000 shares

Financial Year End
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Closing price: HK$0.065 per share
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Hong Kong Branch Registrar
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Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Enquiries may be directed to e-mail:
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WEBSITE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended
31 December

Revenue

Loss before taxation

Loss for the year

Loss per share — basis (HK cent)

Y &

BRI AT & 18

FAEIE
BREBE-EAX GBI

5,034,518
(64,558)
(79,494)

(0.91)

Year ended
31 December
2020

Total assets

Total equity

Debt ratio ™

Gearing ratio @

Net asset value per share @ (HK$)

Remarks:

mEE

BB

(EREa
BERMBLX®
BREEFES (BT

(1) Debt ratio: Total liabilities divided by total assets

(2) Gearing ratio: Interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity

(3) Net asset value per share: Net assets divided by number of issued shares

st

(1)
(2)
(3)

1,021,168
758,956
25.68%
19.25%

0.09
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Year ended

31 December
2019
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236,646
(2,310,385)
(2,290,137)

(26.15)

Year ended

31 December
2019
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22.72%
17.90%
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of New Times
Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company” or “New Times
Energy”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | hereby
present the annual results and audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

OVERVIEW OF 2020

With the coronavirus pandemic affecting all corners of the world,
2020 without a doubt has been one of the most challenging years
in recent history. The virus has infected millions of people, and
paralysed both local economies and international commerce. It has
reduced oil demand and weakened oil prices to unprecedented levels
in mid-2020.

Thankfully, with the rapid deployment of vaccination programs across
the world in recent months, we have started to witness a renewed
sense of hope. The recovery of international oil prices in early 2021
to pre-pandemic levels is a signal of cautious optimism for the new
2021 year ahead.

At the Group level, despite heavy write-down of oil and gas related
investments in the year 2020, New Times Energy still maintain
a healthy, cash-rich financial position. The Group continues to
contemplate and pursue potential new merger and acquisition
opportunities in the oil and gas sector, as well as the renewable
energy business.

The Group is committed to the investment and future development
of clean energy for global sustainability. We are investigating various
technologies towards Carbon-Capture, Utilization and Storage
(CCUS) to eventually achieving Net Zero Emissions. Potentially, by
acquiring producing natural gas assets, New Times Energy would
be in the position to capitalize on long term energy projects that
support a low carbon economy.

New Times Energy in October 2020 successfully secured an
exploitation permit for the Los Blancos Concession from the
provincial authorities of Salta, Argentina for its commercial oil
discovery in the area. The permit officially entitles the Group to
produce crude oil in the area for the next 25 years.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Operationally, the Los Blancos well is continuing to perform to
expectation. Average daily production achieved during the year
for the Group’s 50% participating interest was approximately
240 barrels of per day. The well continues to freely flow unaided,
under its own wellhead pressure. The oil produced is good quality
light crude with zero water content, and free of sulphur and other
contaminants.

In June 2020 the Group further expanded its commodities trading
business in precious metals, and entered into physical gold trading
in Hong Kong. As we witnessed a dramatic increase of the Group's
revenue by the end of 2020, the Group is likely to expand further its
business of trading precious metals in 2021.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Group also set up a new
subsidiary in Nanjing, China for the purposes of trading of
hydrocarbon products, including crude oil, bitumen and isoprene in
the region, due to commence in early 2021.

Despite challenges presented by the coronavirus pandemic, the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 reports a consolidated
net loss after tax of approximately HK$79.49 million. This is an
improvement from the net loss after tax reported of HK$2,290.13
million in 2019, which was primarily attributable to the recognition
of a provision for full impairment loss on the Group’s exploration
and evaluation assets in the Tartagal Oriental and Morillo Concession
in Argentina last year, and continued cost rationalisation efforts in
2020.

The net loss after tax in 2020 was primarily attributable to mark to
market losses and impairment provisions incurred from the Group's
investment in shares of oil and gas companies, such as Beijing Gas
Blue Sky Holdings Limited, as well as losses arising from the Group's
joint venture interest in an oil and gas services company, in addition
to the net effect of foreign exchange losses and hyperinflationary
accounting adjustments arising from the Group’s wholly owned
Argentina subsidiary.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

During the year, the Group contemplated and made a number of
non-binding acquisition offers for attractive investment opportunities
in the oil and gas sector, and one in the power generation business.
Due to the Group’s long term outlook of the future of oil price,
which impacts business valuations, the Group has yet to successfully
secure such new opportunities. Nevertheless, the Group will continue
its efforts to seek suitable mergers and acquisitions opportunities to
grow and diversify its portfolio.

LOOKING FORWARD

New Times Energy continues to proactively manage and structure
its business to best serve the interests of its shareholders. The
Group is committed to maximising shareholder value by exploring
and developing oil and gas prospects in a safe, environmentally,
socially and ethically responsible manner. ESG considerations will
play an increasingly important role in the way the Group conducts
its business in 2021 and beyond. The Group plans to commence
implementation of Carbon-Capture, Utilization and storage (CCUS)
technologies for global sustainable growth.

The Group is well aware of the significance to continually reassess
and diversify its current business and geographical portfolio to
better position itself for the future. It is also critical that, the Group
continues to maintain a healthy cash position to enable it to actively
seek out value adding and complementary investment opportunities
in the energy sector, wherever that may be in the world.

The Group is mindful of the increasing global trend and appetite for
renewable energy sources, particularly in the developed economies.
While our present principal business is that of oil and gas exploration
and production, the Group is taking aggressive steps in transforming
its business model into clean and sustainable energy, in line with the
Group's vision and mission statement: “We develop energy for the
new times. Diversify for climate change and the environment.

As mentioned previously, the Group is committed to the investment
and future development of clean energy for global sustainability.
Achieving Net Zero Emissions will be given top priorities in all future
potential acquisitions.

The Group will continue to aggressively grow its trading business,
both in precious metals and hydrocarbon-based commodities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

APPRECIATION

In closing, | would like to take this opportunity to once again,
express my sincerest gratitude to the Board, the management
team, and all staff members for their efforts and dedication during
a challenging and uncertain year. | am also much obliged to our
shareholders, investors, business partners, bankers, customers and
suppliers for their continued and invaluable support. | sincerely wish
you all good health.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

GENERAL REVIEW

With the coronavirus pandemic dominating 2020, affecting millions
of people worldwide, paralysing global economies, and dampening
oil demand and prices to unprecedented levels, 2020 has been an
extraordinarily challenging year for the Group’s main operations in
Argentina.

Due to the difficult business conditions imposed by the coronavirus
pandemic, the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020,
recorded a loss after tax of approximately HK$79.49 million. The
majority of the loss in 2020 was primarily attributable to losses
incurred from the Group's investment in shares of oil and gas
companies, such as Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings Limited, as well
as losses arising from the Group’s joint venture interest in an oil
and gas services company, in addition to the net effect of foreign
exchange losses and hyperinflationary accounting adjustments arising
from the Group's wholly owned Argentina subsidiary.

Facing this unforeseen event, and during a time of travel restriction
in many parts of the world, the Group in June 2020 expanded its
commodities trading business in precious metals and entered into
the business of physical gold trading in Hong Kong.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Group also set up a new subsidiary
in Nanjing, China, for the purposes of trading of hydrocarbon-based
products, including crude oil, bitumen and isoprene in the region,
which is due to commence in early 2021.

Despite heavy write-downs of oil and gas related investments in the
year 2020, the Group still maintains a healthy, cash-rich financial
position. The Group continues to contemplate and pursue potential
new merger and acquisition opportunities in the oil and gas sector,
as well as in the renewable energy business.

The Group is committed to the investment and future development
of clean energy for global sustainability. Serious considerations
to achieving Net Zero Emissions will be taken in all potential
acquisitions.

With the approval of various vaccination programs, and a gradual
reduction in the rate of coronavirus infection in many countries,
together with the recent recovery of international oil prices back to
pre-pandemic levels in early 2021, the Group is cautiously optimistic
for the year ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's oil and gas participation in Argentina during 2020
was solely in the Northwest Basin located in the province of
Salta. In addition to the Group’s oil and gas exploration and
production activities, the Group was also engaged in the business
of commodities trading, including physical gold trading since June
2020.

Northwest Basin, Argentina

The Northwest Basin is one of the significant gas producing basins in
Argentina. This basin is geologically and structurally complex because
of the superposition of four main basins and tectonic influences,
including a Late Jurassic to Early Cretaceous-aged rift extension and
Tertiary-aged Andean compression. The Group is of the view that the
complex geological structures create opportunities for the discovery
of conventional light oil and natural gas during exploration activities.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held the following concession
in the Northwest Basin situated in Northern Argentina:

EEENWmR DM

£330

AEER_ZF_ZTFHHEMNRIETNA
HERAREE 2L REREENHEL
A - BASENOHEERARDEREE
EEIN REBE T EAE S %3%%5"( BB
“ECTERAERNEBEYEERS

MR ERI R

AR A REEERAREENR M Z
— HREOAETEZRMH BN N B BRIREL
FREFAZEEHRNBERTMARE =L
X %2 5 AT LU R B R Y R & PR 2 & - 3%
RN E R BEGHEEMR - AEERS H
ERENEERE TE%M?TE?EEJJH%%*EE%“%E
LM R R ARAERE

R-ZF-_ZEF+-_A=+—HB XKEEMN
RIEILFRE PR AL B RF B A TR HE IR -

Surface Proven Probable Possible  Prospective  Group's Net

Participating area Reserves Reserves Reserves Resources 2P Reserves

interest (in km?) (MMBOE) (MMBOE) (MMBOE) (MMBOE) (MMBOE)

AEEY

RARE  ERREE THHE ERERE 2PRFHE

wRE®R (FERR (FERRm (FERE (EERE (GBRA
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Los Blancos Los Blancos 50.00% 897 1.8 1.81 1.36 2.50 1.82
Exploration, Development and Production activities B BRRREEEE

Los Blancos Concession Los Blancos#F 7 # E

Operated by High Luck Group Limited (“High Luck”), the Group's
Argentina wholly owned subsidiary, the Los Blancos Concession
(formerly known as the Chirete Concession) covers a surface area
of approximately 897 km? in the Province of Salta in Northern
Argentina. Base on competent, independent third party analysis of
the reservoir and historical production data for the past two years,
the Group’s estimated net interest of 2P Reserves is 1.82 MMBOE
(“Million Barrels of Qil Equivalent”) as stated in the table above.

The Los Blancos Concession is an oil concession in which the Group
has farmed into a 50% participating interest, with Pampa Energia
S.A. being the owner of the other 50%. Being the Operator of the
concession, High Luck is responsible for the day to day operational
and management of the field.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

Operations update

Following the first recorded cases of coronavirus infection in
Argentina in the beginning of March 2020, emergency social
distancing measures were promptly introduced nationwide by the
Argentina government on 20 March 2020, in an attempt to control
the contagion.

Argentina’s oil demand and prices consequently plummeted and
remained depressed for the most part of the remainder of the 2020
year, as domestic economic activity stagnated. For the country’s
oil refineries and producers, there was a temporary suspension or
slowdown in oil production and related activities during June 2020,
as a result of physical oil storage constraints caused by the lack of
demand.

For the Group, the situation was no different, where gross oil
production (i.e. for 100% participating interest) at the Los Blancos
Concession was scaled down from pre-pandemic levels of 600
barrels of oil per day ("bopd”) in January 2020, to approximately 30
bopd in June, before returning back to normal production levels in
August, and ramped up to 800 bopd from the beginning of October
2020.

Despite the intervention efforts by the Argentina government to
reinvigorate the domestic oil market with the enactment of Decree
No. 488/20 on 18 May 2020, which mandated oil activities to
be sustained at pre-pandemic levels, and the establishment of a
minimum USD45 per barrel price (when international oil prices
during 2020 was between a historic low of USD20 per barrel to
USD40 per barrel), there was almost zero compliance with the
decree by oil refineries across the whole country, before the decree
was subsequently repealed.

On 15 October 2020, under Decree No. 622/20 issued by the
provincial authorities of Salta, High Luck was granted an Exploitation
Permit for the Los Blancos Concession, following its commercial oil
discovery in 2018. The Exploitation Permit officially entitles High
Luck to produce crude oil in the area for the next 25 years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year to 31 December 2020, the average daily production
achieved for the Group’s 50% participating interest in the Los
Blancos Concession was approximately 240 bopd. The Group’s gross
oil production for the year was approximately 175 MBBL. Light crude
oil continues to freely flow unaided under its own wellhead pressure
with an APl index of approximately 37° at zero water content, free
of sulphur and other contaminants.

Tartagal Oriental and Morillo Concessions

The Tartagal Oriental and Morillo Concessions (the “"T&M
Concessions”) are located in the Province of Salta in Northern
Argentina and comprise of two oil blocks. The concessions cover a
total surface area of 10,583 km? and have an estimated net resource
of 130.0 MMBOE attributable to the Group.

Prior to the refusal to grant the Group an exploration permit
extension beyond the expiry date of 13 September 2019 by the
previous provincial authorities of Salta, the Group was a 69.25%
participating interest holder in the concessions and the operator of
the field.

Following the ruling by the law court of Salta in favour of the
Group, which stated the provincial authorities must exhaust all
administration processes in regard to the Group's previous appeals
pertaining to the disputed working units’ recognition matter in
the T&M Concessions, there has been no further progress, news
or decision from the provincial government office. The Group has
made impairment provision for the entire value of T&M Concessions
in 2019. With the province of Salta still in partial lockdown due to
the coronavirus pandemic, the Group does not anticipate significant
progress to be made anytime soon. The Group intends to work
towards a resolution to the current stalemate with the Provincial
Government of Salta when appropriate in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

Palmar Largo Concessions

The Group ceased oil production operations at the Palmar Largo
Concessions (the “PL Concessions”) on 30 November 2018, after
the sudden and unexpected relinquishment of the Palmar Largo
block at the request of the Province of Formosa, which in the
opinion of the Group, may amount to illegal seizure of the Group’s
assets by the provincial authorities of Formosa.

Whilst impairment provisions have already been made in 2018 for
all the assets in PL Concessions, the Group continues to seek a
resolution with the new owner and operator of the concessions, and
the provincial authorities of Formosa.

However, due to a clear lack of intention by the aforementioned
parties to compensate or provide physical access for the Group
to recover the oil inventory and assets illegally seized by the
new operator during the past two years after the Groups' forced
relinquishment of the PL Concessions, the Group will prepare to file
lawsuits against both parties.

QOil Price

During the year ended 31 December 2020, international oil prices
witnessed one of the biggest falls in decades. Following the outbreak
of the coronavirus pandemic, Brent QOil had traded for as low as
USD20 per barrel. As the global community has adapted to the new
reality, and started executing its vaccination programs, international
crude oil prices have seen a recovery back to pre-pandemic levels, as
a new sense of optimism for global economic recovery spreads.

In Argentina, despite the government’s attempts to reinvigorate the
domestic oil market with the issuance of Decree No. 488/20 on 18
May 2020, which mandated oil activities be restored to pre-pandemic
levels, and set a USD45 minimum domestic oil price per barrel, both
measures proved ineffective as a result of the government'’s inability
to enforce the decree among nearly all the oil refineries in the
country, before the decree was subsequently repealed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In Northern Argentina, where the Group's oil production facilities are
situated, the average price paid by Refinor was approximately USD36
per barrel during the year to 31 December 2020. This was below the
USD45 minimum domestic price per barrel set by Decree 488/20,
and also below prevailing domestic prices in Argentina. In order
to reduce the Group's reliance on Refinor, and to counteract their
almost monopolistic status in the region, the Group continues to
develop and build its new customer base, with the goal of securing
a fairer market price for its oil.

Devaluation of the Argentine Pesos and Hyperinflation
During 2020, the Argentine Pesos (“ARS") further devalued from a
rate of ARS59.8 per USD at the beginning of the year, to ARS84.1
per USD by 31 December 2020. This equated to 40.6% devaluation
of the ARS (2019: 70.3% devaluation).

In regard to the Argentina economy, the country continues to be
burdened with spiralling hyperinflation. For the year, the annualised
inflation rate was 36.1%, which was an improvement on the
previous year's inflation of 54%.

With the substantial depreciation of the Argentine Pesos and
hyperinflation, there are signs that economic stability in Argentina
is slowly being restored, since the newly-elected government took
office in December 2019. However, as Argentina historically and of
recent years has always been challenging environment for businesses
to operate in, the Group remains cautious about the country’s
political and economic outlook.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE DM

COMMODITIES TRADING

With the coronavirus pandemic prompting governments around the
world to implement emergency social distancing measures and travel
restrictions, the Group expanded its existing business in commodities
trading. On 1 June 2020, the Group expanded locally in Hong Kong,
its commodities trading of non-ferrous metals, also into physical gold
trading.

The Group’s physical gold trades are conducted via an established
and reputable intermediary, with a long-established history and
presence in Hong Kong. To ensure the Group is not financially
exposed to the daily market fluctuations of gold spot prices, all
physical trades and physical inventories held by the Group of this
precious metal are fully hedged with financial hedging instruments.
For the last 7 months of the 2020, the Group had aggregated
trading volume totalling HK$4,975.37 million.

The Group is committed to the expanding its physical gold trading
business with additions of factory facilities and refining capacities to
improve trading volumes and profit margins in 2021.

During the fourth quarter of the year, the Group also established a
new wholly owned foreign enterprise ("WOFE") in Nanjing, China
for the purpose of trading of hydrocarbon-based products, including
crude oil, bitumen and isoprene in the region, which will commence
in early 2021.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS, FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT & FUNDING

During the year, the Group considered and made a number of non-
binding offers for investment opportunities in the oil and gas sector,
and also one in the power generation business. While negotiation
on some of these opportunities are still ongoing into 2021, the
Group continuously looks for oil and gas assets at reasonable and
sustainable prices to enhance its shareholders’ value.

The Group wishes to emphasise that it is committed to future
investment and development of clean energy for global sustainability.
In considering potential acquisitions, the Group will seriously
investigate their possibility of transforming oil and gas productions
to achieving Net Zero Emissions.

While the Group plans its acquisition of oil and gas assets in 2021
as well as investigating the possibility of building its own refining
facilities to enhance its physical gold trading business, these activities
will be financed by existing internal resources and that no public
fund raising by the Company is anticipated in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS

With the Los Blancos Concession commercially producing oil,
the Group’s Argentina operation is able to generate cash to be
financially self-sufficient in the near future. Consequently, the Board
of the Company has resolved to reallocate HK$59.29 million from
the unutilised Open Offer Proceeds, which was set for Argentina
operational purposes, and to re-designate this amount for the
purposes of investment in oil and gas, power generation, and
renewable energy. The Board considers this latest proposed change
in use of proceeds is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

The following table summarises the latest proposed change in use of
proceeds and the resulting new allocation for the unutilised amount
of net proceeds of the Open Offer Proceeds at the date of this
annual report.

EEENmR DT

B EFTS%EAR

BEZELos BlancostraT iRt EEEAM A&
EBEEBEUIRTAGKEERTER
HREERFRZREe Bt ARREEE
ERADRIEMBEEEARZ MASBAR
Fd %% & F7T 13 2L 1859,290,00058 JT I & #1 B
ZRBERERAMNKAR HERABLE
RERAR -BEECRA WABREBERAR IR
TEZEEFAARAREBREZEERE

Rk -

TRBAFMBSRERGZ RN EZEENA
HEH 2N AFHRAYPZ AFREEMMEHIEA
FRERADRACRCEN O

Unused Actual use of
amount of Change Change  net proceeds Approved
net proceeds in use of in use of during the change in  New allocation
as at proceeds on proceeds on year ended use of  for remaining
31 December 26 March 29 April 31 December  proceeds as at portion of
2019 2020 2020 2020 18 March 2021 proceed
BE-2-%F%
R=B-1% RZB=BFE R-F-BE +ZA=t-H R-B=-F
t=ZA=t-B ZA=txHB WMA=thH LLEER ZETtNR  HBTH2HE
WS REFE EEE S feRE  FBRERE  HEFRSHE REZ
Intended use RERR HRBALE RE229 RE228 ERAR RE229 ENORE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Open Offer Proceeds: NERERSRA:
Argentina operational purposes  FTIRIE& & E &) 59.29 - - - (59.29) =
Investment for oil and gas portfolio & MFRAA 500.00 (500.00) = = = =
Investment in oil and gas, BRERBRAAR
power generation, and RERABLER
renewable energy - 500.00 (350.00) - 59.29 209.29
Expansion of metal commodities EREBHRE H
trading - - 350.00 (85.52) - 264.48
Total @ 559.29 S S (85.52) - 473.77
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$5,034.52 million (2019: HK$236.65 million).
The revenue derived from commodities trading for the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$4,975.37 million
(2019: HK$216.33 million). The increase in revenue derived from
commodities trading was contributed by revenue from sales of
physical gold for the year ended 31 December 2020. The revenue
derived from sales of petroleum-related products for the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$33.56 million (2019: Nil).
The revenue derived from sales of oil products under the Group’s
oil exploration and production business for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$25.59 million. This represents
an increase of approximately 25.94% as compared to the HK$20.32
million revenue generated for the corresponding period in 2019. The
Group reported a gross profit of approximately HK$23.50 million
(2019: HK$11.92 million) for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The increase in gross profit was mainly contributed by the increase in
gross profit of the Group’s oil exploration and production business,
and physical gold trading business.

General and administrative expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$39.64 million,
which represents a decrease of approximately 24.13% as compared
to approximately HK$52.25 million for the corresponding period in
2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised an
impairment loss on right-of-use assets amounting to approximately
HK$5.82 million. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recognised impairment losses on exploration and evaluation assets in
respect of the Union of Temporary Enterprise in Tartagal Oriental and
Morillo concessions, and inventories amounting to approximately
HK$2.24 billion and HK$6.82 million respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group recognised net investment loss in respect of financial
instruments of approximately HK$29.62 million (2019: HK$4.21
million) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised
exploration expenses in relation to a dry hole of approximately
HK$0.20 million; whilst there were no such expenses recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$11.12 million, which represents a decrease
of approximately 19.48% as compared to approximately HK$13.81
million for the corresponding period in 2019.

Share of losses of joint ventures of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 were approximately HK$7.08 million, which
represents an increase of approximately 48.12% as compared to
approximately HK$4.78 million for the corresponding period in 2019.

Income tax charge of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$14.94 million; whilst it was an income
tax credit of approximately HK$20.25 million for the corresponding
period in 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a loss
for the year of approximately HK$79.49 million (2019: HK$2.29
billion).

Basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK0.91 cent (2019: HK26.15 cents).

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).

BEEENWR DN

BE_Z_ZHF+_-_A=+—BHILEFE £&&
& 7 m@ Rb T B 1% & E5 18 )% E 4929,620,000
BT (ZZF—F 4,210,000/ 7T) °

HE-_Z—hF+-_A=+—BLFE &
Elﬁyﬁi#ﬁ@ 2 ) 1% B % 49200,0005% 7T : 1M
BE-Z-_ZTF+-_A=t+—RHLFETE
EREERAS-

BE-_Z-_ZTHE+-_A=+—RHILEE-
AEBEMBENKAL A11,120,000% 7T
BT — NFR 413,810,000 TR 2 4
19.48% °

HE-_Z-_TF+-_A=+—BLFE E
1.52&;‘%@ A& EIB 457,080,000 7T
8 — T — . [ B 44,780,0007 7T & h 4
48.12%

B2 Z-_ZF+_A=+—HIFE &K
’E@E’Jﬁﬁ 575 B 2 49 414,940,000 7T 0 1 —
TN FREPRIRFTE R % 420,250,000
BT

HE-_ T TFE+-_A=+—BItFE K
E BB FRNEIELT9,490,0008 T (==
— L4 : 2,290,000,000/ 7T ) ©

BHE_Z-_ZF+_-RA= + Eiiﬁm
ngzwéﬁsam%om B (ZF—NF:26.15
L) o

ARAEEFEEZITERNBEE_ZE_ZF

TZA=+— Eti&ﬁ’]&ﬁiﬁ,ﬁﬁﬂx% (=
T—NFE) -

Annual Report 2020 ¢ —Z—ZF %% 19



20

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE DM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

In respect of the aggregate net proceeds of approximately
HK$557.23 million (“2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds”)
raised from the subscription of shares in July 2016 and November
2016, amongst which approximately HK$357.16 million had
been used up to 31 December 2019 towards its intended use as
stated in the circular of the Company dated 28 June 2016, and
the announcements of the Company dated 28 October 2016 and
27 August 2018. On 26 March 2020, the Company announced
a change on its intended use of the unused balances of the
2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds and the Open Offer Proceeds
(as defined below). Details of the change were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 March 2020. As at 31
December 2019, the unused balance of the 2016 Subscription
Shares Proceeds was approximately HK$200.07 million. The actual
use of the 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds during the year ended
31 December 2020 was, as to approximately HK$0.21 million, for
Argentina operational purposes as intended, and as to approximately
HK$68.82 million, for general administrative purposes including
the repayment of debt and interest, and payment of overhead as
intended. As at 31 December 2020, the unused balance of the 2016
Subscription Shares Proceeds was approximately HK$131.04 million.

In respect of the net proceeds of approximately HK$736.40 million
("Open Offer Proceeds”) raised from the open offer in April 2017,
amongst which approximately HK$177.11 million had been used
up to 31 December 2019 towards its intended use as stated in
the circular of the Company dated 28 February 2017, the offering
memorandum of the Company dated 27 March 2017, and the
announcement of the Company dated 27 August 2018. On 26
March 2020 and 29 April 2020, the Company announced changes
on its intended use of the unused balances of the 2016 Subscription
Shares Proceeds and the Open Offer Proceeds. Details of the changes
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 26 March
2020 and 29 April 2020. As at 31 December 2019, the unused
balance of the Open Offer Proceeds was approximately HK$559.29
million. The actual use of the Open Offer Proceeds during the year
ended 31 December 2020 was, as to approximately HK$85.52
million, for expansion of metal commodities trading as intended. As
at 31 December 2020, the unused balance of Open Offer Proceeds
was approximately HK$473.77 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEN W& D

The following table summaries the use of net proceeds for the 2016 TR EHEE T -FTF+-F=+—HIt
Subscription Shares Proceeds and Open Offer Proceeds during the HFER - —NFERBEBRMNF ?%/*XIE&QF#EJ

year ended 31 December 2020. BEMSHRENNMSRIBFERS
Unused Actual use of Unused
amount of Change Change net proceeds amount of
net proceeds in use of in use of during the net proceeds
as at proceeds on proceeds on year ended as at
31 December 26 March 29 April 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2020 2020 2020
BE-2-%E

RZB-h% RZBZB% R=B-%% +ZA=t-H RZBZ2%
TZA=t-R# ZA=t5H MA=thH LEER tZA=t+-HE
FERERE FMBRERRZ FERERR:  FEIEREZ  FEREREZ
Intended use RERRE HRBASE 29 29 ERERLE HRBASE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

(Note 5) (Note 5)

(ft3£5) i)

2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds: —ZF—~ERBRAFHEFE:

Argentina operational purposes MEE2ERN 200.07 (179.36) - 021 20.50

(Note 1)

Gisa)

Investment in oil and gas, power BRERBRAAR BER - 79.36 - - 79.36

generation, and renewable energy PELE (Note 2)

(Bizk2)

Investment in short to medium term ~~ RERAZFHLBIER - 100.00 - (68.82) 3118

financial instruments, and general —RITHE ) (Note 3)

administrative purposes (Fi5E3)

Total = 200.07 - - (69.03) 131.04
Open Offer Proceeds: NERERERE:

Argentina operational purposes MBERERH 59.29 - - - 59.29

(Note 1)

(Ht3E1)

Investment for oil and gas portfolio RERREAR 500.00 (500.00) = = =

Investment in oil and gas, power BERARAAR BER - 500.00 (350.00) = 150.00

generation, and renewable energy ABERR (Note 2)

(3E2)

Expansion of metal commodities trading R BARE 5 - - 350.00 (85.52) 264.48

(Note 4)

GED)

Total At 559.29 - - (85.52) 473.77
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE DM

Notes:

1. The expected timeline in relation to the use of the unused amount of net
proceeds as at 31 December 2020 will depend on the Group's business,
and oil and gas investment plans in Argentina, which are discussed in the
sections headed “Operations update” and “Change in use of proceeds” under
Management Discussion and Analysis to this annual report.

2. The expected timeline in relation to the use of the unused amount of net
proceeds as at 31 December 2020 will depend on the availability and timing of
suitable opportunities.

3. The unused amount of net proceeds as at 31 December 2020 is expected to be
utilised on or before the year ending 31 December 2021.

4. The unused amount of net proceeds as at 31 December 2020 is expected to be
utilised on or before the year ending 31 December 2023.

5. Details of the change in use of proceeds are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 26 March 2020 and 29 April 2020 respectively.

The Group maintained a treasury policy (as reviewed or modified
from time to time when deemed necessary) for the investment
of surplus cash. Surplus cash is mainly maintained in the form of
term deposits with the licensed banks. The management of the
Group closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

The Group entered into certain derivative financial instruments
for economic hedging purposes in order to mitigate the financial
impact of gold price fluctuations in gold inventories and gold bullion
purchased or held by the Group. The use of these derivative financial
instruments is closely monitored and controlled by the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$649.84 million (2019: HK$842.50 million)
and the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$640.92 million (2019: HK$771.66 million).

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 December 2020
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar,
Argentine Peso and Renminbi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2020, total equity of the Group was
approximately HK$758.96 million (2019: HK$846.46 million). Net
asset value per share equated to approximately HK$0.09 (2019:
HK$0.10). Debt ratio, calculated as total liabilities divided by total
assets, was approximately 25.68% (2019: 22.72%).

The Group financed its operations generally from a combination
of working capital, borrowings and proceeds from the issuance of
shares of the Company.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2020, included in the carrying amount
of borrowings of the Group was unsecured debt securities of
approximately HK$141.32 million (2019: HK$151.54 million)
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar and carrying interest at fixed
rate. The remaining balance was unsecured short-term loan of
approximately HK$4.75 million (2019: Nil) denominated in Renminbi
and carrying interest at fixed rate. Details of the maturity of the
carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings are set out in Note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, gearing ratio, calculated on the basis
of interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity, was
approximately 19.25% (2019: 17.90%).

Charge on Assets
As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (2019: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2019: Nil).

Capital Commitments
Details of the capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December
2020 are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEEENWR DN

R-B-TE+_A=+—B KNEBE#:H
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AEE-RUEZEES HERARAH
TRBZHBREREERNES -

B8

R-ZE-_EF+-_A=+—H HALKEH
B TRIEMEERT SR E A BT
B EH4141,320,0008 T (T — L5
151,540,000 70 ) * WiZ E & A K5 B - 82 58
BUAARBHERN BB IRE A E 544,750,000
/%713( ’Fﬁ j-Lf'E E) I&.IE*U‘!‘E‘I‘EO
AEEEEROMEMNIBFBIENGEY
HIRFMIFE27 ©

EESBHLER

RZZEZZFF+_A=+—H U BEER

LM%“ REFENEEBELELB19.25%
—NF17.90%) °

EEHER
RIE_ZEF+_A=+—H FEELE
EREEER (ZT—NF 8)-

HREE
R-F_FF+_A=+t—HB AKEHLE
EREASIABE(ZE—NF E) -

BRERE

AEER-_ZF-_FFF+_A=1+—HWENR
EEFBHNFEEM B mRMEESS -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE DM

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial risks.

The Group’s business of commodities trading is exposed to
development risk, as well as supply chain risk. The Group mitigates
these risk factors by developing its customer base in order to
achieve better operating performance on its commodities trades,
and also by expanding its supplier base to achieve a stable supply of
commodities.

The Group's business activities in exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil are susceptible to geological,
exploration and development risks. The Group strives to establish and
maintain comprehensive technical and operational teams. Through
detailed planning, analysis and discussion amongst the teams, and
with support from experienced consultants and experts, the Group
is able to manage and mitigate the risks arising from changes in the
business environment to a reasonably acceptable level.

In the normal course of business, the Group is exposed to credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, price risk arising from
prices fluctuation of crude oil and commodities, and equity price
risk arising from its investment in equity securities. Details of the
financial risk management of the Group are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the abovementioned risks and uncertainties, there may
be other risks and uncertainties which the Group has not identified,
or is aware of, or considers it to be of minimal impact to the Group
presently, which however has the potential to become significant in
the future.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar, United States Dollar, Argentine Peso and Renminbi.
Most of these assets and liabilities are in the functional currency of
the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving
rise to foreign exchange risk is primarily those from the Group's
exploration and production activities in Argentina and investments
in foreign companies. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
will monitor the foreign exchange exposures on an on-going basis
and will consider hedging instruments should the need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of 44 (2019:
38) permanent employees in Hong Kong, China and Argentina.
Total employee remuneration (including directors’ remuneration
and benefits) for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$16.38 million (2019: HK$19.58 million).
The Group provides its employees with competitive remuneration
packages relative to their job performance, qualifications, experience,
and prevailing market conditions in the respective geographical
locations and businesses in which the Group operates.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, social communities and
governments to meet its objectives and long-term goals. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Business Review"”, there was no
material or significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers,
customers and/or stakeholders during the year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies, and joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavors to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Details of the environmental
policies and performance of the Group are set out in “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section of this annual report.

Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and gold investment in gold bullion
amounting to approximately HK$74.09 million and HK$68.59 million
respectively.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
As at 31 December 2020, the Group's financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss comprised of listed equity
securities, listed debt securities and unlisted debt securities
amounting to approximately HK$53.05 million, HK$14.95
million and HK$6.09 million respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DN

As at 31 December 2020, details of the listed equity securities RZE-TFE+-_A=+—RH LWk
are set out below: ABHZFHBRINWOT -
Net investment
Fair value at loss for the year
31 December ended 31 December
Name of company Principal business 2020 2020
BE-Z-2F
R-ZZB-EF +=A=+-—H
+TZA=+—H®W tFEERE
NCIEE FEEK AREE BiEFE
HK$ million HK$ million
BEBTT BEBT
Beijing Gas Blue Sky Sales and distribution of 43.27 (30.76)
Holdings Limited natural gas and other related (Note (i)
(Stock Code: 6828) products (BE#EG))
bR R EE R AR RARKREMEEEREE X
BB AR (Bh 5% 7 8
6828)
NWS Holdings Limited Development of, investment in 3.74 (1.26)
(Stock Code: 659) and/or operation of roads, (Note (i)
commercial aircraft leasing, (PR 3EG))
construction and insurance;
and investment in and/or
operation of environmental and
logistic projects, facilities and
transport
FEIREEBRAR] B EmAREES B2ER
(B& 2 X 5%  659) RBFE - RER K
g RIRERRES
DR BHIEE R R E
China Overseas Land & Property development and 6.04 (1.96)
Investment Ltd. investment, and other (Note (i)
(Stock Code: 688) operations (BEEG))
PRGN ERERAT DEBRREEAREMER
(B&1p 5% - 688)
Total 53.05 (33.98)

st
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(ii)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Note:

(i) Balance represented a loss arising from the change in fair value for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

The carrying value for each of the above listed equity securities
is less than 5% of the total assets of the Group.

At as 31 December 2020, the Group held three investments
of debt securities listed in Hong Kong or overseas and an
investment of unlisted debt securities. The carrying value
for each of these four investments is less than 5% of the
total assets of the Group. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group recognised a net investment income of
approximately HK$1.60 million, which comprised interest
income of approximately HK$1.88 million and a loss arising
from the change in fair value of approximately HK$0.28 million,
on the listed and unlisted debt securities in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Gold investment

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
purchased gold bullion at a cost of approximately HK$62.47
million. As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the gold
bullion was approximately HK$68.59 million, representing
approximately 6.72% of the total assets of the Group. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised a gain
arising from the change in fair value of approximately HK$6.12
million on the gold bullion. The purposes of holding gold
bullion are to support the development of the Group’s physical
gold trading business, and to achieve capital appreciation
and capture the effectiveness of gold as inflation-proofing
instrument. The Group entered into certain derivative financial
instruments for economic hedging purposes in order to
mitigate the financial impact of gold price fluctuations.

(ii)
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL RESERVES AND RESOURCES

SRR FnER AR &R

LOS BLANCOS CONCESSION (FORMERLY KNOWN
AS CHIRETE CONCESSION)

The oil Reserves and Prospective Resources in the Los Blancos
Concession are as follows:

Category Gross (100%)

BRI 45T (100%)

LOS BLANCOS $55F# E (A #8
CHIRETE4:FHE)

PALos BlancostF TRz ABREENRESE
JREMT:

Reserves (2019: Recoverable Volume)

Proven and Probable PRER R LB
Possible Al B
Prospective Resources BERERE
Low Estimate KA
Best Estimate &AEEET
High Estimate &= hE

Notes:

(1

In July 2016, New Times Energy became a 50% participating partner in the Los
Blancos Concession (formerly known as Chirete Concession) having met all the
conditions precedent as stipulated in the farm-in agreement entered into with
Pampa Energia S.A. (formerly Petrobras Argentina S.A.) in April 2015.

The technical reports in respect of the Reserves for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: Recoverable Volume) was prepared, using probabilistic methods by
Gaffney, Cline & Associates, Inc., an international oil and gas consultancy and
subsidiary of Baker Hughes, in accordance with the definitions and guidelines
established by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

In October 2018, New Times Energy spudded the HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory
well (the “Well”). The Well was completed on December 2018. As a result of the
positive indications from the Well, New Times Energy prepared and submitted
an oil discovery report to the provincial authorities of Salta (the “Authorities”)
on 26 December 2018. Following successful extended testing of the Well in
early 2019, New Times Energy filed a commerciality declaration and exploitation
permit request to the Authorities on 26 April 2019. The permit was granted on
15 October 2020 under Decree 622/20, formally entitling the Group to produce
crude oil in the area for the next 25 years.
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL RESERVES AND RESOURCES

X RE

As New Times Energy in 2019 was awaiting receipt of the exploitation permit
from the Authorities, the Recoverable Volume as herewith disclosed that year, did
not fully meet the definition of reserves as defined under the Petroleum Resources
Management System (PRMS). However, upon receipt of the aforementioned
permit on 15 October 2020, the recoverable volume subsequently qualified to be
reclassified as Reserves for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The technical report in respect of the Prospective Resources was prepared by
Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. (“NSAI"”), an international independent
qualified technical adviser, as of 31 December 2019 in accordance with
the definitions and guidelines set forth in the 2007 Petroleum Resources
Management System (PRMS) approved by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.
As at 31 December 2020, there were no material changes in the Prospective
Resources since the date of the aforementioned NSAI technical report and as
disclosed in the table above.

Due to the existence of insignificant quantities of prospective gas resources, no
estimate of this gas was made in NSAI's technical report.

The Prospective Resources shown above have been estimated using probabilistic
methods and are dependent on a petroleum discovery being made. Unrisked
Prospective Resources are estimated ranges of recoverable oil and gas volumes
assuming their discovery and development and are based on estimated ranges
of undiscovered in-place volumes. Geologic risking of Prospective Resources
addresses the probability of success for the discovery of a significant quantity
of potentially moveable petroleum; this risk analysis is conducted independent
of estimations of petroleum volumes and without regard to the chance
of development. Principal geologic risk elements of the petroleum system
including (1) trap and seal characteristics; (2) reservoir presence and quality;
(3) source rock capacity, quality, and maturity; and (4) timing, migration, and
preservation of petroleum in relation to trap and seal formation. Risk assessment
is a highly subjective process dependent upon the experience and judgment
of the evaluators and is subject to revision with further data acquisition or
interpretation. There was no material change on the assumptions adopted in the
updated report in compare with the previous report.

3

)
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, aged 66, was appointed as an
executive Director in February 2008 and the Chairman in May 2009.
Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, the United
States of America ("USA"); a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering
from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Being a member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Mr. Cheng is a professional engineer with extensive
experience in property development and construction management.
Mr. Cheng is a member of the Shunde District, Foshan City
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
since November 2006.

Mr. Cheng joined Hip Hing Construction Company Limited in 1984
as a project manager and was subsequently appointed as director.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Cheng was transferred to New World
Development (China) Limited as a director and an assistant general
manager, overseeing property development in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC"). He was a director of NWS Service Management
Limited from 1997 to 2006, and was mainly responsible for
the construction and the electrical and mechanical engineering
businesses and pursuing business opportunities in the PRC.
Mr. Cheng is the managing director of Cheung Hung Development
(Holdings) Limited, principally engaging in property development
in both Hong Kong and the PRC. He was an executive director of
International Entertainment Corporation from January 2008 to June
2017, which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, aged 68, was appointed as an executive
Director in June 2017. Mr. Tang joined the Group as general
manager in August 2015. He brings with him over 20 years of senior
management experience and has held top executive positions with
various international companies prior to joining the Group.
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Formally trained as a structural engineer, Mr. Tang was a Chartered
Engineer in the United Kingdom (“UK") as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in USA and Canada. Author and co-author
of peer-reviewed publications in several technical journals and
conferences, he is also the holder of U.S. Patent US6329589
pertaining to wireless transmission of solar power for exterior curtain
wall in buildings.

Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering, Magna Cum
Laude, from the University of Massachusetts, USA; a Master’s degree
in Engineering from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and
a Graduate-Level Diploma in Financial Engineering from Stanford
University, USA.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in March 2019. Mr. Lee is currently a senior vice president
of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited ("CTFE") with responsibilities
in making strategic and private equity investments globally. CTFE
is an indirect subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited which is
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lee joined CTFE in
March 2013 and has over 10 years of professional experience in
corporate finance, investment, international capital markets and
asset management. He previously worked at the investment banking
department of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited and Deutsche Bank AG in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee holds a
Master of Science degree in Accounting and Finance from The
London School of Economics and Political Science to the University
of London in London, United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor,
United States of America. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
Charterholder.

Mr. Lee is currently a non-executive director of Integrated Waste
Solutions Group Holdings Limited which shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in March 2013. Mr. Yung holds
a Master's degree in Business Administration from the University of
East Asia, Macau. He is a member of the Institute of Management
and a fellow of the Chartered Management Institute. Mr. Yung has
been engaged in finance and banking businesses for over 26 years.
He was the chief executive officer of Landbridge Holdings Limited,
the deputy chief executive officer of Industrial & Commercial
Bank of China (Macau) Limited and an executive director, deputy
general manager and alternate chief executive officer of Industrial
& Commercial International Capital Limited (currently known as
ICBC International Holdings Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China Limited.

Mr. CHIU, Wai On, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Chiu is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the UK. He possesses extensive professional experience in accounting
and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is currently an independent
non-executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. HUANG, Victor, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2020. Mr. Huang has over 28 years
of experience in professional accounting, capital market and merger
and acquisition. Mr. Huang joined PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong
Kong in January 1993 and admitted to partnership in July 2005.
He left PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong in July 2014. From July
2014 to August 2017, he was a partner of KPMG in Hong Kong.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

BYFATES

SIRBELE 68 R_ZE—=F=AREE
RBYUFATEZ -FAEFBARMARIAKA
By ITRERBELREU -RAEHEES®®E
EEHERSEEFEE -SRECHKES
MEBRTEBBE_ T NF -RERERBE
BRERQRZITHRAER  HETERT CRFT)
BERARZBIITHAR HETERITRG
BERABIZZEMNBAR IHBEESBEAR
NE (RBTRERIERERAR) 2HTE
B BB EITRER

BEREE SIR R_ZETRF+—AEZ
ERBIFATEE - HELRBB A
SRERRERHLARGIMARERGE -
BEREARZBRE T ARFEEEELR-
BEAREKARENEREEERARZE
VIHERITES  ZRB 2R ER AT LT

BERELE 9% RZ_TF ARER
RBIFRTEZ - BRERNEXGF EXN
mELHETEREEBE28FRR-BEE
R—NAN=F—AMABTEEZBKERT
MEBMYN _ZTZTAFEARRERA-
BR-_FT—NFLARTEERRKBERT
MEBHAHT BT —WFLtAE-_T—+
FNR REEBERFHEFENEHAA

BEA-
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Mr. Huang is currently an independent non-executive director of
(i) Laobaixing Pharmacy Chain Joint Stock Company (stock code:
603883.SH), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange;
(i) Qingdao Haier Biomedical Co., Ltd. (stock code: 688139.SH), a
company listed on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange; and the following companies which are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, namely (iii) COSCO SHIPPING Energy
Transportation Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1138), (iv) Evergrande Property
Services Group Limited (stock code: 6666), (v) ManpowerGroup
Greater China Limited (stock code: 2180), (vi) Scholar Education
Group (stock code: 1769) and (vii) Topsports International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6110). Mr. Huang was an independent non-
executive director of Trinity Limited (stock code: 0891) from
December 2018 to December 2020 and China Bright Culture Group
(stock code: 1859) from February 2020 to November 2020.

Mr. Huang is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association. He is also a Certified Independent Non-
executive Director by the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang
received a bachelor’s degree of arts from the University of California,
Los Angeles in September 1992.
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OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

Mr. CAVALLERI, Pablo, is a Geologist and is currently the Operations
Manager of the Group. He graduated at the National University of
Salta Argentina in 2005 with a bachelor’s degree in Geology. Pablo
has 15 years of experience in the oil and gas industry, predominately
in Argentina and Saudi Arabia. Pablo joined the Group in January
2014 initially as a Development Geologist but later promoted to
Operations Manager from 2017. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
in companies such as Geoservices, Orion Excel Company, Schlumberger
D&M Middle East And Asia as a Field Engineer (Saudi Arabia), and
YPF Argentina as a Development Geologist. Pablo is an author and
co-author of several written publications including a publication in
technical national and international congress for the Qil Discovery in
Ordovician Prerift Sequences Las Brefias Formation, Lomas de Olmedo
Sub-Basin, Northwestern Argentina; Argentinian Geological Congress,
August 2017, Tucuman-Argentina; Exploration and Development
Hydrocarbon Congress, November 2018, Mendoza — Argentina, and
AAPG 2019 International Convention & Exhibition, Buenos Aires,
August 28th 2019, Argentina. Pablo is also the Vice-President 2nd of
Directive committee of IAPG (Qil and Gas Argentinian Institute), branch
office Tartagal, Salta Argentina since December 2017.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of New
Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”) present their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in the above sections, no significant event affecting the Group has
occurred since the end of the Year.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group's performance using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Financial Highlights” of
this annual report.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and
discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance
are included in the respective sections headed “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management of the Company are
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration during the Year. The Directors are also not aware of any
material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against
the Group during the Year.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 92 to 93 of this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 203 of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2019: Nil).

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and investors
to make informed investment decisions relating to the Company, the
Board adopted a dividend policy on 26 March 2019 (the "Dividend
Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to
declare any dividend in the future and the amount of dividend to be
declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including
but not limited to:

a.  the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

b.  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

c.  the liquidity positions of the Group;

d. the future cash requirements and availability of the Group,
including its expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

e.  any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

f. the general market conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

g. any other factor that the Board may consider appropriate.
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The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration, payment
and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s discretion.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
period from Monday, 31 May 2021 to Thursday, 3 June 2021 (both
days inclusive), during which no transfers of shares will be registered,
for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held
on Thursday, 3 June 2021 (the “AGM"). In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 28 May 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has made no
material acquisitions and disposals.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DEBENTURES

There were no issue of bonds or debentures of the Company during
the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the share option scheme of the Company disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 17 May
2011, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in place of the old share
option scheme adopted on 30 August 2002 (the “Old Scheme”).
No further share options may be granted under the Old Scheme
upon its termination and share options granted and unexercised
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the provisions of the Old Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme is adopted under the relevant
requirements of Chapter 17 of the rules governing the listing
of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and its purpose is to provide incentives or rewards
to the eligible participants thereunder for their contribution or
would be contributions to the Group and/or enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group. Eligible participants include
any Director (including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Director), employee (whether full time or part time),
any supplier of goods or services to the Group, any customer
of the Group, any agent or consultant that provides research,
development, technological support or other services to the Group,
any shareholder or any member of the Group or any holder of any
securities issued by the Group. The Share Option Scheme, unless
otherwise terminated or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from the date of coming into effect.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be refreshed
by the Shareholders in general meeting. In addition, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and to be granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme to each
eligible participants (other than an independent non-executive
Director or a substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of the latest grant of share options must not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue at such date. Any further grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme in excess of this limit is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the Company.
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Under the Share Option Schemes, any grant of share options to a
Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any share
options granted to an independent non-executive Director or a
substantial Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all share options already granted or to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme (including share options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant (i) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii) having an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, such grant of share options by
the Board must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting of
the Company.

The period within which share options may be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion save that such period shall not be more than 10 years
from the date of grant of the share options and that the Board may
at its discretion determine the minimum period for which the share
options have to be held before the exercise of the subscription right
attaching thereto.

The exercise price of the share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determinable by the Board in its absolute discretion, but
in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such share options; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such share options; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's shares.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon
payment of a consideration of HK$1.00 by the grantee.

During the Year, no share options were granted nor cancelled under
the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2020, the Company
had no other outstanding share options.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Company’s securities, they
are advised to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 32(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Pursuant to the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company’s contributed surplus of HK$740,880,000 is currently not
available for distribution. The Company’s share premium account
of HK$4,868,181,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for 92.14% and the largest
customer accounted for approximately 67.53% of the Group's total
revenue for the Year. The aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 59.04%
and the largest supplier accounted for approximately 21.48% of the
Group's total purchases from continuing operations for the Year.

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their associates, or
any shareholders of the Company (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital), had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Jumbo Hope Group Limited (“Jumbo Hope”) a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company entered with New World Tower Company
Limited (the “"Landlord”) into the following documents:

(i) an offer letter of the tenancy in respect of the lease of the
office unit at Room 1402, 14/F New World Tower |, 16-18
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong for a term commencing
from 15 March 2020 to 14 March 2023 (both dates inclusive),
at a monthly rental of HK$81,091 (exclusive of services charges
and government rates) on 25 March 2020; and

(i) an offer letter of a tenancy in respect of the lease of the
office unit at Room 1401, 14/F, New World Tower |, 16-18
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong for a term commencing
from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023 (both dates inclusive), at
a monthly rental of HK$247,091 (exclusive of service charges
and government rates) on 27 May 2020, to be equally borne
by Jumbo Hope and Cheung Hung Development (Holdings)
Limited (“Cheung Hung").

On 27 May 2020, Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited (“CTFC") is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. The Landlord, being a 30%
controlled company (as defined in the Listing Rules) of CTFC, is an
associate of CTFC. Cheung Hung is an associate of Mr. CHENG,
Kam Chiu Stewart, a director and the chairman of the Company.
Accordingly, each of the Landlord and Cheung Hung is a connected
person of the Company, and the entering into of the offer Letters
of tenancy constitute connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

With the exception of Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, who abstained
from voting on the relevant resolutions to approve the entering into
of the offer Letters of tenancy on the grounds of being member
of the board of directors of Cheung Hung, and also a relative (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of Dr. CHENG, Kar Shun Henry, the
chairman of New World Development Limited, the immediate parent
company of the Landlord. The Board, including the Independent
non-executive Directors, has reviewed the connected transaction and
confirmed that they were:

(i)  entered into by the Group in its ordinary and usual course of
businesses;

(i)  conducted on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third
parties; and

(iiiy  fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.
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EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS, EXEMPT CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed above, certain amounts of the transactions as
set out in Note 34(b) and Note 34(c) to the consolidated financial
statements fall within rule 14A.76(1) or rule 14A.90 of the Listing
Rules, but each of the transactions sets out in Note 34(b) and Note
34(c) constitutes a de minimis or fully exempt transaction which
was free from the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
so far as they are applicable.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were/are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor (Note)

Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (resigned on 24 March 2020)

Note: On 19 June 2020, Mr. HUANG, Victor was appointed by the Board as an
Independent non-executive Director. He was subsequently appointed as a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee with effect from 28 August 2020.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 30 to 33 of
this annual report.
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In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws and the code
provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan,
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob and Mr. HUANG, Victor shall retire by rotation
at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
Information on Directors proposed for re-election will be set out in
the circular to the Shareholders accompanying the resolutions to
re-elect them at the AGM.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
and officers of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors and the
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets of the Company which may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duties. The Company has maintained liability
insurance to provide appropriate cover for the directors and officers
of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the Year, none of the Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries was party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, as recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") in respect of
information required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange by the Directors and/or chief executive of the Company
pursuant to the SFO or to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (or any other applicable code), there
were no interests, whether long or short positions, held or deemed
to be interested by any of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), nor had there been any rights to subscribe for any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations held or deemed to be interested by any of them as at
31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors and their respective associates was considered to have any
interest in any businesses that competes with or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee of the Company and approved by the Board, based
on the job responsibilities, the prevailing market conditions of
the industry and the Company’s remuneration policy, operating
performance and profitability.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in Notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement benefits schemes are set out in
Note 2.23(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the following corporations had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO and in accordance with information received
by the Company.
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Long position of substantial Shareholders’ interests in FERAREAQTECRITEBERER Z
issued ordinary shares of the Company L3y
Approximate
Number percentage
of issued of the total
ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held capital
e BT
e &7 R EE
REREH 2% £:1:3-1 =BEREA BB
(Note (vii))
(B = (vii) )
Max Sun Enterprises Limited Beneficially owned 5,737,129,098 65.50%
("Max Sun”) (Note (i)
B TERRAT EmkE
([&8#F])) (M0))
Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,737,129,098 65.50%
("CTFNL") (Note (i)
BARBREAGRAF ZiE A E R
(TAXKBREAL) (MIFEG))
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
("CTFHL") (Note (iii))
AXE (ZER)ERAF ZiE A E
(TARBER]) (BFEGI))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
("CTFC") (Note (iv))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited XA E s
(TeTrc]) (BiF&EGv))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
Limited (“CYTFH") (Note (v))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) R A E
Limited ([CYTFH J) (Hi3E(v))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
Limited (“CYTFH-II") (Note (vi))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings 1) RPEEE
Limited ([CYTFH-I1]) (B &E(vi))
Elberta Holdings Limited Beneficially owned 794,850,000 9.07%

BEnlA
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Notes:
As at 31 December 2020:

(i) The entire issued share capital of Max Sun was legally and beneficially owned by
CTFNL.

(ii) CTENL held 100% direct interest in Max Sun and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares held by Max Sun.

(iii)  CTFHL held 99.90% direct interest in CTFNL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFNL.

(iv) CTFC held 81.03% direct interest in CTFHL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFHL.

(v) CYTFH held 48.98% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFC.

(vi) CYTFH-II held 46.65% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares of CTFC.

(vii)  The approximate percentage of interests held was calculated on the basis of
8,758,880,988 ordinary shares of the Company in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
recorded no other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section “Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions and Related Party Transactions” in this directors’ report,
no contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any controlling shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in information of Directors are set out below pursuant
to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- The annual remuneration of Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart,
the executive Director and chairman of the Company, has been
adjusted to HK$2,584,800;
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- The annual remuneration of Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, the
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company,
has been adjusted to HK$2,896,000;

- The annual remuneration of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, the non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee, has been adjusted to HK$524,800.

- Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. YUNG,
Chun Fai Dickie and Mr. CHIU, Wai On, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term of
three years commencing from on 5 June 2019. Director’s fee
for each of Mr. Yung and Mr. Chiu remains at HK$200,000 per
annum; and

- Mr. HUANG, Victor was appointed as an Independent non-
executive Director on 19 June 2020 with a director’s fee of
HK$200,000 per annum. He was subsequently appointed as
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from 28
August 2020.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 49 to 65 of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
subsequent events after 31 December 2020 and up to the date of
this report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the Company
with effect from 11 November 2020 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of KPMG and to hold office until the
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, there were no other changes in the auditor of the
Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, who will
retire at the conclusion of the AGM. PricewaterhouseCoopers, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to develop and grow while aiming
to improve its financial position, business operation and industry
reputation in order to create long-term value for shareholders.

By order of the Board

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman
Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company and management of the Group strive to attain and
maintain high standards of corporate governance best suited to the
needs of its businesses and interest and value of the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as the Board believes that
effective governance is essential to the maintenance of the Group’s
competitiveness and to its healthy growth.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted and applied the principles of the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous
compliance with the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December
2020 (the “Year"”), the Company complied with all code provisions
of the CG Code and adopted the recommended best practices of the
CG Code insofar as they are relevant and practicable, apart from the
deviations as described in this Corporate Governance Report.

Code Provision C.1.2

Under code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, management should
provide all members of the board with monthly updates giving
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties
under rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. During the Year
under review, the management of the Company did not provide
monthly updates to all members of the Board as required by the
code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, as all the executive Directors
were involved in the daily operations of the Group and were fully
aware of the performance, position and prospects of the Company,
and the management of the Company had provided to all Directors
(including, non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors) quarterly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
in sufficient details prior to the regular board meetings. In addition,
the management of the Company had provided all members of the
Board, in a timely manner, updates on any material changes to the
performance, position and prospects of the Group and sufficient
background or explanatory information for matters brought before
the Board.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor (Note)

Note:  On 19 Jun 2020, Mr. HUANG, Victor was appointed by the Board as an
Independent non-executive Director. He was subsequently appointed as a
member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee with effect from 28 August 2020.

Number of
Directors
EEAH
6 Executive
5 Director
HITES
4
3
2
1
0
Gender Designation Ethnicity
14 5] RIS RS
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The Board has a balanced composition of Executive and
Non-executive Directors with each Director having sound knowledge,
experience and expertise contributing to the performance and
development of the Group. All Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties of care, skill and diligence.

The Board members do not have any financial, business, family
or other material and/or relevant relationships with each other.
Biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
“Information of Directors” section of this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to diversify the Board. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional and industrial experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service, and any other factors that the
Board might consider relevant and applicable. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set the measurable objectives based
on gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience and skills and knowledge for the implementation of
Board diversity of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Policy, on
a regular basis, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to
time. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

Having reviewed the Policy and taken into account the measurable
objectives, the Nomination Committee and the Board considered
that the Board’s composition has complied with the requirements of
the Policy during the Year.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and collectively responsible for promoting success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
The Board also formulates objectives, overall corporate strategies
and business plans, and oversees the financial and management
performance of the Group. Day-to-day functions and authorities are
delegated to the management, which include the implementation
of objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. There are
established procedures for the Directors upon reasonable request,
to seek independent advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to code
provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman has also met with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the year. The independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to provide their independent views to the
Board.

Corporate governance functions

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board performing corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (in any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year for the
reviewing and approval of the Company’s financial and operating
performance, as well as the consideration and approval of the overall
strategies and policies of the Company. Apart from the regular
board meetings, the Board met on other occasions where necessary.
Throughout the Year, Directors also participate in the consideration
and approval of routine and operational matters of the Company by
way of circulating resolutions.

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings. To facilitate
maximum attendance of the Directors and to provide opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for the Board meetings, notices of
regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the regular meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other meetings. Meeting agenda together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are normally given
to all Directors no less than 3 days prior to each Board meeting to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Company Secretary is
responsible to ensure that Board meetings comply with the relevant
procedures, rules and regulations. All Board meeting minutes record
the details of the matters discussed and decisions made. Board
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and signed by respective
Directors.

Directors’ attendance of the Board Meetings and Annual General
Meeting (“AGM") held during the Year are set out below:

TEELHRE

Exga;
EXg8FRIEMBETHREH A
RZERRBIFHREERE  URERR
BERARFZEBRBERR - BEZEHE
ReRN EFTENERTAREMER (4
FE) RAFE EFNTEBEHRER
DEEENMERRFTBEREESE

RAFE EFGHRTORIE - RTEE
ZEFLFER YRHEERESZINES
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Number of

Board Meetings AGM
attended/held attended/held
EERER HE S RT
Name of Directors EEHS HEBITRE BRERBERE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BRERB LA (E/E)
(Chairman) 9/9 11
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan B BEAE (7THAEER)
(Chief Executive Officer) 9/9 1/1
Non-executive Director FEHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob HEF L 9/9 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors B HTEE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SIRELE 9/9 171
Mr. CHIU, Wai On REZRE 9/9 1/1
Mr. HUANG, Victor HEERAE 3/3* =
Mr. CHAN, Chiu Yuen RERLE (RZFEZF
(resigned on 24 March 2020) =A==+ HET) 3/3%* =
g During the Year, three board meetings of the Companies were held after the — * FRN BERELAER-_Z_ZEFATILAE
appointment of Mr. HUANG, Victor on 19 June 2020. ZREZE RNARABIT=ZREEZEGHR-
G During the Year, three board meetings of the Companies were held before the = ** FR BREEREEN-_TE-_TF=A=1+MA

resignation of Mr. CHAN, Chiu Yuen on 24 March 2020.

BER ARAABIT=ZRESTETH-
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by two
executive Directors, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart and Mr. TANG,
John Wing Yan respectively. Their respective responsibilities are
clearly established and defined.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is accountable
to the Board ultimately. The Chairman takes the lead to encourage
Directors to make active contribution to the Board’s affairs and
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer represents the management of the
Company and is accountable to the Board. His main responsibilities
include overseeing the implementation of the Group’s strategies,
objectives and policies as well as monitoring day-to-day management
of the Group's businesses and operations.

Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise,
varied background and experiences. Through active participation
in Board meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the
non-executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision-making of the Group.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the three independent non-executive Directors. Each
independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may
affect his independence. During the Year, the Nomination Committee
has assessed the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors based on the guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered them to be independent.

Between 24 March 2020 and 18 June 2020, the Company was
unable to meet the requirement of having a minimum number of
three independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.10(1) of the
Listing Rules.

Except for the deviation stated in the above period, the Company
has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) of the
Listing Rules throughout the year.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

In compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), (i) any Director who
is appointed to fill a casual vacancy is subject to election by the
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment; and (ii)
all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, the Directors, Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan and Mr. LEE,
Chi Hin Jacob will retire from office by rotation at the AGM and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the same meeting.

Mr. HUANG, Victor who was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2020, will hold office only until the AGM
and will offer himself for re-election at the AGM in accordance with
the Bye-Laws 86(2).

INDUCTION, INFORMATION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors will receive an induction
package covering the general understanding of the Group and its
businesses and operations. Meetings will also be arranged with
the Company's external legal adviser on directors’ legal role and
responsibilities.
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All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. Timely updates on the
Group's financial performance, businesses and developments are
also provided to the Directors. They also have full and timely access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice at
all times whenever deemed necessary.

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development
(the “CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the Year, the Company encouraged all Directors to attend
training courses, seminars, webcasts or conferences which were
relevant to their respective duties and responsibilities at the
Company’s expenses, and provided relevant materials and updates
for their reading. The Directors are required to provide the Company
with details of CPD training taken by them from time to time. The
training records are kept by the Company Secretary. Based on the
records provided, the Directors participated in the following CPD
programmes during the Year:

MEESHERETBBMBREN ER R
ROICEREY EFTeEREREAE
BHBERR EFHEREROKNBE -BF
BRI EEMERGIAARENERRRE
FERBERNGELERER

BEALEERTRZTRAERXEAG6SG
PREFAABEIXUR ([ FEER
BRI O UZBRMEREMGMRE - RA
FE - ARABBEREFHRFEANESS
ZBEMBEABIHIRE EH®E B
HBRLEF BERAAQRAEZ YEREM
HEEH RGN EEAHREEHNE -EEA
AARBRBAEBRSETIRER ZHERHE
BRIBIZFE - BB ARWERT
REMEHZCE RAFEEEELHEN
THESXZRR:

Directors’ Training in 2020
EER 2T FHNEI
Attending training
courses, seminars,

webcasts or Reading materials

conferences or updates
HEZIRE -
EHE - FEERS
Name of Directors EEnE RPERRNER BHHE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BB (FE) v 4
(Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan BB E (7THAEER) v v
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHLELE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTEE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie &R S A v v
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BERESE v v
Mr. HUANG, Victor mEREE v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an important part of a sound corporate governance practice,
the Board has established four Board Committees: the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Executive Committee to assist the Board to discharge its functions.
Each Committee has specific written terms of reference which sets
out clearly the Committee’s duties and authority. The terms of
reference and the list of members of each committee are published
on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and/or the
Company.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties, including the management support and
engagement of independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense. The Committees report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations and maintain an effective and constructive
communication with the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four Directors
namely Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie,
Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai
Dickie, the independent non-executive Director, is currently the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors of the Company. Details of the authority and
duties of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee convened two
meetings to, inter alias, review the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors, and approve the appointment letter and
remuneration packages for the new Independent non-executive
Director. Members’ attendance of the Remuneration Committee
Meetings held during the Year are set out below:
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Number of
Meetings
attended/held
T
Name of Members EEHE HITRE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) — SIREL L (/&) 2/2
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart B 38 FA 5 A4 2/2
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BERESE 2/2
Mr. HUANG, Victor =HREELEE 1/1%*
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (Chairman) ERLE (EE )
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R-ZF-FF=H —+PHET) -
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob TEEELE
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (RZF-FF=H -+ PHHEFEE) -
e One Remuneration Committee meeting was held after the appointment of Mr. ~ * B®EE FE?EEE’\\fgfgi)\ﬂ +NBEZT
HUANG, Victor on 28 August 2020. & RRRBIT-RAHNEEGRHR-
Nomination Committee REZES®
The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors REZZEHBAENRZREE (AFE

namely Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie,
Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai,
Dickie, the independent non-executive Director, is currently the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst other things,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
considering the re-appointment of Directors, reviewing the Board’s
diversity policy and relevant implementation of the diversity policy,
and making recommendations to the Board in respect of the
aforesaid matters.

By such policy, the selection of candidates is based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision is based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates bring to
the Board. Details of the authority and duties of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee convened three
meetings to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board, and recommendation of appointment of the Independent
non-executive Director. Members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee Meeting held during the Year are set out below:

TEELHRE

REAFE REEZEEARA=ZRERH USE
MEFeZ2RB RE ANKRKEZ T
ARBBREEBILFATEST - RNEAFER
TZIRBREEEER K E HEREEI
T

Number of

Meeting

attended/held

BEHE

Name of Members EEHE BHITRE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) SiRBEE (FE) 3/3

Mr. CHIU, Wai On BEREE 3/3

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEEEE 3/3

Mr. HUANG, Victor =HERLE 1/1*
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart B85 48 5% A&

(resigned on 24 March 2020) (RZF-FF=H-+PHHET) -

Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (Chairman) PRERSEE (£/)

(resigned on 24 March 2020)

* During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held after the
appointment of Mr. HUANG, Victor on 28 August, 2020.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises four Directors namely
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, Mr. CHIU,
Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members being
independent non-executive Directors. All of them possess the
relevant qualifications, experiences and skills to contribute to the
financial, governance, internal controls and risk management of
the Company. Mr. CHIU, Wai On, the independent non-executive
Director, with professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise is currently the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
consolidated financial statements and reports and considering any
significant or unusual financial items; overseeing the relationship
between the Company and the external auditor; considering the
scope of its audit, approving the audit fees and the appropriateness
of non-audit services; and reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s financial controls and risk management and
internal control systems. Details of the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
Stock Exchange.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held five meetings, inter
alia, to review the 2019 annual results and the 2020 interim results
of the Group and to review the Group’s internal control system
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
In addition, the Audit Committee met the external auditor once
without the presence of the management to discuss any areas of
concerns. Members' attendance of the Audit Committee Meetings
held during the Year are set out below:

RAFE BEZEZEBEARAREH K (H
TREB)ENAKEE _T-NF2FEXE
R—Z_FFZHHEE BHAKEZR
ARESIE NI E - BREA QA G MM IS E R
RRZBRFARM BIZERRER LLIN
ERZESEINEZBMEEEABREN
BRATET—Rem JwAESEINME
B RNAFERTZERZEENEHFEAX
BEHWT

Number of

Meetings

attended/held

BEHE

Name of Members EENR HEITIRE

Mr. CHIU, Wai On (Chairman) HREZTE (XE) 5/5

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEFLELE 4/5

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SR IE % & 5/5

Mr. HUANG, Victor HREELEE 2/2*
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen bR = Lﬁ%i

(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R-_F-FF=H —+PHET) 2/2%*

e During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held after the appointment ~ * FA BERELEER-_Z-TFNA=+NH

of Mr. HUANG, Victor on 28 August 2020.

* During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held before the resignation
of Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen on 24 March 2020.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 August 2017 and
is currently chaired by the Chairman of the Board, Mr. CHENG, Kam
Chiu Stewart with the CEO, Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan as member.
The executive Directors involved in operations of the Group and
are fully aware of the performance, position, and prospects of the
Company.

The main duties of the Executive Committee include overseeing the
general management and day-to-day operations of the Company,
monitoring the execution of the Company’s business strategy as
approved by the Board, approving any changes to the scope of
authority delegated to the management and any other matters
specifically delegated to it by the Board. Details of the authority and
duties of the Executive Committee are available on the Company’s
website.
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TEELHRE

During the Year, the Executive Committee held sixteen meetings. AEE PTZEEEARA T NREHE
Members' attendance of the Executive Committee Meetings held $¢F§$ﬁ2$ﬂﬁ§§@@%§25@\Hj}ﬁ//\
during the Year are set out below: HEHIWT -
Number of
Meetings
attended/held
BREE/
Name of Members EERE HEITRE
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ERERERAEE (E)
(Chairman) 16/16
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan ok BEE (7TBAAE)
(Chief Executive Officer) 16/16

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and
understandable annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided the Directors such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s cash flow projections prepared by management based
on estimations of future revenue from sales of crude oil, future
production costs, committed and planned capital expenditure and
the availability of financing, which cover a period of twelve months
from the reporting period end date. They are of the opinion that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due and committed future capital
expenditure within the next twelve months from the end of the
current reporting period.

LEPSE: Y

Bt 75 BB 3R
EERRANERUSAMBRERZIAL A
BERBERESFAMASEMNTEN KR

SFEAR EWRA - FB QAR 2 ER
BRAEALEMEREERERBEEEMA
FHHEAVBRE RESETREGEM
BRRODEANPEE  UEEE W BHRE
NEFHEARRFFHHERME B EKNERR

EXeRaERELEMARAREMEAEREE
MEZ52E AW KA 2R e & & 8
BE NBEEAEREMBEEERE -

ERECREZRREMBOEEREN U
FEFESRAUAR M BHRRIELANER
fh YRXEZgHE-

EREFEMBRRZAERUELER &
ZEEMEEERIBEARRHE Rf 2 et
RREEMRA  GE Rt 8BRS AT A
BEFLOBETMARNARERSRTER
BMERRABEHREREA T _EA K
ERRAEEREETHLEEESNERK
ENEFBEE ARBARREHREK
K+ B RO EGBERKRERL L -

Annual Report 2020 ¢ =& — B4 Ff

61



62

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

/\\:)‘- \\
TRER/RE

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”), are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 82 to 91 to this annual report.

Auditor’s remuneration

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and service
charges of the non-audit services performed by PwC and considered
that such services have no adverse effect on the independence of
their audit works.

A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by PwC for the
Year and their corresponding remuneration is as follows:

BEFEL A BERRMAD 258
FE(E - IR B IR RERR L N ANE B () Al g 5 A
NRAZFHERERNBRERNER Z2HAE
HERTHBAREE-

SNISAZ BUEM B RO E B RTEN IS A ([ 28
ERKE]) Z2BEEFHERAFRENLA
EFNAZBYURBMME -

BB &
ENREQCENE R KEBRETHER
REZHEERREKE BEZEREHH
ERIEZBIMITEBEREETE-

RAFE  BRBOKBREZEZMFER
REBEAREBEMESOT

Amount

Nature of Services i = nEE

(HK$'000)

(F#&mx)

Audit service for the Year RARFE 2 & %R 1,880

Others (including agreed-upon procedures Hith (BEBHEF

in respect of preliminary announcement XBENHREZHERT)

of the annual results) 20

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing an
effective and sound risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the
Group. The Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board to
review the risk management and internal control systems.

Procedures have been designed to (i) safeguard assets from
inappropriate use; (ii) maintain proper accounting records; (iii)
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations;
and (iv) manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
To safeguard confidentiality, information access is managed on a
need-to-know basis. Use of computers, especially access to the
internet and e-mail systems, is similarly regulated with a view
towards security.
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The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
provide a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material
misstatement of the financial statements are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and
risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's objectives are
properly managed. It can only manage, rather than eliminate, all
risks of material misstatement, errors, loss or fraud.

During the Year, the Company engaged an independent advisory
firm, to perform an internal control review to assess the Group’s
internal control systems in order to assist the Board in reviewing its
effectiveness. The reviews, normally performed once a year, covered
the effectiveness of the financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group, with a focus
on the core business of the Group (i.e. the upstream business in
Argentina). Relevant report from the independent advisory firm
was presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee and the
Board. Based on the results of internal control review for the
Year and the assessment of the Audit Committee thereon, no
material inadequacies or deficiencies in the risk management and
internal control systems were drawn to the attention of the Audit
Committee, but appropriate recommendations for further enhancing
the internal control systems have been taken. The Board is of the
view that the internal control systems were effective and adequate
and no irregularities, fraud or other deficiencies were identified for
the financial year ended 2020.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary directly reports to the Board. The Company
Secretary is responsible for supporting and advising the Board on
governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and
service of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures,
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Mr. LEE, Kun Yin was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company in March 2020 and confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS

Communications with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with the Company’s Shareholders and investors, and maintains
ongoing dialogues with them through various channels. The
formal communication channels between the Company and the
Shareholders are announcements, circulars and interim and annual
reports. All Shareholders’ communications are available on the
Company’s website. During the Year, there was no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents. An up-to-date consolidated
version of the Bye-laws is also available on the websites of the
Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company which provide a useful forum for the Shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Board members and
management of the Company are available to answer Shareholders’
questions and explain the procedures for demanding and conducting
a poll, if necessary.

Shareholders’ rights

Under the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less than 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company at the date of deposit of written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, can at all times
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
addressing specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the
date of deposit of such requisition to the Company's head office
address in Hong Kong.

The Group recognises Shareholders’ rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. The Company has been
conducting voting at the general meetings by way of poll, which is
conducted and scrutinised by the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong. Procedures for conducting a poll are explained by the
Chairman of the Board in the general meetings prior to the taking of
the poll. Poll results are announced and posted on the websites of
both the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Constitutional Documents

The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws are
available on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. During the Year, there was no change to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries and proposals

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, in person or by post. Contact details are set out in the
“Information for Stakeholders” section to this annual report.

Enquiries and proposals by Shareholders requiring the Board's
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the
Hong Kong head office address of the Company.

Investor relations

During the year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its shareholders and the
investors through the announcement of its interim and final reports.
Through the timely distribution of other announcements, including
but not limited to notices of meetings, circulars and other relevant
Company's information, the Company has also kept the public aware
of its latest developments.

Conclusion

Going forward, the Company will continue to review its corporate
governance practices on a timely basis to continue its high
level of transparency. The Company will also try to enhance its
competitiveness, industry knowledge and operating efficiency in
order to generate greater returns for its stakeholders.
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THE SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD OF THIS
REPORT

The Group hereby presents its 2020 ESG report, highlighting its
Environmental, Social, and Governance (the "ESG") performance,
with disclosure made by reference to the ESG Reporting Guide
as described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is principally engaged in the exploration, development,
and operation of oil and gas projects. In accordance with reporting
principle and materiality assessment of the Group’s ESG aspects, it
was identified that the subsidiary, High Luck Group Limited (“HLGL")
was a key business for disclosure in this reporting year, by virtue
of its carbon footprint in relation to that of the Group. This ESG
report covers the Environmental and Social performance of the HLGL
business operations in Argentina for the year ended 31 December
2020, unless otherwise stated.

Additionally, the Group is involved the business of commodities
trading, via its subsidiaries, Grand Rich Trading Limited, United
Resources Trading Limited, and Absolute Champ Limited. For 2020
ESG reporting purposes, this was excluded from the ESG reporting
scope on the grounds that the business of commodities trading had
limited consequential environmental and social impacts.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

During the year, the Group engaged in regular meetings and events
to communicate with various stakeholders to obtain information,
relevant comments, and feedback from the participants to
understand their expectation in the development of the Group's
business portfolio and sustainability.

In order to identify the most significant aspects of the Group for
ESG reporting purposes, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved to identify the areas
of attention, to facilitate the Group in setting the overall direction of
this report.
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The Group is planning to further involve and engage its stakeholders
in an effort to further improve the usefulness of its ESG reporting.
Our concession partners are also periodically engaged in UTE
operational committee meetings for their latest views.

In general, stakeholders may locate ESG information through the
following channels:

o Annual general meeting and notices

o Annual reports, interim report, consolidated financial

statements and announcements
o Corporate website
o Investors briefings
o Notice and Circulars
o Bilateral contracts and supplier agreements

. Code of conduct
STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its Environmental,
Social and Governance initiatives via email at info@nt-energy.com.

THE GROUP’S MISSION AND VISION ON
SUSTAINABILITY

Mission

As an oil and gas exploration and production company, the Group
operates under the ethos of “Health & Safety First” by adopting
best practices to ensure the health and safety of its employees,
contractors, customers and communities. The Group strives to
continuously improve its health & safety management practices with
the goal of achieving an injury-free workplace.

The Group is committed to ensuring all its plant and equipment are
operationally safe and free of hazards. Furthermore, the Group is
committed to ensuring its employees are properly trained in safe
working practices and that they have a clear understanding of their
responsibilities for taking positive steps to improve health and safety.
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Vision

The Group is committed to its Corporate Social Responsibility,
Health and Safety, Environmental Protection, Human Resources and
Labour Practices, and Community Involvement and Sustainable Value
Creation policies when conducting business activities wherever it
operates in.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

1. Environmental Impact and Legal Compliance

As an oil and gas exploration and production company,
the Group is well-aware of the impacts and potential
risks that the its field operations pose to the environment
and the surrounding ecosystem. The Group adopts
an Environmental Management System (EMS) in its
management of the environmental risks arising from its
operations. The Group strictly complies with all relevant
environmental laws and regulations in each jurisdictions
in which the Group operates in.

(i) Type of Emissions
During the year, the Group’s main emission sources
were from diesel fuel, electricity, water, and paper
consumption. With regards to emissions, our
business is strictly reqgulated under the national laws
and regulations of Argentina.

2. Greenhouse Gas Emission
There were 427.3 tonnes (2019: 428.1 tonnes) of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCO2-eq) greenhouse gases (mainly
carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide) produced
by the Group in the year. The Group’s gross annual
production was 175,308 barrels (bbl) (2019: 123,408 bbl)
of crude oil. The calculated carbon intensity of scope 1, 2,
and 3 combined was 0.0024 tCO:-eq/bbl (2019: 0.0035
tCO2-eq/bbl). Our HLGL operation in Argentina accounted
for most of the Group’s carbon emissions during the year.
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Due to Scope 3 emissions from paper consumption and wastewater — H A% 3R 5B FE TS 7K B2 T2 19 8 B3 HE U E &
treatment being determined as less than 0.5% of total greenhouse A E| - ZE—RNFREFEEZREHRELEN
gas emission from the 2016 reporting, these items have been 05% FEWZEHERHEELMEERED
excluded for reporting purposes since then, by virtue of their RERERE Z ke

insignificance.

Scope of Greenhouse

Gas Emissions Emission Sources

BERBHENREE BER IR

Scope 1

&E

Direct Emission Consumption of Diesel fuel by

EEHE the Group and its Contractors Fleets

(162,826 litres)
AEEREFABENEHER
(162,826 A7)

Scope 2

g[E2

Indirect Emission Consumption of Purchased Electricity

Rl #2 BB (17,200 kWh)
FrEEE 7R #E (17,200 T R B )

Scope 3

gE3

Other Indirect Emission  Business air travel

Ho b I 5 HE IR I IR 1T

Total

&t

Notes:

Emission Total Emission
ERE B HRE
(in tonnes of CO,eq) (in percentage)
(COeqmAZN) (BAL)

P& -

The calculation methodology of CO, emission of diesel fuel in Argentina is based on the — AR LM — S LT E IR IBEEFIZE & o

International Standard.

Emissions from business air travel were calculated using online tool provided by FEEHMERITHHRECHERREAMEEEAIRMHNE

International Civil Aviation Organization.
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3. Emission Sources

(i)

(i)

Fuel Consumption

The Group utilises vans, pickup trucks and cars for
transportation. All motor vehicles operate using
diesel fuel. The Group’s annual consumption of
diesel was 8,619 litres. When selecting vehicles, the
Group considers factors such as safety, reliability,
maintenance cost, fuel efficiency, in addition to the
primary determining factor of cost.

Air emission including nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur
oxides (SOx) and respiratory suspended particles (PM)
from fuel combustion of all vehicles operated by the
Group contributed the following: 7.05 kg of NOx
emission, 0.14 kg of SOx emission and 0.52 kg of
PM.

Electricity Consumption

Electricity consumption by the Group was 17,200
Kilowatt-hour (kwh) (2019: 817,000 kWh), with
an energy intensity of 0.098 kWh/bbl (2019: 6.620
kWh/bbl). To achieve the energy use efficiency
initiative, the Group encourages its staff to minimize
energy consumption where practicable. For
example, the Group encourages the switching off of
unnecessary lighting and electronic appliances when
not required or not in use. Furthermore, the Group
has a procurement policy of purchasing energy
efficient equipment.
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(iii)

(iv)

v)

Water Consumption
Water consumption by the Group was 329 cubic
meters (m3) (2019: 11,527 m?3).

Paper and Packaging Material Consumption
Paper consumption was insignificant to the Group's
operation. No packaging material is used during
the production of crude oil, as this is stored in large
oil tanks until customers purchase, whereupon it is
delivered by oil tanker trucks.

Hazardous Waste Produced

During the process of oil production, hazardous
waste may be generated from possible minor
spillage, replacement of spare parts and lubrication
oil, discarded gloves and other materials. A total
of 2.74 tonnes of hazardous waste was generated
during the reporting year (2019: 3.42 tonnes).
Preventative measures adopted by the Group include
the following:

° Scheduled inspection and maintenance of
plant and equipment

o Transportation of contaminated water to
appropriate treating facilities

° Training and education of employees
o Conduct pre-job briefing

° Spillage prevention programs and remedial
action plans

° Close supervision

° Continuous improvement plans

(iii) Ak

(iv)

(v)
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(vi)

The hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
separated at origin. For hazardous waste, the
treatment, collection and final disposal is managed
by qualified professional handlers.

Non-hazardous Waste Produced

During the year, the Argentina operation generated
6.98 tonnes of organic and inorganic waste
(2019: 13.56 tonnes). Inorganic waste includes
plastic and glass, whilst organic waste was mainly
the by-product generated from the site catering
facility. The Group provides directive procedures
for segregation and classification of non-hazardous
waste to aid recycling initiatives. For non-hazardous
waste treatment, the organic waste is buried and
composted, while the inorganic waste is incinerated.

4. Environmental Conservation Initiatives
Sustainability initiatives and green culture permeates
through the whole Group. We strives to operate in an
environmentally friendly manner by adopting practicable
green office practices including:

Use of recycled paper

Printers configured to print double sided by default
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Return of used printer and copier ink toner cartridge
to manufacturer for recycling and reuse

Switching-off lights, computers and office
equipment when not in use

Replacement of energy efficient alternatives

Adjustment of air conditioning settings to reduce
power consumption

For replaced furniture and computer equipment, the
Group's practice is to first offer these items to employees
for personal use, before it is disposed or recycled.

B. SOCIAL
1. Employment and Labour Practices
(i) Employment

The Group fully recognises its employees are a
critical asset of the entity. Therefore, the policy
of the Group is to hire and retain employees
with professional skills that enable the Group to
achieve its strategic objectives. This is based on the
following recruitment principles:

. Respect and trust at all levels, in all
circumstances without exception

° Transparency and honesty in professional
relationship

a. Effective communication
b.  Emphasis of transparency

° Willingness to cooperate and help others
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Recruitment and compensation is based on
qualification, experience, skills and performance.
The Group offers competitive compensation and
benefits packages in line with the local market rates
for comparable roles and responsibilities in the
industry. The Company’s hiring practice is to recruit
locally, with the exception of certain key managerial,
technical or professional posts, where it may not be
possible or appropriate to fill locally.

Promotion and Performance Evaluation

Promotion and salary increase, outside of the
Group's discretionary annual inflationary increase,
is subject to a responsibilities and performance
evaluation. An individual’s promotion and
remuneration is closely correlated to their job
responsibilities and performance. The Group
operates a policy of internal promotion, whenever
possible.

The Group ensures that its employees are evaluated
on their job performance through the application
of objective measures. The human resources
department coordinates and verify the performance
of each employee, in relation to mutually agreed
objectives established at the beginning of each
appraisal year. The performance evaluation is carried
out once a year by the employee’s immediate
supervisor.

Dismissal

The Group may at any time, terminate an employee
when his or her behaviour or attitude is not
satisfactory, or does not meet the performance
standards established/necessary for the position. In
all cases, termination procedures will strictly adhere
to minimum requirements established by the Law in
the Labour Code or relevant local laws.

Employee Turnover Rate

During the year, there were 4 (2019: 8) staff
turnover to report. These persons left on amicable
terms and for reasons of personal development or
relocation.
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Workplace Rights and Competitive
Compensation

HLGL operates in accordance with the Argentine
Labour Contract laws regarding salaries, working
hours, overtime and benefits. In addition, the
company offers medical benefits and life insurance
coverage equivalent to OSDE 210 medical coverage.

Equal Opportunity

The Group is proud to be an equal opportunity
employer and believes in the fair treatment of all
existing and prospective employees, regardless of
their age, gender, marital status, family status,
disability, pregnancy, nationality, ethnicity, sexual
orientation, religion and culture, or any other
discrimination prohibited by applicable law.

Furthermore, the Group does not discriminate
against or deprive of any opportunities in respect
of recruitment, training and development, job
advancement, and compensation and benefits.
The Group’s Codes of Ethic adopts a strict zero
tolerance approach to any forms of discrimination
or harassment in the workplace.

Workforce by Age Distribution in 2020
REB-ZERFROGEINESERK
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As of 31 December 2020, there were 30 (2019: 29)
full-time employees in HLGL, across its Salta and Los
Blancos Concession locations. 10 (2019: 11) female
and 20 (2019: 18) male employees.

RZEZEFF+_A=+—
H & (EBE KkLos
Blancos!i & # & b 1% ) 530
ZEHBEB(ZZE—HL&F:
29%) 10/ XMEBE T (=ZF
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Employee’s Age 18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 and above
Distribution BEERAf 18-258 26-355 36-455; 46-558  S56mRM L
2020 a2 1 12 14 2 1
2019 —TNF 1 12 12 3 1
Female Male
Employee’s Gender Distribution & &t Bl 2 i z % B4
2020 —T-TF 10 20
2019 —ET-AF 11 18
Workplace and Corporate Communication A=) NG i)

The Group adopts an “open door” policy to
encourage open communication, feedback, and
discussion with its employees. Through this “open
door” policy, the Group aims to create a culture of
mutual trust, respect and understanding, to foster
strong, cooperative working relationships. Routine
emails and regular office-wide meetings are held
to circulate information and provide updates to all
employees.

(ii) Health and Safety
Health and Safety (“H&S") is fundamental to the
Group given nature of the business it is engaged in.

Laws and Regulation Compliance

Critical to all oil and gas operations is rigorous and
robust H&S. The Group endeavours to adopt best
practices in health and safety management and
is strictly in compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations governing H&S, in the jurisdictions it
operates in.
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A policy of open communication is actively
encouraged whereby employees can raise and share
any H&S concerns that they may encounter, with
their team and management.

Health and Safety Measures

The Group is committed to providing a safe and
healthy working environment for its employees, and
continuously promotes a strong H&S culture and
mindset. Examples of these measures include:

Internal employees and external parties and
subject to H&S orientation at the beginning of
their employment or engagement

All visitors of field operations being subject to
safety briefing of the site

Dedicated H&S specialists on site responsible
for performing risk assessments, and
developing safe working practices

On a daily basis, and prior to the
commencement of field operations, H&S
briefings and planning meetings are conducted
with participation by all employees including
management team

On a weekly basis, employees participate in
H&S review meetings to discuss any important
H&S events

On a quarterly basis, all field and office staff
receive free health check service

Dedicated 24 hours’ nurse arrangements
on site to deal with any first aid or medical
emergency
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(iii)

Road Transportation Safety Measures

o Employees are trained and encouraged in the
art of defensive driving

o Company vehicles are installed with GPS
monitoring systems to track journey and any
inappropriate or unsafe driving behaviours

o The Group's driving policy restrict employees
to only drive during daylight hours, where
possible, and to consider the necessity of any
journey, before embarking

Safety Incident

The Group monitors its H&S performance via
a number of metrics, including injury and fatal
incident rates, injury free work hours, and sick days.

Contractors are also subject to the same stringent
Group H&S standards. Proof of adequate H&S
training and certification are requested before
the Group engages and endorses a contractor to
operate on its exploration or production facilities.

Occupational Health and Safety Data

BEZREE

Work related fatality

Work injury cases >3 days
Work injury cases <3 days
Lost days due to work injury

Development and Training

The human resources department coordinates
training activities according to the business needs
identified in the staff performance evaluation,
or when the position requires. All training
requirements, follow the conventional training
procedure set out in the Human Resources Policies.
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(vi)

The Group offers external training courses as well
internal on-the job training and peer coaching.
Example of courses attended by employees during
the reporting year included language skills, business
administration, leadership, conflict management,
accounting, safety, project management, oil and gas
engineering related subjects.

A total of 253 hours was spent on external training
in the year.

B IIBE

Training Data

Training Hours, Staffs BEAH
Training Hours, Staffs
Training Hours, Middle Management

Training Hours, Senior Management

Total Training Hours
Average Training Hours Per Employee

Labour Standard

Governed by fair employment practices, the Group
strictly complies with the requirements of local
Labour Laws and regulations, and strictly prohibits
the use of any child and forced labour, or any forms
of illegal labour in the Group operations.

2. Operating Practices

(i)

Supply Chain Management

The Group has a standardised procurement
procedure in the selections of its suppliers and
vendors, which includes technical and commercial
evaluation.

During the year, the geographical location of HLGL's
suppliers covered 13 regions within Argentina. 19
suppliers originated from Salta (2019: 27), with
4 suppliers from Formosa (2019: 8). The Group
believes by sourcing locally, it can minimise its
carbon emission in relation to logistic. The Group’s
second largest supplier location was Buenos Aires.
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(iij) Product Responsibility
Consumer Data Protection

The Group is engaged in the business of crude oil
production and sales, as governed by the terms and
conditions of the agreements with its customers.

Quality Assurance and Complaints

The quality and quantity of crude oil sold is subject
to the IRAM or ASTM international standards. The
Group received no product or service complaints in
the year.

(iii) Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to managing its business
without undue influence, and in an open, honest
and fair manner. All employees are required to
strictly follow the Group’s Code of Ethics to prevent
potential bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. Employees are regularly reminded about
the Group’s anti-corruption policies and their need
for strict adherence.

Whistle-blowing procedures on misconduct
and malpractice (including corruption) are also
established in the Group’s Anti-corruption policy.
When a suspected case is received, the Group
undergoes investigation procedures with strict
confidentiality. The Group has established a
whistle-blowing escalation system, whereby the
procedure is to report any suspicious activities
and incidences to the whistle-blower’s immediate
supervisor. If the matter involves the immediate
supervisor, then the whistleblower is advised to
report direct to management. Alternatively, the
matter may be confidentiality reported via the
Group's whistle-blowing and ethics hotline.

C. COMMUNITY

Potentially disruptive social impacts from the Group's
drilling projects and production facilities on nearby local
communities are mitigated by maintaining open channels
of communications, with affected landowners and local
communities, to develop and maintain a harmonious
co-existence.
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1. Community Liaison
The Group has a dedicated community liaison officer who
works closely with any affected indigenous people. The
Group maintains regular dialogue to ensure operational
transparency and to understand and resolve any affected
communities’ concerns.

2. Community Advancement

The Group positively contributed to the standard of living
for the local indigenous communities during the year
by a number of initiatives and programs. This included
upskilling people by providing training on electrical
maintenance, and donation of materials and basic
essential tools, in order to promote and improve their
self-sustainability.

The Group also the contributed to a number of
community improvement projects, including the
construction of catering facilities at the main school,
construction of fences for farmers, and improvements at
local municipality offices and chapel.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS TOWARD SUSTAINABILITY
DEVELOPMENT

Going forward, the Group plans to extend its community
engagement activities and find more ways of “giving back”, by
exploring how the Group can also contribute in non-financial ways,
such as volunteering, school talks, and donating of used computer
and office equipment. For environmental initiatives, the Group is
continuing to enhance its recycle program to handle domestic waste.

CONCLUSION

The Group has conducted the ESG reporting in accordance with
the HKEx Environmental, Social, Governmental Reporting Guide
(Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules), all the ESG information available
for the reporting year are included in this report. The Group is
committed to continuing the ESG reporting on a regular basis
and to improve on policies and procedures for the management,
measurement and monitoring of ESG related activities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of New Times Energy Corporation Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of New Times Energy
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 92 to 202, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Revenue recognition in respect of sales of physical gold under
general and commodities trading segment

o Recoverable amount of oil properties under upstream segment

B M % D

RRNER

HMERBEESFMASRMN (BERE
BER) ETEZ BRMAEZFER T AE
MEFEEAREZBENRBRER Y HER
RAEENEEHRIRIEE—THt-

BARE RAMESHBEZEREERTER
EEWARMANEZE R ER-
Byt
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REEHRER

FRREZFEERERFNERHE RA
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HoaLETHRERMBEREBEBRAMBHRER
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Key Audit Matters
HARELEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMNERNTEEREELEE

Revenue recognition in respect of sales of
physical gold under general and commodities
trading segment
FE-RBRREREZoBETHERYESZR
wma

Refer to note 2.26 significant accounting policies
and note 5 revenue and segment reporting to the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

208 BESEEZGEAMBHmMRMT2268 KRG 5T
R R B sES M 2 e 9 PR o

The Group expanded its commodities trading
segment to include physical gold trading during
the year ended 31 December 2020. Revenue
from sales of physical gold under general and
commodities trading segment amounted to
approximately HK$4,975,370,000 for the year,
which represented approximately 99% of total
revenue of the Group. Revenue is recognised,
on a gross basis, when control of the underlying
products has been transferred to the customers,
which is generally at the point of time when the
physical gold products are delivered to customers,
and the customers have been accepted the
products in accordance with the terms of the sales
documents.
REZ-_ZTE_TF+_A=+—HLEFE =&
SEHEEREI NN EREECREYESEE -
—REEREIIHBETZLEYERHEZFA
W s & 494,975,370,0008 7T - 1 EEE AWK
ZH99% - WRENHEBEM BT EEZETER
(BEREVESERRNTEFAEFRERE
HEXHZBRABEIERFNHE —HHE) BHZ
MEEERR -

In auditing the presentation, occurrence and cut-off of revenue
of sales of physical gold under general and commodities trading
segment, we have performed following key audit procedures:
REZ-REEAGEZIVHBETEDESHERR Z 27 %
ERBIER BB ETATRREZER

Presentation

25l

- We discussed with management and understood the
indicators considered by management when assessing the
revenue recognition on a gross basis.

- BMEEEEMNwmIATREEER T HRAREERERY
HRERZER-

- We understood and evaluated the revenue recognition
policy of the Group by reviewing the agency agreement
entered with sales agent, and, on a sample basis, the sales
documents entered with customers, and corroborating with
management explanations regarding the indicators applied,
such as the primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the physical gold products, inventory risk, and
discretion in establishing the price, when assessing revenue
recognition on a gross basis.

—  BfEAEMEEERIEET L RIEBRER (LRSI R)
HEPIIVZHEXHABELT G EEEZKEERK
R UREEREBHN T M REREEERWERFMEKA
BRZEE NMBETREBYVESEMIARZIEEZRE
FERBKLEEER ZHEE-

- We performed background checks to the sales agent and
customers, on a sample basis, by examining the statutory
records and other relevant supporting documents.

—  FMBEBAMET NS A F RS M tAAEERA Y
HERBREFPETERFE -

- We physically inspected the site of the sales agent
and discussed with its key personnel to corroborate
management’'s explanations of the Group's business
relationship in the gold trading arrangement.

- BRAYHEERESHETEMREYEATEASETH
wOAREEEEY ESEBERNEEBELHZIEBKEAE
ZIRRE -
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Key Audit Matters
HARELEE

B M % D

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMNERNTEEREELEE

The determination of whether revenue should
be reported on a gross or net basis is based on
the assessment of whether the Group acts as a
principal or an agent in the transactions, taking
into account the nature of its promise to provide
the specified gold products and whether the
Group obtains controls of the products before
transferring to customers. Management considers
in combination whether (a) the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide
the physical gold products; (b) the Group bears
certain inventory risk, and (c) the Group has
discretion in establishing the price.
EEEDNKERRTEETECEMARIMEER
EEITEPZA ESERTEGERZES
B4 EEBEREGIERIINEZTAXIKREA
EHRTIf U E RS BRATE I FHEERE
Wam-EREEHFREER@Q EEEREXIESR
BERETIEMEYESERZASE b EXEE
BERE-—FEFERR: Mo EEEREHEERE
EEMRE-

We focused on the presentation, occurrence
and cut-off of revenue due to the magnitude
of revenue amount generated from sales of
physical gold under general and commodities
trading segment, and also there is an inherent
risk of manipulation of the timing and amount of
recognition of revenue by management to meet
specific targets or expectations.
BAHEINWR 220 EERBEIETIHR — &
FEREIOIBEATZEYESHEEE 2 RS
cHEE BTGEEERERBRERRERRIH
EmgERERRARR RSB BEFRR -

Occurrence and cut-off:
BEREL:

- We understood, evaluated and tested management’s
key controls, on a sample basis, in respect of revenue
recognition from the initiation and the approval of
customer order to recording of the sales transaction in the
general ledger.

- BAUHEESTAND FAELRAGNEEERBKEER
PRSI HItE b P AR P AT B8R Mt E ENBIRLT
HEXS -

- We reconciled revenue from sales of physical gold to cash
receipts during the year. We performed substantive testing
of settled sales transactions recognised during the year and
tested unsettled sales transactions, on a sample basis, by
examining the relevant supporting documents including
goods delivery notes, cash receipts and other relevant
supporting documents.

- TR BMASEVESHEMSRERE S WFCETHE
BRI A FARR O EEHERZETEER
B AAREHEEERS HEARBREEBEAXHE (B
RREEE ReWBENMEMBEERM) -

- We confirmed all the trade receivables balances on the
consolidated statement of financial position date and
tested the reconciliations between the book amounts and
confirmed amounts if these were different.

- EKMERRGEUBRAKBBA A ERKE SRS S
WiRARAERCERSECHERE (WEFEER) -

- We tested sales transactions recorded before and after
the consolidated statement of financial position date,
on a sample basis, by tracing to the relevant customers’
acceptance documents to assess whether revenue was
recognised in the correct reporting periods.

- EFAACEEA X BAREGES M BN R B BATE AR
ERG AEREMBARTP ZREXHIBRREER
IR & B R o

Based on our work performed, the presentation, occurrence, and
cut-off of revenue recognition from the sales of physical gold
under general and commodities trading segment were supported
by evidences obtained.

BRERMET 2 IE MESZEBXF —REAEARES DM
ETEYEHERABRAZEY BEEREILL-
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Key Audit Matters
HARELEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMNERNTEEREELEE

Recoverable amount of oil properties under
upstream segment

LHESBET2EREEZTRESHE

Refer to note 2.12 significant accounting
policies, note 5 critical accounting estimates and
judgements and note 16 and 17 to the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

20 BERBEZEAVBRRME212EXNES
K MESE ARG R FE AR E16 K%
17

The Group’s upstream segment had oil properties
which engaged in the exploration, development,
production and sales of crude oil in Argentina.
The carrying amounts of oil properties are
mainly included under “machinery” and “oil
production assets” of property, plant and
equipment, and exploration and evaluation assets
totalled of approximately HK$124,578,000 as
at 31 December 2020, which are related to Los
Blancos Concession (formerly known as Chirete
Concession) in the Province of Salta in Argentina.
EEEIFOIBEEZAMEENRMBEERER
MR FE EEREE - AMEEZEREET
S AME - BEEZRBZ (#E] R IAMEE
BE] RZZEZTF+_A=+—HZHEKF
MEESHRA124,578,000% 7t - H B[R SEiE
& ZLos Blancos %aTH#E R (BIMEChireteF&F
HEE)BR-

Given the volatile crude oil price and the potential
adverse impact on the performance of upstream
business as a result of COVID-19 pandemic,
management performed impairment assessment
for the oil properties as at 31 December 2020.

R R E R E A R COVID- 19K MATH Ehf %
BREEEZEEINTEE ERER_ZT_-F
FT_RA=T—BHAMEEETREN G-

In auditing the recoverable amount of the oil properties, we
have performed following key audit procedures on the value-
in-use calculation prepared by management and the key
assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount of the
oil properties:

REZABEEZARODSEN RMREEEREZFEAE
EFEARAREEAREEZAR@MSEZ T EZMRRHNITHU
TEREZRER:

We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal
control in respect of the assessment of recoverable amount
of oil properties and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
significant judgement and estimation involved in determining
recoverable amount of oil properties.
HMEBRZBMAATEEUEELAMERRARREER (T
AMEEZAIREI RS Rz BARAE KA 2K FARER
BEBNAMEE Z AW @ &5 2 AR I A7 h & KRR
bRt 2 [ A &b o

We evaluated the key controls relating to the preparation
of discounted cash flow forecast and the determination of
recoverable amount of oil properties.

B EARARReREBVARBEAREELTKE £
A= ZESfE-

We compared the estimates of future crude oil prices adopted
by the Group against a range of reputable published crude oil
price forecasts.

HMK EEERHZARRRHMEBRMGEAESEZZEQMR
HERTEAEITHE R

We compared the estimated future production profiles against
the crude oil reserve estimation report and the forecast
production volume for the remaining concession period prepared
by the management. We also performed procedures to evaluate
the competence, capability and objectivity of the independent
qualified technical consultant engaged by management for
preparing the reserve estimation report.

BB EFAREERRNETEBRE R MFEEMTRE R
RIRK AT R BRAESETHER - BN TRITEF A A
ERENRERBELITREEF B LS ERRMNER 2 BE
RN BEXZELREE M-
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Key Audit Matters
HARELEE

B M % D

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMNERNTEEREELEE

The recoverable amount of oil properties was
determined using value-in-use calculation
prepared by management, by preparing
discounted cash flow forecast with reference to
the crude oil reserve estimation report issued by
an independent qualified technical consultant.
The key assumptions used in the discounted cash
flow forecast included estimated future crude
oil prices, estimated future production volume,
estimated future production cost, estimated
future capital expenditure and discount rate.
Management concluded that the oil properties
were not impaired as at 31 December 2020.
AHmEEZAROBANERERERRE2EA
BEITEET HER2EB YA ERKMER
Bz AR EMFREREURRSRETRA -
MERENEBAERA 2 TEBRRRIEMETREK
FOMER At RKREE Bt RKEEXAE 4
AARKREATEHRMRE-BEEERA R_T=
EEF+_A=1+—RH AhEETERBE-

We focused on auditing the recoverable amount
of oil properties under upstream segment
because the estimation of recoverable amount is
subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty.
The inherent risk in relation to the estimating
of recoverable amount of oil properties under
upstream segment is considered significant due
to the subjectivity of significant assumptions used
in determining the recoverable amount of the oil

properties.
HRAIKE B e EAsT TRELEZE -
BAZEIRNEREFHSHBETABEEZ ATYKE

TR -HREETAREEZCANEcERERZ
Egﬁ“ﬂﬁiﬁﬁ L EF By BBIE T A 0h
BEZANNSBEEHEZEARBERARBEK -

We compared the future cost profiles and capital expenditure
against historical costs, relevant budget and other relevant
supporting documents.
BPBERKEEAERAREARAT LEBELKAN FRBAEREM
MHBERXHETL R

We evaluated the reasonableness of discount rate applied by
comparing the range that was independently developed using
publicly available market data of comparable companies in the
same industry with assistance of our internal expert.
ERABEXNBH T RABBLBEAREZAELRAF
ZARTSEEBYGIE 2 BEFERREZEE M-

We assessed the appropriateness of valuation methodology
in calculation of value-in-use of the oil properties, and tested
mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash flow forecast with
assistance of our internal expert.
ERBERNBH T RAFEAELREECERBEZML
BEREZRERT AR RERA 2 BB ERIE-

We performed sensitivity analysis in consideration of the
potential impact of reasonably possible downside changes in
estimated future crude oil prices, estimated future production
volume, estimated future production cost and discount rate.

R R RREMER B RKEE Bt RREERANR
MRREBARTTE#CZEERYE RAETRREDHT-

Based on our work performed, we found the management'’s
judgement and assumptions used in the estimation of
recoverable amount of oil properties were supported by the
available evidences.

BRERMETZIE RMAB/AIGEBEXHEERNEA
B E 2 AT B & BRR PR R 2 T R R AR e
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

B M % D
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEESER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T -_TF+_A=1+—HIEFE

2020 2019
g g 32 —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B & THET T T
Revenue U 2% 5 5,034,518 236,646
Cost of sales $HE KA 7 (5,011,019) (224,724)
Gross profit E R 23,499 11,922
Other income, gains and losses, net HMA - sk
[ Rishe x| 6 5,226 3,026
General and administrative expenses —MERITBAX 7 (39,644) (52,248)
Assets impairment losses BERBERSE 8 (5,823) (2,250,076)
Net investment loss WEBEFE 9 (29,623) (4,211)
Exploration expenses IR 7 - (202)
Finance costs BE KA 10 (11,115) (13,812)
Share of losses of joint ventures ke & EEIE 19 (7,078) (4,784)
Loss before taxation BR i A0 85 18 (64,558) (2,310,385)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (FAX) & 13 (14,936) 20,248
Loss for the year FARIE (79,494) (2,290,137)
Loss attributable to: mT%1EE EEEE:
Owners of the Company RRABER A (79,483) (2,290,086)
Non-controlling interests e R A (11) (51)
(79,494) (2,290,137)
Loss per share for loss attributable ZAATEEAEEER
to owners of the Company SRESR
for the year 15
Basic (HK cent) R GBI (26.15)
Diluted (HK cent) #5E OB) (26.15)

The notes on pages 99 to 202 are an integral part of these HRFI9OBHEF 2028 2 M ARNEGEE T
consolidated financial statements. HEz—H»-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss
Item that will not be reclassified

to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of equity
securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Hitb 2 HEEE:
BresFsREBacEl:

AR BEFARMGEH
Weat 7 a8 8 75 1Y
NAEEZD

HEAEEHNEE
Ha BB
BEBIRBZERER

Other comprehensive loss

FREMZHEER  NKRHER

Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2MEBEARE

Total comprehensive loss attributable to: T 5IEE B2 HEEBALE:
Owners of the Company KARHEE A
Non-controlling interests IR =

The notes on pages 99 to 202 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

99
T3

2019
—E-hnF
HK$'000
FAT
(Restated)
(&BE5)

(79,494) (2,290,137)

(16,060) (2,626)
(21,053) (26,763)
(37,113) (29,389)

(116,607) (2,319,526)

(116,596)
)

(2,319,475)
(51)

(116,607)

(2,319,526)

HEF2028 2MERAEE MR
N

ﬁjo
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma B IR R &R

At 31 December 2020 R=—Z-_TF+_-_A=+—H

Note
B 7
Non-current assets ERBEE
Exploration and evaluation assets BREEEE 16
Property, plant and equipment L/ E R 17
Investments in joint ventures REEREZKREA 19
Financial assets at fair value through EAnEBEFAEM
other comprehensive income PHRECEHMEE 20
Prepayments, deposits and ERRIE -ZE R
other receivables H b e W FRTE 22
Current assets REEE
Inventories BE 21
Trade and other receivables FEUE SRR R
H fth & U 5K IE 22
Current tax recoverable AT Y o] RO HA L T8
Financial assets at fair value BEARnBEFABREZ
through profit or loss EHMEE 23
Gold investment EoRE 24
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 25
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables EREZER R
H b B~ FE 26
Borrowings BE 27
Lease liabilities HEaE 28
Derivative financial instruments PTHEeBMITA 30
Provisions B 31
Income tax payable FEER SRR
Netcurrentassets _ ________________ ‘EBAEFE
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARG

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

2020

—g-%f

e

HK$’000
FTERx

4,316

130,543

28,800

76,833
1,398

74,090
68,589
640,915

890,625

70,478
143,067
3,162
2,925
20,117
1,040

240,789

649,836

780,379

2019
—E—NF
HK$'000
FH&T

103,835
28,539
7,849

120,100

771,662

928,092




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e M BERRE

At 31 December 2020 R=—E-ZTF+_-_A=+—8

2020 2019
— 7 —_ ﬂE :%_jlf'i
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E F#& T FA&T
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Borrowings B 27 141,000
Lease liabilities HEARE 28 =
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAFE 29 11,711
Provisions BiE 31 10,536
. 21,423 163,247
Net assets EEFE 758,956 846,455
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners RATHEAR AEIGER
of the Company
Share capital N 32 87,589 87,589
Reserves i 671,418 758,710
759,007 846,299
Non-controlling interests FEERER (51) 156
Total equity A 758,956 846,455

EFgERX T —F=A+N\BHERK
HETIZE - F9EE %ZOZEziﬁAﬁﬁkiﬁ%&I
HATALTREEE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 202 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
18 March 2021 and signed on its behalf.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart TANG, John Wing Yan

R §5 8 Bk B

Director Director

EE EE
The notes on pages 99 to 202 are an integral part of these HAF99H E 52028 7 Mt A4 A B 5 R
consolidated financial statements. RZ—H#poe
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREDBEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T -_TF+_A=1+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARSE
Fair value
reserve Non-
Share Share Capital Exchange (non-  Contributed ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve recycling) surplus losses Total interests equity
MEERE

& Rt BARR EXffE  (FmEk) R4zs ZitER a1 FERER BiEa3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEL TR TER TAL TEL TR TER TEL TEL

(Restated) (Restated)
(5 %5)) (f%5)
Balance at 1 January 2019 as RZB-7E-F-A
originally presented £8(B3) 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (5.843) (104,510) 740,880 (2,466,201) 3,129,687 207 3,129,894

Change in accounting policy (Note 2.2) & HRRE (Mfi2.2) - - - (487,089) - - 487,089 - - -
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F-8H

HEE 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (492,932) (104,510) 740,880 (1979,112) 3,129,687 207 3,129,894
Loss for the year ERER 2 2 - - - - Q2008 (2290086) 61 (2,290,13)
Other comprehensive loss (restated) Ht2EER (BE5)) - - - (26,763) (2,626) - - (29,389) - (29,389)
Total comprehensive loss (restated) ~ 2EBEAE (£EF]) = = = (26,763) (2,626) - (2.290,086) (2,319,475 (51 (2,319,526)
Impact of hyperinflation Ak e
_oietetementefiect _______cERPE o .. Tl 0081 B0 oo . 36087
Balance at 31 December 2019 R-B-N%

TZR=1-BE&#H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (519,695) (107,136) 740,880 (4,233,111) 846,299 156 846,455
Loss for the year ERER - (79,483) (79,483) (79,494)
Other comprehensive loss Eh2EER (21,03) (16,060) - (37,113) (37,113)
Total comprehensive loss 2AFRLE (21,053) (16,060) (79,483) (116,596) (116,607)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 1 3£ R i3 2 R & (19)
Impact of hyperinflation Ak e

- restatement effect -EjlpE 29,304 29,304 29,304

___________________________________ 29,304 29,304 29,108
Balance at 31 December 2020 it 23

tZB=1-RBE&# 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (540,748) [\PERED)] 740,880 (4,283,290) 759,007 758,956

The notes on pages 99 to 202 are an integral part of these HRF99H EF2028 7 M3t B4R A B &R
consolidated financial statements. RZ—Epoe
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—E_TF —ET-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FTERT FAT
Operating activities R K
Loss before taxation A 0N (64,558) (2,310,385)
Adjustments for: BRATEEEY 7 FHE:
Assets impairment losses BERERE 8 5,823 2,250,076
Depreciation e 7 8,987 6,780
Exploration expenses BV R 7 32 = 202
Fair value losses on derivative TEeBMI ALY
financial instruments N BEEEE 2,925 =
Fair value gains on gold investment BEREZDR
BEKR 6 (6,119) =
Finance costs A& AR 10 11,115 13,812
Hyperinflation monetary adjustments BHBEREE LR (5.871) =
Bank interest income RITHR B WA 6 (6,995) (14,935)
Net investment loss KA EESE 9 29,623 4,211
Net foreign exchange losses SNEEIE R (A 1,803 34,865
Share of losses of joint ventures EliEEErERE 19 7,078 4,784
Operating cash flows before HEEEDAILE
changes in working capital Bene (16,189) (10,590)
Changes in working capital: HEEEE:
Increase in inventories FEEM (15,783) (2,502)
Increase in trade and other receivables  JEUE 5 B8R &
H fth, & UK IE SE AN (56,318) (1,931)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and EAE SRR REM
other payables FEAT IR
B2/ CRd) 18,472 (19,012)
Cash used in operations REEKFMARS (69,818) (34,035)
Interest paid BAFIE (11,108) (15,569)
Interest received B F 8 6,995 14,935
Income tax paid ERAEH (1,369) 9)
Net cash used in operating activities REEXKFAR L FHE (75,300) (34,678)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T -_TF+_A=1+—HIEFE

2020
—EZEHF
HK$'000
FE& T

(67,139)
(62,470)
16 (1,151)

(E19)

79,793

3,880

150

(46,993)

Note
Ff 5
Investing activities BREEH
Payment for purchase of BERAAEE
financial assets at fair value FFABEZER
through profit or loss BEXNZHE
Payment for purchase of BEERE
gold investment X2 RIE
Payment for purchase of exploration BEORLAHEE
and evaluation assets T2 HIE
Payment for purchase of property, BEYWE BE K
plant and equipment BB RIAE
Proceeds from redemption of EREAAEE
financial assets at fair value FFABE SR
through profit or loss BEZFSRIA
Interest received from financial assets B AR EE
at fair value through profit or loss FFABRZER
BEZHE
Dividend received from financial assets B WiZ QA BE
at fair value through profit or loss FFABZE 2R
BEZKRE
Net cash used in in REZBHFARSFE
investing activities
Financing activities RMEEE
Repayment of borrowings BEBERE

Payment for lease liabilities
(including interest)

Dividend paid to non-controlling
interests

HEAE (BEFE) A

[ 4% P A 2 S A R B

(10,000)
(2,387)

(196)
4,497

(8,086)

(130,379)

771,662

Proceeds from borrowings BEZFSRIA

Net cash used in financing activities BEFZEFFAREFHE

Net decrease in cash and ReRESEEY
cash equivalents WD FEE

Cash and cash equivalents R—B—HAZH&RK
at 1 January ReZEY

Effect of foreign exchange EREEBHNT

rate changes

(368)

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 December

Rt+t=B=+—8B2
HERBELEEY

25 640,915

The notes on pages 99 to 202 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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(78,915)

(8,381)

(526)

32,000

2,427

(147,639)
928,476

(9,175)

771,662

A M B R



GENERAL INFORMATION

New Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company and its registered office and principal place
of business are Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and Room 1402, 14/F, New World Tower
I, 16-18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong respectively. The
Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company
is an investment holding company. Details of the principal
activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in Note 18.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
the “Group”.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”). The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except for
the following:

- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL")(including derivative financial instruments)
measured at fair value;

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

—RE#

FRRERARAR(IAA7])AER
BREAMKLIERRBR AR -
HAMBREERETEZLEEE 5 A
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BEHR16E 185 R AR E —HI 14121402
E RRAIRNBABMERZMARAT]
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BRRBEAN ZFHEAMBHRRTIINA

BILES e

ERETHERE

AHf R R AR TR A M RKR TR
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21 REEE
KRB ZZEZEUERRER
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Annual Report 2020 ¢ =& — B4 Ff

99



100

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
- gold investment measured at fair value; and

- adjustments for the effect of inflation where entities
operate in a hyperinflationary economy.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of a judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) Amended standards and improvement by the
HKICPA and IFRS Interpretation Committee
(“IFRIC”) agenda decision adopted by the Group

A number of amended standards, improvement
and IFRIC agenda decision became applicable
for the current reporting period and the Group
had to change its accounting policies and make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the
following agenda decision issued by IFRIC:

IFRIC Agenda  Translation of a Hyperinflationary
Decision Foreign Operation — Presenting
Exchange Differences

The impact of the changes in accounting policy from
the application of the agenda decision is disclosed
in Note 2.2 below.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

2 EXRE

21 wHEH

FTREME (2

BEE(E)
BARBEFEZESRE:
&

RBREEFEHHE (HE
ERBMEBREHESE)

BAENEEBMBERELA ZEF
BREREBREAETHERS G
o MBEREEERNERAASESE
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JE H B e 7 2 B0 - SRR e fh
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(a) Amended standards and improvement by the
HKICPA and IFRS Interpretation Committee
(“IFRIC”) agenda decision adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The following amendments to existing standards
and improvement are effective to the Group for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020 but did not result in any significant impact on
the results and financial position of the Group. No
retrospective adjustments are required.

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
(Amendments)

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and Hedge Accounting
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of Business

Conceptual Framework Revised Conceptual
for Financial Reporting Framework for
2018 Financial Reporting

eV BRRME

2 EAXSTTHEHME®

21 wRBEE(#)

(a) KEBERHZAEIEZTERR
EBEHEAEZHEUR
BB B R EERREES
E([EEGHFEERZ
EBZEE /) BERE ()
ATIRAEER ZBFT A KRR
ERAREBRE T _FF—
A—B &Rz st
MAEB HEITEHREEZ
EBERYBERRAEXTMRE
A2 - DAEEHBPHE-

EEEHRAF IR EXUME
REAGGERN &
F83% (7 A)

BEGERNFE39 HWiHhest
W BBEMBRE
ERETRRER
MRS ERFI
¥ (7 K)

BAMBREEN EBNTEER
F39% (BFTA)

“E-\EREME SETHHE
FENRSER  BEOHR

SER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) New and amended standards, interpretation

(b)

and accounting guideline by the HKICPA not

yet adopted

The following new standard, amendments to
existing standards, interpretation and accounting
guideline have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning on or after 1 January

2020 and have not been early adopted:

2 EAXSTTHEHME®

21 WEEE(#E)

HRRAZ EBETAE
B2 F T RAZNSETE A -
BEREIES

LATR3raT 22038 52608 2
BIA REREFESR
ERG BR_E_TFE—
B—HBsz AR BT
EHAREDR BARERAE
4

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
BUTHE#SRZ
3k <4
FEHBEXR

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

R IEAVACCHEN)

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

A EAFEINR BEMBREE]
B4 BEMBMEENETR
BB BREENEIR K
BB BREENE 165 (BFIX)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

BEAMBREENE 165 (BFTA)

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Standards 2018 - 2020
BERMBEREEN_T-N\FE
—TTENFENE

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 16, and HKAS 37
BAMBRELENEIN  BESFER

F165 R BB G ERIEI7H (BFTA)

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
BENARDAEBIERBERE

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2
FERELER S -F-RE

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions

Covid-19/HE & TR

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs Standards 2018 — 2020
BERAMNBREEN _T-N\EFE
—ToTEMNFENE

Narrow-scope Amendments

ERBERE 2B

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

1 January 2023

—E-=F—H—H

1 January 2021

—E-—%—H—H
1 June 2020
—E-TFXA—H

1 January 2022

—E--%—H—H

1 January 2022

—E--%—H—H



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(F)
(b) New and amended standards, interpretation (b) HARAZEEBEIHAE
and accounting guideline by the HKICPA not Az AT RASISETER -
yet adopted (Continued) BEREIES (&)

Effective for
annual periods

beginning
on or after
BUTHERZ
#EHmZ
FERBEXR
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
BB BRELERFE 175 Riga R —E-=%—A—H
Hong Kong Accounting Merger Accounting for Common 1 January 2022
Guideline 5 (Revised) Control Combinations
BB gstiEals(&EaT) HEEHEHz A0 EE —E-__%—-A—H
HK(IFRIC) = Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements - 1 January 2023
Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause
R (AR BREREZES) MBBRENEN -EBRATHAERER —ZF-=F—A—H
—REESR BRRROEHER D
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and by the HKICPA

its Associate or Joint Venture
EAVMBRELENE10RLEASELN REEREBERRRAECEZEN SHEBITM
285 (BFTAC) BELESTE NEMHT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards, interpretation

and accounting guideline by the HKICPA not
yet adopted (Continued)
The Group will adopt the above new standards,
amendments to existing standards, interpretation
and accounting guideline when they become
effective. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the related impact of adopting the
above new standards, amendments to existing
standards, interpretation and accounting guideline,
none of which is expected to have significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
In March 2020, the IFRIC issued a set of agenda decisions
on translating the results of a hyperinflationary foreign
operation into the non-hyperinflationary presentation
currency in the parent’s consolidated financial statements,
and concluded that the entity presents either:

- The restatement and translation effects in other
comprehensive income, if the entity considers that
the combination of those two effects meet the
definition of an exchange difference in HKAS 21; or

- The translation effect in other comprehensive
income, if the entity considers that only the
translation effect meets the definition of an
exchange difference in HKAS 21.

The Group has voluntarily changed its accounting policy
to conform with the IFRIC’s decision and the change in
accounting policy has applied retrospectively. The new
accounting policy are disclosed in Note 2.8.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SETBRBE ()
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 EFFERX®® (&)
The accounting policy change resulted in all the auﬂ'ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ B ER RN EMEEW
translation effects to be presented in other comprehensive H2IMBRECEMIFEEER
income as opposed to directly in equity and presented =2V RELFEZI R

the cumulative pre-hyperinflation foreign exchange
differences in the exchange reserve, while having no
overall impact on the Group's total equity. The cumulated
losses from the translation of hyperinflationary foreign
operation in the accumulated losses as at 1 January 2019,
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 amounting
to approximately HK$487,089,000, HK$26,808,000 and
HK$21,121,000 has been reclassified to exchange reserve.

The impact of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December

EUHEBRAELER MEAE
BraER T EERETE Rt
BEARZ-_ZE—-—NLF—H—H"

E-NF+ZA=+—8HEKZ=
?_?¢+ A=+—HBz#E%
EMHBEREINEBCRTBED
487,089,000/ 7T ~ 26,808,000/ 7T
}21,121,0008 L E EF D IEE[E
W

HE-T-AER-F-TX
+oASt-BIEEEZEAR

2019 and 2020 is presented as below: HmRERZFZEZINT
Statement of comprehensive Change of
income (extract) — For the year As originally accounting
ended 31 December 2019 presented policy As restated
PEMER (BE) 82 B BERLZ
—NWE+ZA=+—BLLFE R 28 gl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT THET
Exchange differences on BEGNER IERESR
translation of foreign operations 45 (26,808) (26,763)
Other comprehensive loss FAEMEHEERE
for the year, net of tax MER B (2,581) (26,808) (29,389)
Total comprehensive loss FAZEEEEE
for the year (2,292,718) (26,808) (2,319,526)
Total comprehensive loss KREEB AEL
attributable to owners of 2HBEBE
the Company (2,292,667) (26,808) (2,319,475)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXRSTTHEEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 BEBRXEE (£)
Statement of comprehensive Under old Change of
income (extract) - For the year accounting accounting
ended 31 December 2020 policy policy  As restated
ZEHUER (BE) 82 REE  8FBEZ
—E-ZE5+-A=1+-HLFE B BE #E mE5|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
Exchange differences on BREBINEB R EZSE
translation of foreign operations 68 (PARPA)] (PAROEE))
Other comprehensive loss FREMEZEBE:
for the year, net of tax MERHIA (15,992) (21,121) (37,113)
Total comprehensive loss FRAZEEBELE
for the year (95,486) (PARPA)] (116,607)
Total comprehensive loss PA/NETEZ 2SN A
attributable to owners of ZHBEERE
the Company (95,475) (PARPA)] (116,596)
2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity 23 FRERAIRESEE
accounting
2.3.1Subsidiary 2.3. 1018 & &
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group Bt /B8 X ] HE AN SR B HE A 1
has control. The Group controls an entity when EHNER - ZEARAEEAXK
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable ZE2HEBEBEFRGE2AE
returns from its involvement with the entity and W-EBRNERERNER
has the ability to affect those returns through its 2N EZEE®E A
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated AEEEFHZEE-WEA
from the date on which control is transferred to the REEHEEREREE 2
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that ARABREE AR LEIE
control ceases. iR BRRKILEA
The acquisition method of accounting is used to rEBRBAKEEERE
account for business combinations by the Group BE O PIER (25 ME2.4) -
(refer to Note 2.4).
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised SERNRGBERS HEH Rk
gains on transactions between group companies R HBIARE RS T A S
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated REREBEITTUEE B
unless the transaction provides evidence of an RGERBBRTIEESR
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting ELBRE - ARBEEL
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where ZERATHMB AR 2 &5
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies W E B E] - AR B
adopted by the Group. EEERA R — B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity 23 ZRERAIRERSS (&)

accounting (Continued)

2.3.1Subsidiary (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

2.3.2 Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group has joint ventures
only.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method (see Note 2.3.3 below),
after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

2.3.3 Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)

2.3.3 Equity method (Continued)
When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with Note 2.12.

2.4 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e 37 X 82

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
that makes strategic decisions.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar, which is the Company’s
functional and Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are recognised in profit of loss. All foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within “other income,
gains and losses, net”.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

(c)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Transaction differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equity held at FVPL are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equity classified as FVOCI are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations, which do not have the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy and have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

° income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

° all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

The results and the financial position of group entity
which is accounted for as entity operating in a
hyperinflationary economy and that has a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
of the Group are translated into the presentation
currency at the closing rate at the date of the
statement of financial position, and all the resulting
translation differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EARSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)
EMERER

2.8 Hyperinflation accounting 2.8

As the presentation currency of the Group is that of a
non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts are
not adjusted for changes in the price level or exchange
rates in the current year. Differences between these
comparative amounts and the hyperinflation adjusted
equity opening balances are recognised as below:

- The restatement effects for the equity opening
balances are recognised directly in equity; and

- The translation effects for the equity opening
balances are recognised in exchange reserves
through other comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of non-monetary assets and
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the change in the general
price index from the date of acquisition to the end of
the reporting period. An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the restated amount of a non-monetary
item exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on the net monetary position are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All items recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss are restated by applying the change in the
general price index from the dates when the items of
income and expenses were initially earned or incurred.

At the beginning of the first period of application, the
components of owners’ equity, except accumulated
losses, are restated by applying a general price index from
the dates the components were contributed or otherwise
arose. The restatement effects are recognised directly
in equity, and the translation effects are recognised in
exchange reserves through other comprehensive income.
Restated accumulated losses are derived from the residual
amounts in the restated statement of financial position.

At the end of the first period and in the subsequent
periods, all components of owners’ equity are restated by
applying a general price index from the beginning of the
period or the date of contribution, if later.

All items in the consolidated statement of cash flows are
expressed in terms of the general price index at the end
of the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly leasehold
improvements, machinery, furniture, fixtures and office
equipment, motor vehicles, oil production assets and
right-of-use assets. Accounting policies for oil production
assets and right-of-use assets are set out in Note 2.10
and Note 2.28 respectively. All other property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation
and impairment, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss during the year in which they are
incurred. Except for oil production assets, depreciation
on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 4-5 years
Machinery 5-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement
of financial position. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.12).

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income, gains and losses,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Oil production assets 210 AHEEEE

Expenditure on the construction, installation or
completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms,
pipelines and the drilling of commercially proven
development wells, is capitalised within construction in
progress under property, plant and equipment. When
development is completed on a specific field, it is
transferred to oil production assets under property, plant
and equipment. No depreciation is charged during the
development phase.

Oil properties are aggregated exploration and evaluation
assets (refer to Note 2.11) and development expenditures
associated with the production of proved reserves.

Oil production assets are depreciated using the unit-of-
production method. Unit-of-production rates are based
on total proved reserves, which are crude oil reserves
estimated to be recovered using current operating
methods.

Proven oil production assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of
accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field
basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, exploration and
evaluation assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, no depreciation and/or amortisation
is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.
Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and
exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs,
are capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets
until the determination of reserves is evaluated. If it
is determined that commercial discovery has not been
achieved, these costs are charged to expense.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration
and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and
reclassified to property, plant and equipment. No
depreciation is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for
impairment when reclassified to property, plant and
equipment, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate
impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’
carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and
evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and
their value in use.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

(ii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
investments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other income, gains and losses,
net” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
OCl, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
“other income, gains and losses, net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other income, gains
and losses, net” and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in profit or
loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within “net
investment loss” in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Investments and other financial assets 2IBRERHMERMERE (&)
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued) ziii) FrE (#&)

Equity investments o RE

The Group subsequently measures all equity rEBRERARBEEERE
investments at fair value. Where the Group's FrEmiRE -WAEEE
management has elected to present fair value gains BEEENEMEARRZET
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no WERREC AR EEKE
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and REBEFH RILBEIAKRE
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition B HERBEEHIELAR
of the investment. Dividends from such investments BEYN=EEEZEER Z
continue to be recognised in profit or loss and 5% G HE WHR AR B A5 R
presented within “net investment loss” when the ZEREZRBEENIBER
Group's right to receive payments is established. BREEINRIEEEERF

&l -

Change in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL BREREANBEFEZ
are recognised in “net investment loss” in the PREEZANBEEHE
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment BEBATRERRTH K
losses and reversal of impairment losses on equity BEEBEFEIER-BARE
investments measured at FVOC| are not reported BEEf AR E WS 2 #ws
separately from other changes in fair value. REZREBEERESSE

BotrelHEbArEER
By FA 5 -

(iv) Impairment (iv) #E
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis REBERATEERA HiZ
the expected credit losses associated with its debt BHEAAIRRRAAEE
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. HAEMEEWEMERT
The impairment methodology applied depends on BEANEHREEEBET
whether there has been a significant increase in SE 1 o BT ER FB AR (B 77 0K B
credit risk. ANMEE R 2 S AIEIE M
For trade receivables, the Group applies the HEWERMS  ANEBK
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which RAEAMBE @ EERFEIR
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised R TE AR EXK
from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note >HIEHEERAE B AER
3.2(b) for further details. JEW GRIB R MR i — 205

15 R MFE3.2(0b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EARSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)
214 HEEMT A

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group and the counterparty.

2.15 Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the
date of a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
each reporting period.

2.16 Inventories

Inventories comprise of gold held for trading,
consumables and crude oil are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises invoiced cost
and other direct costs, and is determined on a weighted
average cost method. Cost of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting discount if applicable. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less all costs to completion
and all direct costs necessary to make the sale.

2.17 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers from
goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and other receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes
in value.

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EARSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Borrowings 220 B E

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i)

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date
in the countries where the Group and its joint
ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based
on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the date of the statement
of financial position and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liability are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render
the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Pension obligations

The Group maintains a number of defined
contribution plans in the countries in which it
operates, the assets of the retirement benefit are
generally held in separate trustees-administered
funds. The retirement plans are generally funded by
payments from employees and by the Group.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000
(2019: HK$30,000). Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group also participates in the employees’
pension schemes of the respective municipal
governments in various places (including the
Mainland China and the Argentine Republic) where
the Group operates. The Group makes monthly
contributions calculated as a percentage of the
monthly basic salary and the relevant municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued) 223 EEEH (&)

(c) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.24 Gold investment

Gold investment comprises the investment in gold
bullions for the purposes of capital appreciation and
capturing the effectiveness of gold as inflation-proofing
instrument. Gold investment is initially measured at
cost. Subsequently, gold investment is stated at the
gold price prevailing at the date of the statement of
financial position. Changes in fair value of gold prices
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are presented in the statement of profit or loss as part of e
“other income, gains and losses, net”.
2.25 Provisions 2.25 BiE

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Provisions (Continued)
Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition
(i) Sale of goods - sales of physical gold, oil and

petroleum-related products

The Group sells a range of commodities and
products including physical gold, oil and petroleum-
related products under the general and commodities
trading segment and upstream segment. Sales
are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered
to customers, the customers have accepted the
products, the collection of the related consideration
is probable and there is no unfilled obligation that
could affect the customers’ acceptance of the
products. It is generally satisfied at a point in time
when the legal title has passed to customers.

The determination of whether revenue should be
reported on a gross or net basis is based on an
assessment of whether the Group is acting as the
principal or an agent in the transactions. For the
sales of physical gold, in determining whether the
Group acts as the principal or an agent, the Group
follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent
considerations in HKFRS 15. Such determination
involves judgement and is based on an evaluation
of the terms and the substance in the physical gold
trading arrangement as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Sale of goods - sales of physical gold, oil and
petroleum-related products (Continued)

The Group has engaged a sales agent to conduct
and handle the physical gold trading on behalf of
the Group and entered an agency agreement with
the sales agent during the year. In determination of
whether revenue of sales of physical gold should be
recognised on a gross or net basis, while none of
the factors individually are considered presumptive
or determinative, the Group is the principal in the
physical gold trading arrangement as it controls
the physical gold products before the products are
transferred to customers, because (i) the Group is
primarily responsible for delivering the specified
physical gold products to customers. The Group has
its discretion to trade with particular suppliers and
customers proposed by the sales agent. The Group
obtains the control of the physical gold products and
has the discretion to direct the sales agent to deliver
the physical gold products to customers on behalf
of the Group; (ii) the Group is subject to inventory
risk including but not limited to purity and quality
issues which cannot be compensated by the sales
agent or other counterparties; and (iii) the Group
has the discretion to approve the range of selling
price, which represented the spot market price plus
or minus the premium and discount, proposed by
the sales agent charged to customers. Therefore the
Group recognised the revenue on a gross basis.

Drilling service income

The Group recognises revenue in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss upon completion of the
services.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at FVPL is included in
“net investment loss” on these assets, see Note 9 below.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss as part of
finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.28 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for
these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EARSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Leases (Continued) 228 E (&)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received, and makes adjustments specific
to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

. any initial direct cost; and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

RETEHEEEN X AEEEH
ERABAROIESZFE=TT8
BRETSH (A 8E) W IFH
BURBMABBE=ZTTRENK
BMEMRT 228 MEHEEFELR

R

HEMNFTRAE RIBRAZHE
tEH D BC - M A EHFER
Bk BASEHENAER
BEVERE A R B

ERAREERKAE BEAT
BIH:

s THERBMUMRESHR:

s HEFMBHZAXMAHE
) A B A5 R 2= 2 E R 7
EEE:

o ETIMERAAR: K
s (BEER-

EREEE-—RREEANERSF
Mg BEOH (ABREERE)RE
R ERE-

HEMHEENMAEREEEEMR
EAERNNRERERERBERP
R AR - EHREEEHERAS12
EAHATHHEE -

Annual Report 2020 ¢ —Z—ZF %% 131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.29 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.30 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial instruments by categories

Financial
assets at
Notes FVPL
BORERE
FABRN
i &E SHEE
HK$'000
THET
As at 31 December 2020 W-Z-TF
+-F=1+-H
Debt investments EBEE 23 PANIE]
Equity investments ERRE 20, 23 53,054
Derivatives fTETA 30
Trade and other receivables EWE 5 E 7R
H B Y R0R 22
Cash and cash equivalents R&RELEEY 25
Trade and other payables ~ ERE ZEH R
HihERFIE 26
Borrowings 5 27
Lease liabilities HERRE 28
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2.30 RE 2K
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BEEMEBRRAEBRNIBHRE
NERBEE-
3 MEERERE
31 RERESHNERMIA
Financial Financial
Financial assets at Financial liabilities at
assets at  amortised liabilitiess ~ amortised
Fvodi cost at FVPL cost
EAREE

AR A ZEA  BRAAEME BEA
PENEN BEOH  TAREN B
EHEE SREE SRMAR SRAR

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET TAT ThHT TAT

72,204

640,915

= 70,219
= 146,067
= 6,665

713,119 222,951




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BKRERERE@
3.1 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 31 RERESNEMIA (£
Financial Financial
Financial Financial assets at Financial liabilities at
assets at assets at amortised liabilities amortised
Notes FVPL FVOCI cost at FVTPL cost
BARER
BARER STAEM A BRAREE B
FTABER  2EMNEN BEN  FABER B
i sE CREE SREE SREE SRBRE SHBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL T THT
As at 31 December 2019 H-Z—-A%E
+-F=1+-H
Debt investments EBRE 23 30,528 = = = =
Equity investments BERE 20,23 81,545 16,068 = =
Equity-linked securities RAHES 23 8,027 = = = =
Trade and other receivables EWZ SR F K
b KR IE 22 S = 15,344 = =
Cash and cash equivalents R&RALEEY 25 = = 771,662 = =
Trade and other payables BN E H K7 K
HihERFIE 26 = = = = 63,975
Borrowings E& 27 = = = = 151,544
Lease liabilities HEBR 28 = = = = 834
120,100 16,068 787,006 - 216,353
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, price risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising
in the normal course of its business and financial
instruments. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market risk

()

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through carrying out exploration activities
in Argentina and general and commodities
trading in Hong Kong, with respect to United
States dollar ("US$"). Currency risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against functional currency. It
mainly includes managing the exposures arise
from sales and purchases made by the relevant
group companies in currencies other than
their own functional currencies. The Group
also manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net
foreign exchange exposures. Presently, there is
no hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

3 BXEKRERE#)

3.2

¥ EREE
AEEE-—REBBELSRT
AP RkZREPHELE : mHRER
(BREINER K BRI =
) - EERBRLREDHE SRR -
EEBYRERRETEENME
EABRITARBEAGEHRZ F R
B/ E G-

(a) FHEE
()  EEER

AEETEEBNRAIR
SRR 8 R OR B R R
FEERREBRAM
BHEEERET ([X
Tt 2 B E R - SMNE
RBRERREEX
5 CHREERAE
AR BINETR 2 E
JHER -

EEECHEBRARE
SERRERINREE
EELNIMNERR T
ZEAEERMAREE
RAEAKRFEEET A
SNE IR ETT B B I P
XE-ARETBBY
RER B 3 HMNE B e
TEHER WEHEH
SMERER - B Bl I &
5 B8 51N B ) 4 e B
o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 M¥EREE®
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 32 BMKREBEE &)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) wHEEEE (&)
() Currency risk (Continued) () EkEE(E)
The following table details the Group's TRAFMANEBRNRES
exposure at the end of the reporting period to MAEHEEANTHAER
currency risk arising from recognised assets or Thee BEE AN BB ST
liabilities denominated in a currency other than BrEREELBE
the functional currency of the entity to which ifEE 2 BB RER -5t
they relate. For presentation purposes, the EWREN BRREESD
amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong HUABTEY RAF
Kong dollar, translated using the spot rate at BB H 2 BDHAE =97
the year-end date. Differences resulting from HoBINEG B
the translation of the financial statements BRELAEREEINEE
of foreign operations into the Group's EECZEREZEIEE
presentation currency are excluded. ER -
Exposure to US$
(expressed in HK$)
ExRR (Bx)
2020 2019
—E_EfF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$000
FERT FHET
Trade and other receivables EWE 5 R &
H A & YRR 27,801 7,843
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 163,680 97,167
Trade and other payables B E SRR K
H i FE A 5KIR (55,007) (51,253)
Financial assets at FVPL EAnBEFARR
ZEMEBEE 21,036 30,528
Net exposure arising ERREERAE
from recognised assets FrEE R bR 558
and liabilities 157,510 84,285

ARRBEERR AKE

The directors of the Company considered
that the Group's exposure to currency risk is
not significant and accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis has been presented. It is assumed
that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong
dollar and the US$ would not be materially
affected by any changes in movement in value
of the US$ against other currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e 37 X 82

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising
from debt and equity investments classified
in the consolidated statement of financial
position either as at financial assets at FVOCI
or at FVPL amounted to approximately
HK$8,000 (2019: HK$16,068,000) and
approximately HK$74,090,000 (2019:
HK$120,100,000) respectively. Most of these
investments are listed either on the Stock
Exchange in Hong Kong or other countries.

Equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer term growth potential and are
monitored regularly for performance against
expectations.

Debt investments are closely monitored by
the Group on the credit quality and financial
positions of counterparties, and the Group
considers appropriate action if the market value
of those securities decline by a pre-determined
threshold.

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 5% in the price of
relevant financial instruments, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group's loss before taxation and
other comprehensive income by approximately
HK$3,705,000 (2019: HK$6,005,000) and
approximately HK$400 (2019: HK$803,000)
respectively as a result of the change in fair
value of debt and equity investments.

BRAERRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Price risk (Continued)

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Crude oil prices
and gold prices are affected by a number of
economic, political and military factors which
are not within the control by the Group.

The change in gold prices expose the Group
to price risk as the Group conducts business
activities in physical gold trading and also gold
investment. The Group entered into certain
derivative financial instruments for economic
hedge purpose so as to mitigate price risk
arising from gold price fluctuations. Hence, the
Group considered the price risk arising from
gold price fluctuations is significantly reduced.

The change in crude oil prices expose the
Group to price risk as the Group conducts
petroleum-related activities in Argentina. A
decrease in such prices could adversely affect
the Group's financial performance. The Group
has not used any derivative instruments to
hedge against potential price fluctuations
of crude oil. The management will consider
appropriate hedging policy when the need
arises.

3 BXEKRERE#)

32 UHEBEE &)
(a) WmEmEE (E)

(1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(iif)

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets, except for short-term
bank deposits and debt investments, the
Group's income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates. Management does
not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from changes in
interest rates because the interest rates of
bank deposits and debt investments are not
expected to change significantly.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
borrowings with fixed-rate of interests. The
directors of the Company considered that the
Group's exposure to interest rate risk is not
significant, no sensitivity analysis has been
presented accordingly.

Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out
in Note 27.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BXEREKRER#
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.2 BMERBEE (&)

(b) Credit risk (b)) =EEE

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, and cash at banks with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts
of these financial instruments which are stated as
follows:

AEBEZEERBREIEREA
A P 5 Bk 3R N E i e U
RENRBRTERS  rE Y
ZEEEBRBSRZESR

THZREE MTA:

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#& T FAET

Trade receivables U E 5 BRK 61,271 2,505
Deposits and other receivables 72 K H fth & I 3k 18 10,933 12,839
Cash at banks RITIRE 640,903 771,645
Maximum exposure to credit risk &= 1= EE B 713,107 786,989

() Trade receivables

The management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial position
and condition are performed on each and
every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and taking into account

()

EEECHIERFER

R UHEERZFE
ERBRMNRR - AEEE
HPHBRIREP M
BARRRBERETE
B -%FHEET
REFPBERERD
HiRS 2 & AL 8% i B
RIEEREE S LEE

information specific to the customer as well EPZRBFEERUR
as pertaining to the economic environment in HEEPREEBRE
which the customer operates. Normally, the KBEIRIZARE 2 Bx -

Group does not require collateral in respect
of its financial assets. Debts are usually due
within 30 days (2019: 30 days) from the date
of billing. As at 31 December 2020, the largest
customer of the Group, with the largest
amount of revenue during the year, accounted
for approximately 27% (2019: Nil) to the trade
receivables of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

To mitigate credit risk with respect to
receivables arising from sale of physical gold,
the Group usually requires customers to pay
significant amount of advanced payments
to the Group when goods are delivered.
Hence, the Group considered the credit risk is
significantly reduced. There was no significant
amount of overdue receivables arising from
other customers as at 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for trade
receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been assessed on an
individual basis. Management has applied
the expected credit risk model and estimated
the probability of default rate and loss given
default rate after considering the current
economic environment and the forward-
looking economic factors. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the expected
credit loss of these customers is not significant
and no provision has been made as at 31
December 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

(iii)

Credit risk of cash at banks

Management considers that the Group has
limited credit risk with its banks which are
leading and reputable with high credit ratings.
The Group has not incurred significant loss
from non-performance by these parties in the
past and management does not expect so in
the future. Therefore, expected credit loss rate
of cash at bank is assessed to be close to zero
and no provision was made as of 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables were mainly
interest receivables, rental deposits, and
refundable deposits placed to third parties. The
credit quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the risk of default by these counterparties
is not significant and there was no significant
increase in credit risk. The expected credit
loss was limited to 12-month expected credit
losses. Therefore, credit loss rate of the
deposits and other receivables is assessed to
be close to zero and no provision was made as
at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the board
of directors of the Company when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at date of the statement of financial
position of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
statement of financial position date) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay. Balance due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as
the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group's derivative financial instruments with
negative fair value of approximately HK$2,925,000
represented the gold future contracts and paper
gold, which were settled on a net basis and has
been included within “less than 1 year or on
demand” time bucket based on an expected
maturity basis. This is because the contractual
maturity is not essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows.

(c)

3 BERARERE &)

3.2

Total Total
carrying  contractual
amount undiscounted

BEEE BENRRER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL L

BERERER (&)

(c) mEBELEE (EZ)
AEEBEBARAAEEY
2,925,000 L2 TS T
BlRESHEANNEES
HiR A g EWiRIETE
HABIHAE ST A [MEF AR SR
BENR] —H -t T HREH
HHBETHAESRENGE

I FE 7R

Less than
1 year or Between Between
ondemand 1to2years 2to5 years

150 AE
BREX 1528 2E5F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR

As at 31 December 2020 RZE-ZF
+-F=1+-H
Trade and other payables ENESERR
Efb R A 70,219 70,219 70,219
Borrowings BE 146,067 150,547 147,545
Lease liabilities HEERE 6,665 7,019 3,227
Net-settled derivative FRAEENESRTA
financial instruments 2,925 2,925 2,925
225,876 230,710 223,916
As at 31 December 2019 R-E-NF
+-F=1-8
Trade and other payables ENESETR
H it MR 63,975 63,975 63,975 = =
Borrowings BE 151,544 166,902 21,401 142,499 3,002
Lease liabilities HEER 834 839 839 = =
216,353 231,716 86,215 142,499 3,002
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders’ returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, net debt
is defined as total debt which includes borrowings and
lease liabilities. Total equity is the balance as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

3.4

Capital risk management (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from 2019, was to
maintain the net debt-to-capital ratio at a reasonable
level. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt. The table below analyses the net debt-to-capital
ratio as at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Borrowings (Note 27) BE (M:E27)

Lease liabilities (Note 28) HEEAE (ME28)
Total equity et

Net debt-to-capital ratio BB FREE R X

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Fair value estimation

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
The following table presents the carrying value of
the financial instruments measured at fair value at
the date of statement of financial position across
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined
in HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”,
with the fair value of each financial instruments
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest
level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

. Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical financial instruments.

eV BRRME

iR B ()
33 EAEMEE (&)

REBEE-_ZE_FEF+_A=+—
BEFEE AEEFA T —NEF
LRE HRBERFREERL X
R—EEEKF - BEFIAEE
KEER RNEB R g EIRMT TR
ROREBSB|IELFHE - F1THK
PRLEEENRE TR
ZEFEFRFT-NEFE+A
=t BEHFEHERLE:

2020 2019
—B=-FF —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT

146,067 151,544
6,665 834

152,732 152,378
758,956 846,455

20.1% 18.0%

AR REEMRHBRARHIE
EAATSMNER B B AN H5 TE AT IR 1

D AEEMEE

() BAAEEAKRZZETA
TREJNNRBBARRE B
EEBM B RS ERETHR
[ERMTE:BEIMAELZ
AABE=ZEER® AR
REBEIIRZERTIAZER
HE MEEBRTEZAA
BEAHZARBEFES
BERZREBRBEABEM

BE E-

FTSE 2 BIRINT -

s FE(ERRER):
VARI R & B0 T AV B8

WS RER CRER
B)AEAAREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UBEREE®
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.4 QAAREEME ()
(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value (i) BRAAEBEBAKRZEZHEIA

(Continued) (%)

e Level 2: fair values measured using quoted e ZFE_E:NEfemT
prices in active market for similar financial R RBRTISWmE sk
instruments, or using valuation techniques HERN(EPmEE
in which all significant inputs are directly or RNig ABUE Ty E# ok [E
indirectly based on observable data. BEURTBREBRAAR)

FEAREBE

o Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured . FZE (REER) :
using valuation techniques in which any VAl (B £ 47 (AR A {A]
significant input is not based on observable BRI ABIE T FER]
market data. BEMBSHBE RN

EAREE-
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Ry el E=E @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TER

As at 31 December 2020 RZEZZF+ZA=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCl: BAREEFALZMZE
WhEzemBE:
- Unlisted equity investments —FrmRREE
Financial assets at FVPL: BRARBEFABREN
SREE:
- Listed equity investments —ETRERRE 53,054 53,054
- Listed debt investments —IMEBERE 14,945 14,945
- Unlisted debt investments - FLEMEKERE - 6,091
74,098
Liabilities 8fE
Derivative financial instruments:  $7T4£ &g T &
- Gold future contracts -EeHEAN
~ Paper gold -#HE2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBEEERE#)
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.4 DARAEBEMGE (&)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value () BAABEAKRZLHTA
(Continued) (4)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—F F-E £=[E @it

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT

As at 31 December 2019 RZEB-NE+ZRA=+—H

Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCl: BRAABEMAEGZEA
WhEzemBE:
- Unlisted equity investments — LIRS RE = 16,068 = 16,068
Financial assets at FVPL: BAREEFABREN
SREE:
- Listed equity investments —FTERRE 80,618 = = 80,618
- Listed debt investments -~ IMEKERE 30,528 = = 30,528
— Unlisted equity-linked —FEMRAEBES
securities - 8,027 - 8,027
- Unlisted funds —FIrmES - 927 - 927
111,146 25,022 - 136,168
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and REBEZ-_Z_ZTFR=F
2019, there were no transfers between instruments —NE+ZA=+—HIF
in level 1 and level 2. During the year ended E g BRE-EZMZ
31 December 2020, the Group transferred an TEgEER 2 —
unlisted equity investment measured at FVOCI TE+A=T—HILFE"
from level 2 into level 3 due to no recent private RRETALOBHYERES
placing of shares and warrants by the issuer nor any HELEE SR D RBRE
comparable transactions for the valuation. For the BNEEMAELERR S
information about level 3 fair value measurements, AEBBEBZRAREBERTA
please refer to Note 3.4(i)(c). HEteEWEETEIE LR

AIEERF_PEREF =
B-BHEE=RLAREE
EFENER F2HME
3.4(i)c) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(a)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of the statement of financial
position. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. Instruments included
in level 1 comprise primarily equity and debt
investments listed in the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (”"Singapore
Exchange”) and the Stock Exchange classified
as financial assets at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 2

As at 31 December 2019, the equity interest
in Borealis Alaska Oil, Inc. (“Borealis”,
formerly known as NordAq Energy Inc.) is
classified as equity investment and carried
at fair value. The fair value is valued with
reference to the private placing of shares and
warrants by Borealis and the average share
price fluctuations of comparable companies
from the relevant private placing date to
31 December 2019. For the details of fair
value measurements for the equity interest in
Borealis, please refer to Note 3.4(i)(c).

The equity interest in Foothills Exploration, Inc.
(“Foothills Exploration”) is classified as equity
investment and carried at fair value. The fair
value is valued using the market approach
with reference to the market price of shares
of Foothills Exploration (2019: the market
approach with reference to the market price of
shares of Foothills Exploration).

The unlisted debt investments, unlisted
equity-linked securities and unlisted funds are
classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair
value is determined based on quoted market
prices provided by banks.

3 BXEKRERE#)

3.4 DRAEBHEME (&)
(i) BAAREBEEBAKRZZBITA
(&)
b) FEFE-ELHTA
RZE—-—hLF+ =
A=+ —H " R

Borealis Alaska Qil, Inc.
([Borealis | ' Bi T8 &
NordAg Energy Inc.)
ZHRESERERE
B -WEAAREBEA
R-AnBEDLEERE
Borealisz % 17 M 38 I%
BELEREURATE
LR A B B HBLER
ERHE_ZT—NF
+ZA=+—B82¥H
RERETAGEE-F
FBorealisft # & 2 7
BEFENFE B2
BB 5E3.4()(0) ©

Foothills Exploration,
Inc. ([Foothills
Exploration | ) 2 A% ¥
DEAERKRE Wik
NABEAR - DA
E{E T &2 EFoothills
ExplorationZ % {7 ™ 1B
YHEAMBE(ZE
— L5 2 ZEFoothills
ExplorationZ % 15 T (B
WIRA™IEE) G1E -

FLEMEFRKRE FL
AR 8 RE 75 M FF b
TMESDDERRIA
EBEFABRSNEHE
E-rnBEIDEMR
TTHREH IS HRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)
(c)  Financial instruments in level 3

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the equity interest in Borealis measured at
FVOCI with carrying amount of approximately
HK$15,925,000 as at 31 December 2019
was transferred out of level 2 into level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. The transfer was
mainly due to no recent private placing of
shares and warrants issued by Borealis nor
any comparable transactions for the valuation.
The fair value of the equity interest in Borealis
measured at FVOCI was measured based on
its net asset value attributable to the Group
as at 31 December 2020. Other than the net
asset value of the equity interest in Borealis,
no other significant unobservable inputs
were noted. Fair value loss of approximately
HK$15,925,000 was recognised in other
comprehensive income during the year ended
31 December 2020.

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at
fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments, including non-current assets carried at
cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and
2019, due to their short maturities.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(iii) Fair values of non-financial assets carried at

fair value

The fair value estimation of the physical gold
investment, which included in “gold investment”
(Note 24), is categorised in Level 1 hierarchy. The
fair value is based on quoted market prices in
an active market at the date of the statement of
financial position.

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
in the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with HKFRS. The assumptions, estimates and judgements
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. While
the management reviews their judgements, estimates and
assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom equal
to the estimates.

Estimates and judgements are regularly evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The matters described below are considered to be the most
critical in understanding the estimates and judgements that
are involved in preparing the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR AR MY EE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

Impairment losses of non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment and other non-financial
assets, including exploration and evaluation assets, are
reviewed for possible impairments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Determination as to
whether and how much an asset is impaired involves
management estimates and judgements. However,
the impairment reviews and calculations are based on
assumptions that are consistent with the Group’s business
plans. Favourable changes to some assumptions may
allow the Group to avoid the need to impair any assets
in these years, whereas unfavourable changes may cause
the assets to become impaired.

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological
prospects for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and
estimated the value of oil to be produced in the future
at a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. For drilling costs and other exploration and
evaluation assets, the Group determined whether the
related well costs are expensed if it is determined that
such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgement is required by the
board of directors of the Company to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and
changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRHME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BREHETTRHE 2

JUDGEMENTS (continued)
G EERAHBEENIFRE

(ii) Estimated production volume and (i)

dismantlement costs for oil properties

Estimates of future production volume are key elements
in the Group’s investment decision-making process. They
are also an important element in testing for impairment.
Changes in total proved oil future production volume
will affect unit-of-production depreciation recorded
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for
property, plant and equipment related to oil production
activities. A reduction in proved future production volume
will increase depreciation charges. Future production
volume estimates are subject to revision, either upward
or downward, based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices,
contract terms or development plans.

Dismantlement costs for oil properties are estimated
with reference to engineering estimates after taking into
consideration the anticipated method of dismantlement
required in accordance with industry practices in similar
geographic area, including estimation of economic life of
oil properties, technology and price level. The ultimate
dismantlement costs are uncertain and cost estimates can
be varied in response to many factors including changes
to relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new
restoration technique or experience at other production
sites. The expected timing and amount of expenditure
can also change, for example, in response to changes
in reserves or changes in laws and regulations or their
interpretation. As a result, there could be significant
adjustments to the provision established which would
affect future financial results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iii) Fair value of unlisted equity investment
measured at FVOCI

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
valuation method and makes assumptions that are mainly
based on conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. The Group bases its assumptions on observable
data as far as possible but this is not always available, in
that case the Group uses the best information available.
Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at each
reporting date. Details of which are set out in Note 3.4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

W 35 K 73 BB ¥

AEEZEBXRBRBORARZEEER
RE LZERBEERARER: RINE
BhkPEA s EBRERE S -GH
AEBEREHNE - FHBDRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5

The principal activities of the Group are (i) exploration,
development, production and sale of natural resources in
Argentina; and (ii) general and commodities trading in Hong
Kong and the Mainland China. Further details regarding the

Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note 5(b). S5(b)1% & ©
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) W=mmAD
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers KEBEFPAANKGENETEZER
by major products or service lines is as follows: RGP T -
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Revenue from contracts with BB EERFE 1558
customers within the scope of REHEANREEP
HKFRS 15 BHMkE
— Sales of physical gold under —HEEBRLEMmESZ
general and commodities trading EMER 4,975,370 -
— Sales of non-ferrous metals and —HEEAREMmESZ
petroleum-related products EEeBRAM
under general and commodities B E®D
trading 33,559 216,331
— Sales of oil products under oil —HEAHMRER
exploration and production FEZAME®D 25,589 20,315
5,034,518 236,646
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Revenue from major customers who have individually
contributed 10% or more of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
disclosed as follows:

5 WHERDHBRE &)

(a)

Customer 1 =21
Customer 2 =E2

The above customers are included in general and
commodities trading segment. No revenue was generated
from these customers during the year ended 31 December
2019. Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from
these customers are set out in Note 3.2(b).

(b) Segment reporting

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to making strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker is
identified as the executive directors of the Company.
The executive directors assess the performance of the
operating segments based on the segment assets,
segment liabilities, segment revenue and segment results
for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing
performance. These reports are prepared on the same
basis as these consolidated financial statements.

1 56 NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

(b)

WMo (&)
REEZZ_FF+_A=+—
AIEFEEEBMAEE10%L
WERWRZFERFP 2K ER
BT

2020 2019

S et et
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE FHET

3,399,716 =
818,606 =

tREFFAEBRERESD
M ZEEPRBEE_FT-NF
T-A=t-HLFEYEESL
Wit %EFRPELEERRES
FIEEMBIFE3.2(b)

7 AR &
EEECREBEIBELERARES
B A EL R AR REE
EREDH - TBREARERER
ERARRNATEST WNTES
RENSFHEE - DEHAG DEW
mRDMEEFBEED MO
BIENRERRFERRAE %
EREREZETHA W HREMA
Rz ZEELZ7 -



5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
expanded its commodities trading of non-ferrous metal to
include physical gold trading. In addition, the Group also
entered into the trading of petroleum-related products
in the Mainland China. The trading of petroleum-related
products in the Mainland China is not a reportable
operating segment, as it did not meet the quantitative
threshold accordance with HKFRS 8. The results of the
general trading have been aggregated into one segment
with commodities trading as they have similar nature of
business and similar average gross margins. As a result,
“commodities trading” segment has been renamed to
“general and commodities trading” segment.

Management has identified two reportable segments
based on the Group’s business model:

o Upstream: This segment is engaged in the
exploration, development, production and sale of
crude oil. Currently the Group’s activities in this
regard are carried out in Argentina.

o General and commodities trading: This segment
includes trading of non-ferrous metals, gold and
petroleum-related products.

Segment assets include all the assets with the exception
of investments in joint ventures, financial assets at FVOCI
and unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include all the liabilities with the exception of deferred
tax liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities.

Segment profit/loss represents the profit/loss resulted by
each segment without allocation of assets impairment
losses, share of losses of joint ventures, net investment
loss, unallocated interest income and expense and other
expenses in corporate head office. This is the measure
reported to the Group’'s chief executive decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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5 WRKDEEmE &)

(b)

DEBERE (&)

REEZZ_FF+_A=+—
ALEEE ASERBEECESER
RESREEZRREENESES-
AN REB AR EAMEER
A ERE S - PENM 2 AH
HEEREBEZWIIEZREEH
REARER S B RS ERIZES
ROHYKRERTE TR -LRE
GEEHTIRE S EMHTA—
Bo3 REAEABEUERE
ERBUFHEMNE-Ei - [/
mES A ETHEEIEER
AmRE 5] HEbe

EEECEREBEAEBEZEBER
28k 1) R {18 2 3 0 76

o bl BMEERMmENR
ME LEREE-BAT A
SERMRERRZRS

e ERLKEMEZ UNIME
REEcB w2 MAMA
HEMES-

DHEEBEMBEE BITE
ERAEEEZRE BHAAREE
AR EENEZEREER
ANEEEEE-DHAERRES
MEE BETEREEHERGBR
AoEEEAEE-

D ERE A, RIS AT E L
2aH/BE ARDEEERME
BE EBHEALLEER REEB
BRE - ROEMBWA KRR K
NEERZEMRAX - L BEIR
PEERBAFEMAAEERTE
BERREREZIA
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mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WEKkoREHE &)

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEHE (&)
Capital expenditure comprises addition to HE_Z-_ZFR=ZF—AN
exploration and evaluation assets and property, plant F+ZA=+T—HIEFE:
and equipment for the years ended 31 December BEARAZBEFGHHERER
2020 and 2019. FHEERYME BE AR

e
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) 7DE*E BEREE

Information regarding the Group's reportable FAREBETAEREEE
segments as provided to the Group's chief executive BERAREREERSDERS
decision maker for the purposes of resource HRRAMCEALAEEZ
allocation and performance assessment for the year WO MWERHNT :

is set out below:

General and
Upstream commodities trading Total
Lk EEREmES Bt

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

=t Gt 2 —T— N5 EEbd Al — T 5 Bkl il —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T THT T THT

Reportable segment BELG: 6
revenue (Note) (F7E) 25,589 20,315 5,008,929 216,331 5,034,518 236,646
Reportable segment result AJ 2o HBEE (2,534) (26,600) 5,662 (259) 3,128
Depreciation and TEREH
amortisation
Exploration expenses HERAY
Fairvalue gainson gold ~ E4£®REZ A%
investment BEKR 6,119 6,119
Losses on derivative fTEEMIA
financial instruments BB (9,489) (9,489)
Interest income FIEWA 1 799
Interest expenses FIBHX 1 1
Addition to non-current  FEREDHEE
segment assets Zm 1,187 19,804 507 1,694 19,804
Reportable segment assets o] 25 HEE 162,324 168,798 278,984 , 441,308 173,659
Reportable segment AZHEABEE
liabilities (28,063) (30,083) (22,109) (50,172) (30,931)
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e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities

(i)

(i)

(Continued)
Note:

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during
both the current and prior year. All of the Group’s revenue is

recognised at a point in time.

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,
loss before taxation, assets and liabilities:

Wit & 7 &R & ()

(b) ZEMHE (&)

(i)

(i)

Revenue Wz
Reportable segment revenue A2WH U=
Result ¥E
Reportable segment result B TR

Unallocated interest income

Unallocated interest expenses

Assets impairment losses

Other expenses in corporate
head office

A EHNBHA
AN BN EFX
BERERE

DA AR E AR X

Share of losses of joint ventures [E{F& &% 7 Ei8
Net investment loss KEEEFE
Loss before taxation b B R E5 18

FHEME BERAM
(4)

Bt o

EXmERZ DA EE KB HNED
BEPZWE RAFERBEFE -
YESHEHEE - AERBZRE
R R -

72 0 B Wz - BR B AT
B BEREBEBZHKE:

2020 2019
E_EF —E—NF
HK$°000 HK$'000

F#& T FET

5,034,518 236,646

3,128 (26,859)
6,196 14,891
(11,104) (13,812)
(5,823) (2,250,076)
(20,254) (25,517)
(7,078) (4,784)
(29,623) (4,228)
(64,558) (2,310,385)

Annual Report 2020 e —Z—Z4 %% 159
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mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WHERDHEE @)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (&)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, (ii) TE2H7 Y - BRFFE
loss before taxation, assets and liabilities: B EERBEZHKX:
(Continued) (%)

2020 2019
—BRCoRF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets EWMDEEE 441,308 173,659
Investments in joint ventures A%&\%Z&éz 941 7,849
Financial assets at FVOCI EAnBEFAEMEZA
Wz eREE 16,068
Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEEE
— Cash and cash equivalents —“HakBRaEED 502,858 767,713
— Financial assets at FVPL —BARnEEFAERN
TREE 74,090 119,173
— Other receivables — H i fE W 5K IE 1,354 9,522
- Others —Hfth 609 1,310
Consolidated total assets A EERRE 1,021,168 1,095,294
2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Liabilities aE
Reportable segment liabilities AZmoHBE (50,172) (30,931)
Deferred tax liabilities EL&IEEE (14,920) (11,711)
Unallocated corporate liabilities KO B %A E
— Unallocated borrowings —RPEEE (141,316) (151,544)
— Deposit received —Blkize (44,994) (48,880)
— Unallocated lease liabilities —AoEEEEE (6,187) (834)
— Others —H A (4,623) (4,939)
Consolidated total liabilities mEBERE (262,212) (248,839)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WEKkoREHE &)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (&)
(iii) Geographical information ziii) HEZH

The Company is domiciled in Bermuda while the AARRBREESM mA
Group operates its business primarily in Hong Kong, SEEXEREBE -FHAH
the Mainland China and Argentina. M PRI AE & 27 o

The following table sets out information about the TR () & E R B I ED
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue BEEzZWE RIVAEEZ
from external customers and (ii) the Group's IERBEE TEERARA
non-current assets other than financial assets at BEFAEMEEAKZ 22
FVOCI (“specified non-current assets”). The MEE(IBEXERBEE])
geographical location of the Group's revenue I E 2B R REEU
is based on the locations of customers. The EOHEMEEREPA
geographical location of the specified non-current T -FEIFRBEE M
assets is based on (i) the physical location of the BUEBDERORYE  HE
asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment BERBERFEEER
and exploration and evaluation assets; and (ii) TOEEARFUEIHE R
the location of the operation to which they are (W ENHE R REM
allocated, in the case of prepayments, deposits and JEWRIEM S - REE DB
other receivables. In the case of investments in joint ZEBMER R EERE
ventures, it is based on the location of the operation ZIEME RINZEEDR
of such joint ventures. XEBE MR A%

Revenues from external Specified
customers non-current assets
RENBEF 2 Wz BEFRBEE

2020 2019 2020 2019
= T Rl — T F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAT TERT FTAET

Hong Kong BB 4,771,343 1,682 1,697

Mainland China AR A 33,559 483 6,903
Argentina o] AR 7 25,589 128,370 142,534

Singapore hng 168,809 - =
United Arab Faf Bt & 35,218 = =

Emirates BERH

5,034,518 236,646 130,535 151,134
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e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

6 OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6 HMRA WEREBEFHE

162

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FHET

Bank interest income SRITR B A 6,995 14,935

Drilling service income R IF A 978 1,523
Losses on derivative PTEemIAER

financial instruments (9,489) -
Fair value gains on gold investment E&®REZ AR BEKTG 6,119 =
Hyperinflation monetary adjustments 2214 3@ iRk & ¥ 14 392 (M)

(Note) 7,659 21,416
Net foreign exchange losses HNEE BT IR H R (7.622) (34,865)
Others HAh 586 17

5,226 3,026
Note: Bt EE

In May 2018, the Argentine peso (“ARS") underwent a severe devaluation
resulting in the three-year cumulative inflation of Argentina to exceed 100%,
thereby triggering the requirement to transition to hyperinflation accounting as
prescribed by HKAS 29, “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”,
for the activities of the Argentine subsidiaries and branches from 1 January 2018
onwards.

Under HKAS 29, the non-monetary assets and liabilities stated at historical
cost, the equity and the statement of profit or loss of subsidiaries and branches
operating in hyperinflationary economies are restated for changes in the general
purchasing power of the local currency applying a general price index, and
monetary items that are already stated at the measuring unit at the end of the
reporting period are not restated.

To measure the impact of inflation on the Group’s financial position and
results, the Group has elected to use the Wholesale Price Index (Indice de
Precios Mayoristas) for periods up to 31 December 2016, and the Retail Price
Index (Indice de Precios al Consumidor) thereafter. These price indices have
been recommended by the Government Board of the Argentine Federation of
Professional Councils of Economic Sciences.

Current year hyperinflation monetary adjustment for the change in price
index amounting to approximately HK$7,659,000 (2019: HK$21,416,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

REZZ-N\FHA WRERR ([MRERR])
REBERE SHMRE=FA100%H R
IR B SIEMBENBEAR RS RAIZEYE
—E-N\F-A-ARRREB G LERNFE29%R
[(BUHBREEVBERRIORE ABEETN
BREHENESR

BEEB G ERE29 HELRATIRZFE
ER¥MEERAE BE R BUEBKRLERER
BEZWBRARDARZERR ARA A
—RYERERELEE—RBEEN2EH T
Y MERBREMRZABEMI T ZER
HBRATTES-

RIAEBREETEEN M BEARR R EEPTER
WEE AEBREE-_T—A"F+A=1+—
A AR B 38 A #E 2 B (B 78 Z(Indice de Precios
Mayoristas) * LA R A E 18 3% A T E (B E B (Indice
de Precios al Consumidor) ° 3% % BB 5 2048 f1 f]
BEBRAREENBEXBEENRNEZESRE

2y
% °

EREHEP2AFEEUHBRREKAED
7,659 000/%71:(:ﬁ_n$:21,416,000‘;§7€)ﬁ/§\
BAEBRRER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BRMEESZEAX
Operating loss has been arrived after charging the following KEBEBTEHKRATERRES:
items:
2020 2019
—EB-FF —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 THET T T
Cost of inventories recognised BRI 2 HFEKAE
as expense 5,000,333 224,724
Depreciation of property, Y- W5 R
plant and equipment REITE 17 6,568 4,661
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 17 2,419 2,119
Employee benefit expenses (including & B & |5 X
directors’ remuneration) (PREEM:) 11 16,379 19,577
Processing charges I EA 7.823 =
Auditor’s remuneration %S 6N B &
— Audit services — B RTE 1,900
— Non-audit services —JEERRT 850
Others Hith 23,343
Total cost of sales, general and HEKRAEN  —f K&
administrative expenses, THAS R
and exploration expenses BRI 2 48 %R 5,050,663 277,174
8 ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 8 EBEERERIE
2020 2019
—B-BF —ZE-NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Ff 5 TER FHET
Exploration and evaluation assets B R FE B E 16 2,243,254
Property, plant and equipment W BB kEE 17 S
Inventories PER=Y 21 6,822
2,250,076
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mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

9 NET INVESTMENT LOSS 9 REFEFE
2020 2019
—E-ZF —E-hNF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FHET FHBT
Net losses in listed equity securities EFIRAEBS 2
B8 %58 23 6,850
Net gains in listed and unlisted iRk ETER
debt securities FEH MR IFRE 23 (1,010)
Net gains in unlisted equity-linked I LT RAE
securities BEHEZWEFEE 23 (1,612)
Gain in unlisted funds FEEMES 2 W (17)
4,211
10 FINANCE COSTS 10 BEKI
2020 2019
—E-ZF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Interest on borrowings EEF A 10,888 13,721
Interest on lease liabilities HEBER S 227 91
11,115 13,812
11 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS' 11 EIRA (BEESEME)
REMUNERATION)
2020 2019
—EEHF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FAT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e FEREMBTR 14,827 17,674
Contributions to defined contribution & %84t 7R (R 5t 21 4 3
retirement plan 1,552 1,903
16,379 19,577
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

11 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS' 1M EIRA (BRESHE)
REMUNERATION) (continued) (#&)
Five highest paid individuals AfuBSHFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2019: FuERFMATEFR MU (ZF
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 12. —NF M) BEE EERKE12
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate of BE-HEZT_TF+_A=1—H
the emoluments in respect of the other three individuals (2019: FEFE - BEM=U(=ZFT—NF:=f)
three) were as follows: ALZEHEBEHT:
2020 2019
—BCoRF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Salaries, allowances and e RUREVMET
benefits in kind 2,365
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 316
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHR 54
2,735
No emoluments were paid by the Group to these individuals AEBWEAZZFA LTI N ERBEE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as RIMBAREEN RN BERIERE
compensation for loss of office. B (g -
The emoluments of this highest paid individual fall within the BRMALTzMeHmERNT
following band:
2020 2019
—E-ZF —ZE-NF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AH A
HK$500,001 — HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 7£—1,000,000/% 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7t—1,500,0007% 7T 1
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mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12 EEFFERAZE (FELQT
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION %5 (5£622F ) £3831K KA
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES A (HEEEFZER) B
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (%6622GE )R EmHEAIBE
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT FrE2 8 5E)

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) E=HM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section EEZHFMREBEFTAELTKMNE
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3BMFERAR (RBEENRE
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about B RBE2E B ERBELT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Employer's

Salaries, contribution to

allowances a retirement

Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary benefit
fees in kind bonuses scheme Total

e 2ER EERHKER
EsHe BENEA EERA SR o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR THET TET THET

Chairman *E
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ Z388#A 44

Executive director HITEE
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan HxBEE

Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHELE

Independent non-executive BUFHITEE

directors
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen FRAE
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R -ZF-F%
ZHAZTHAEEF)
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RERLE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRELE
Mr. HUANG, Victor HEEEE

(appointed on 19 June 2020) (R=F=%F#F
NATAHEEE)
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SREMBHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)
Details of remuneration of directors for the year ended
31 December 2019 were as follows:

12

EEERRAN (FEAT
el (E622% ) £3831 R 2
= (RBESARER) 26
(8622GE) & F R ABE
A2 WE) ()

(a) EEHM (&)
BE_FT-NFT-_A=1+—H
LHFEE - EFHMFEWT:

2019
—E-NE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e RER
EE2E ENEH BEEL  RAGEIERR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET TEL FET TET
Chairman TE
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ EP8878 % & - 2,160 510 14 2,684
Executive director HITEE
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan BiBLE - 2,400 510 - 2,910
Non-executive director HHTEF
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHRE (RZF-
(appointed on 1 April 2019) FHE—-HEZF) 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive BUHHITEE
directors
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen BREELE 200 - - - 200
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RERLE 200 S - - 200
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRELE 200 S - - 200
Mr. WONG, Man Kong Peter T &UHILA
(deceased on 11 March 2019)  (R=F—-N%F
ZH+—HE#H) 39 - - - 39
999 4,560 1,020 14 6,593

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors of the Company as an accepting office as
director or as a compensation for loss of office as director
(2019: Nil).

MEARNREEREEMAHNE
AEBTEREAARBDEEX
NE EREXEEBM 2 RE
IMEEERU2BE(ZZT N
F|E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 378 &t BASI - FT A & BHIABTTHIR

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES) (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e 37 (X

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking (2019: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for
the early termination of the appointment during the year
(2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of
directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Company (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year (2019: Nil).

BERBERRAA

)

12 ESEFANRANRZ(FELT
%5 (5£622F ) £383%K KA
A (IRBEEENZER) RH
(5$622GE) R EHEARE

FiiEz 5%

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

) (&)

EERIAER
EFTEMNEABEEQRSHE
KB AR EH 2 AR E S
SRUERBHN(ZF—-NEF:
&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

SREMBHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

INCOME TAX

13 FriE#t

BB E-FBANEH
FREE

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year

B A% 18 — 8 4h

Current tax — overseas

Under-provision in respect of prior years Ft{EFEETE
Deferred tax IR FE B IH

Charged/(credited) to the profit or loss  REZENE (5t A)

2020 2019
—E2=-FF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET TAET

9

13,896 (20,257)
14,936 (20,248)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Company and its subsidiaries
incorporated in Bermuda and the BVI are not subject to any
income tax in Bermuda and the BVI for both the current and
prior year.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision for
Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year ended 31
December 2019 as the Group's operations in Hong Kong had
no assessable profits.

Subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are subject to
Argentina corporate income tax ("AIT") at 30% (2019:
30%) and minimum presumed income tax (“MPIT"). MPIT is
supplementary to AIT and is chargeable at the applicable tax
rate of 1% on the tax basis of certain assets. The tax liabilities
of subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are the higher of AIT
and MPIT.

REARENRERZES ([RBEX
BRI ZANKER Aor R EKE
RANBRERRBREZESEMKL
ARNERMMBEFELEBAMMBRE
REBREZBBERPMEH-

RBE_ZT-EF+_A=1+—H1
FE - BAEMNEBHIBEAFEZMH
ST RR TR R F1R16.5% (ZFE— A F:
16.5% ) R EEHBE - BE_T— N1
FH+_A=Z1+—HLEFE BRAEE
B8 2 SE TS 48 FE AR B v A - R 0 A
TIRBAANSHBE-

REBR R IE Z KB A FIZAZ30%7H
R(ZZE—NF:30% ) BRRELE
Prisi ([FRZREB) MR &E
PRISE ([HERIRERES]) - HEOR &K
PRER R BREMESH MR WA
TEEZRERI%ERT R - K&
BB 2R NP RE 2 BRI A B AR
EFREHRERAREMRSHRZESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

13

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group in the Mainland China are subject to
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) in accordance with the Law of
the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT Law”). Under the
CIT Law, the income tax rate applicable to these subsidiaries is
25% (2019: 25%).

Taxation for other overseas subsidiaries of the Group is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant countries and regions.

The tax on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate
of the Group’s subsidiaries as follows:

13 Fif8®i (&)

REBMPA R R KERNWEB QR AREF
BEMERE(DEMEBREH
M EEH ([REMEH]) - RED
E¥RBEHE ZEHRBARBEAMNAASG
HRER25% (ZE—NFE:25%) °

AR B E At SN B B 2 B TR IR AR RE
BIZK K b [ 2 3R 77 8 & B 3 e B o

REERRB AT E R 2 IR S (E R AL E

Loss before taxation

Notional tax on loss before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable
to loss in the jurisdictions concerned

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of hyperinflation impact

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised as
deferred tax assets

Tax effect of tax losses and temporary
differences not recognised

Tax effect of derecognition of
deferred tax assets

Tax effect on change in tax rate (Note)

Under-provision in respect of prior years

Income tax expense/(credit)

MEBARMEBBHERELZRHREE
ERERNT:
2020 2019
—E-ZF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T
BREIRTEE (64,558) (2,310,385)
BEBRBAIEEcZERE
RZEANEBHE R EER
BECMEGTHE (57,969)
ERMBAZTH G E (2,793)
AR o HIET & 4,141
EMBRATVECHBTE 23,171
SHRBELRERE
BEBIHREE
REBBHETE =
RERRBEBAMYRERE
MBee 13,193
BUEERBLEHRBEEY
Mg e =
BB EREHHTNIBLE
(FE=E) =
RAFERETR 9
FERAY (ER) (20,248)

Note:

The tax rate of AIT decreased from 30% to 25% for the year ending 31

December 2021 onwards.

FsE:
HE_Z

Z—FFTZA=t—RLFE WRE

EMBHRBEB30%HEE25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

14 DIVIDEND 14 BRE
The board of directors of the Company does not recommend RARAEEFGTEENBE_ZT_TF
the payment of any final dividend for the year ended TZA=T—BIFEEIREMKER
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). B(ZF—NF 8&)-
15 LOSS PER SHARE 15 BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREALREIE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the ERERNBEDBREBERARES
Group's loss attributable to owners of the Company of A JE 1 8518 4979,483,0007% 7T (=
approximately HK$79,483,000 (2019: HK$2,290,086,000) T — 14 1 2,290,086,00078 7T) M
and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue RFEEEBITE B IMEFSE
during the year of approximately 8,758,881,000 shares #78,758,881,000/% (= ZE— N5 :
(2019: 8,758,881,000 shares). 8,758,881,000/% ) 5t &
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BEREEER
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, basic BE_ZT-—NFR_ZT_ZTF
and diluted loss per share was the same as there were TZA=+T—BIEFE:" EEE’\\EW
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the MEBITEBE A #E @R, -
year. WERERREEEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

16 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 16 BIERFAMEEE
Exploration  Exploratory Geological
rights drilling studies Others Total
BRE BREH BEHE Hity @t
(Notes (a)
(Note (a)) and (b))
\ (FaE (@) &
(FizE@) (b))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TR THT THT
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE—-A—H
Cost R 3,229,713 126,338 187,924 33,991 3,577,966
Accumulated impairment ZETRE (1,013,545) (5,009) (187,924) (33,991) (1,240,469)
2,216,168 121,329 = = 2,337,497
Year ended 31 December 2019  EHZE_Z—h#F
+-A=+-BLEE
At 1 January 2019 RZE—-NE—-A—-A 2,216,168 121,329 = — 2,337,497
Addition NE = 19,285 = = 19,285
Write off i - (202) = = (202)
Impairment (Note (a)) wiE (fi3E@) (2,214,726) (28,528) = = (2,243,254)
Hyperinflation adjustments EHBRAR (1,442) (8,049) - - (9,491)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+
“F=t+—H = 103,835 = — 103,835
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-A=+-H
Cost AR 3,228,271 137,372 181,986 33,991 3,581,620
Accumulated impairment ZEHE (3,228,271) (33,537) (181,986) (33,991)  (3,477,785)
= 103,835 = = 103,835
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-ZT-Z
+-A
At 1 January 2020 W-Z-F 103,835 103,835
Addition NE 1,151 1,151
Transfers (Note (b)) iz (s (28,619) (28,619)
Hyperinflation adjustments EHmR: (13,239) (13,239)
At 31 December 2020 S
+-H 63,128 63,128
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-F
+ZRA=+—-H
Cost B%N 3,226,181 89,212 137,637 31,429 3,484,459
Accumulated impairment ZEHHE (3,226,181) (26,084) (137,637) (31,429)  (3.421,331)

63,128 63,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

16 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The balances of exploration rights and exploratory drilling amounting to
approximately HK$2,216,168,000 and HK$29,157,000 as at 1 January
2019 represent the Group's 69.25% interest in the Tartagal concession
and Morillo concession (collectively the “T&M Concessions”) which are
the concessions in the province of Salta in northern Argentina, through
an Union of Temporary Enterprise. Exploration permits were granted for
oil and developments of hydrocarbons in the T&M Concessions for an
initial period of four years starting from 29 December 2006 and additional
extensions up to an aggregate of nine years may be obtained. The Group
submitted applications to the Secretary of Energy of Province of Salta,
Argentina (“Salta SOE") for extensions of the exploration permits and
obtained the approvals in July 2010, July 2011, December 2013, March
2016 and March 2018 respectively. Pursuant to the approval document
issued in March 2018, the exploration permits were extended to 13
September 2019. If successful hydrocarbon discoveries are made, the
exploration permits could be converted to exploitation permits for a term
of 25 years with a possible extension of 10 years.

The Group submitted its application to the Salta SOE for a further
extension of the exploration permits in May 2019, and for entering the
second exploratory period in early September 2019.

However, on 17 September 2019, the Salta SOE issued resolutions
rejecting both the Group's applications of one-year extension and
entering into the second exploratory period in the T&M Concessions
(“Resolutions”). In late September 2019, the Group have submitted its
appeal to the Minister of Production in the Province of Salta in order to
seek the revocation of the Resolutions. Based on the latest communication
with the related authorities in the Province of Salta and a legal opinion
obtained from an independent Argentinian legal counsel, the Group
believes there is significant uncertainty in regard to the timing and
possibility of a positive appeal result in favour of the Group. The Group
recognised full impairment of approximately HK$2,243,254,000 in respect
of the exploration and evaluation assets related to the T&M Concessions
as at 31 December 2019.

There was no significant update on the appeal in respect of the revocation
of the Resolutions during the year ended 31 December 2020.

16 HRKFEEE =

RZZE—NAF-—RA—BZHEERBEF
T A PR IE492,216,168,0008 T &
29,157,000/ 7T #§ A~ & B & B Union of
Temporary Enterprise}¥ 5 Tartagal ¥ &F #&
[& K MorillofF Fr # & (#5718 [T&RM% 5T
B (R PR AE b 5 BE B 5S4 O R A
[&) 69.25% M k- TRMEFFFEEANZ A
mRmELAMBABEERDEST 5=
ZERNFT A+ NLhBRBEMAHDT
FWAEINER EZEHNF-AEE
CRMBEERELERIR ([EEEE
HEBR)EXHMFTIBHHRE L5
MR- F+LA ZFE——FtA =
T—=F+ZR - ZFT—XFEZAK=ZF
—“NE=ZRESHE-RER=_Z—N\F
CAEENBREXH BMRTAIEEZ
—NWFENLAT=ZA-WRNBEBRRE(LE
V) BVIRET AT AE S0 8 A B HA25F K B 4R
FFA] - A0 AT AE AR HA104F ©

ARER =T - AFEAAEBEE LR
BREZHRFTi— SRPR T LR
SE-AENAMEREAE = EHRS
GEE

AR RZT—AFLA++LBE EBESL
RERIRFELAZR  TREAEERTAM
HHERES - FREAS _EAHEBRD
MPEZE(CRER]) -R=ZZT—AENA
K AEEREREAEEDREBLF &
EZRBBErBR-ENAERELEEH
BB P B 3T B R A B AR R 9B N A R AR
BEMEAZER AKERE BHRAE
EMERLFERORERAEETES
ATHEEE - RZT—hhE+=_A=+—
B AEERABRTIMEBFEENEER
P 1E & E R BUR (B £2,243,254,0000%8
0

REBE-T-_ZHF+-_A=+—RHILFE"
W EBARHRER LROERRHEKR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 378 &t BASI - FT A & BHIABTTHIR

16 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2020, the balance of exploratory drilling represents the
drilling activities in the Los Blancos Concession (formerly known as Chirete
Concession) in the province of Salta in Northern Argentina (“Los Blancos
Concession”), in which the Group farmed into 50% participating interest

under a farm-in agreement with Pampa Energia S.A.

In 2016, the Group had an oil discovery in the HLG.St.LB.x-1002
exploratory well drilled in October 2015 in the Los Blancos Concession
and agreed with Pampa Energia S.A that the additional cost for further

drilling activities would be financed by the two participants.

In 2018, the Group drilled another exploratory well, HLG.St.LB.x-2001 in
the Los Blancos Concession and significant oil and gas were discovered.

In 2019, the construction of the Group’s permanent production facilities

at HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory well has been completed.

On 15 October 2020, the exploitation permit for Los Blancos Concession
(formerly known as Chirete Concession) has been granted by the provincial
authorities of Salta. The exploitation permit officially entitles the Group
to produce crude oil in the Los Blancos Concession for the next 25 years.
The carrying amount of approximately HK$28,619,000 in exploratory
drilling has been assessed for impairment before reclassification to
property, plant and equipment. The key assumptions used in the value-
in-use calculation included estimated future crude oil prices, estimated
future production volume, estimated future production cost, estimated
future capital expenditure and discount rate. Estimated future crude oil
prices are compiled based on forecasted oil prices published by a principal
agency of a governmental authority. Estimated future production volume,
future production cost, and future capital expenditure are estimated based
on the approved production profile and relevant budget. Pre-tax discount
rate of 40% has been applied in the value-in-use calculation. Since the
recoverable amount exceeded its carrying amount, no impairment loss is

considered as necessary on the date of reclassification.

For details of the impairment assessment on the remaining balance of
exploration and evaluation assets as at 31 December 2020, please refer to

Note 17.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥7H (X 2R A R 2

5

16 BER

HhEE#

BeE: (&)

(b)

E@ TTEFF+_A=+—H BHFEEH
45 84 35 [ AR 7 b 5B E B #5 & B Los Blancos
’Hnﬂ%ln:u(ﬁ M ChiretefFsT# =) ([Los
Blancos# R E ] ) MEHEE  NEEIR
¥ B2 Pampa Energia S.ARTM 2B ALZHEE
ALos Blancos# s #E [& #)50% 2 B fE 2 o

RZTE—RNFE AEEHF =T —RF+
F# &R Los Blancos%uHEI:HLG.St.LB.
x-1002 &) £; 7+ 2 B3 A ) I BLPampa  Energia
SAERBE #E—FSEFTFINEIMX
5 E i {IE 22 B 75 A o

MN=Z— \F  A&EER Los Blancosts FF i
[@ BIHLG.St.LB.x-2001#& K 5 — B 8h R -

WERRKEABRRAR -
RZFE—NF REBEMHLG.St.LB.x-2001

SR B K A M A EE R R LR TERK o

R-ZT-_TE+A+HE HEREEER
B & HiLos Blancosts & # [& (A8 Chirete
RN IE A c IR AT FER
% HE N £ @ £ K K254 M Los Blancos#F
HREBEERGB BDEREFNEEELD
28,619,000 8 TR EFM D BEEME BE
REHEMEETRET G - EFREET=
FEANEZRIBE MBI RRFBERE-
HEFRRES Bt RREEKAS - E5HR
RERBALRITB R - Bat A RFBES
TIRBFBPFNELRER GRS E
el fhET RKES  RRAEMRARN R KRK
éﬁfﬁﬁiﬁ*ﬁ?ﬁaﬁt?&mi?ﬁ%ﬁ&*@?ﬁ
BEGFT - RTEFERAEERSD ER40%
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REE WRENS>BEH BERERSE
WARVE A -

ERR-_ZE-_TE+_A=+—0YHHE
R EELEBNRETEOFE F2
BIFMIEE17 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 V¥ BERRE
oil
production Right-of-
Machinery assets Others use assets Total
AREE
- gE Hit HRAREE @it
(Note (a))
(F7E ()
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FTHL FTAL THET FTET
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-nE—-A—H
Cost AR 40,733 - 5,184 6,358 52,275
Accumulated depreciation and ~ ZHTE RiiE
impairment (8,219) - (4,887) (3,531) (16,637)
32,514 - 297 2,827 35,638
Year ended 31 December 2019  HE—ZT—hF
tTZA=T-BLEE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—A—H 32,514 - 297 2,827 35,638
Addition hE 513 - 13 - 526
Depreciation nE (4,548) - (113) (2,119) (6,780)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHERERAR (830) - (15) - (845)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+-A=+-H 27,649 - 182 708 28,539
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NF
+-A=+H
Cost A 38,087 - 4,710 6,358 49,155
Accumulated depreciation and  Z&FHTE KA
impairment (10,438) - (4,528) (5,650) (20,616)
27,649 - 182 708 28,539
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-T-T4%
+ZRA=+-BLEE
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZF—Hf—H 27,649 708 28,539
Addition RE 24 7,991 8,047
Transfers L F ] - - 28,619
Depreciation nE (3,692) (2,419) (8,987)
Impairment (Note 8) W iE (KiEs) - (5,.823) (5,823)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHERAR 1,840 - 11,729
Exchange differences B ER - 26 26
At 31 December 2020 WZZZEF
+=A=+-8 62,150
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZ2F
+-A=+-H
Cost XN 36,858 38,392 4,553 14,377 94,180
Accumulated depreciation and ~ Z&FHTE KA
impairment (11,037) (2,732) (4,367) (13,894) (32,030)

25,821 35,660 186 483 62,150
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuea)

Notes:

(a)

Others mainly represented furniture, fixtures and office equipment,
and motor vehicles, with net book values amounting to approximately
HK$157,000 (2019: HK$148,000), and HK$29,000 (2019: HK$34,000)
respectively.

Due to the volatile crude oil price and the potential adverse impact on the
performance of upstream business as a result of COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group conducted the impairment assessment for its oil properties, which
mainly included “machinery” and “oil production assets” of property,
plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets (Note 16),
totalled of approximately HK$124,578,000 as at 31 December 2020.

The recoverable amount of oil properties in respect of Los Blancos
Concession (formerly known as Chirete Concession) is determined using
value-in-use calculation. The calculation used discounted cash flow model
based on financial forecasts prepared by management and covered the
expected life of the oil fields. The key assumptions used in the value-in-
use calculation included estimated future crude oil prices, estimated future
production volume, estimated future production cost, estimated future
capital expenditure and discount rate. Estimated future crude oil prices are
compiled based on forecasted oil prices published by a principal agency
of a governmental authority. Estimated future production volume, future
production cost, and future capital expenditure are estimated based on
the approved production profile and relevant budget. Pre-tax discount rate
of 40% has been applied in the value-in-use calculation. The board of
directors of the Company considered that no impairment loss is necessary
as at 31 December 2020.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

GEE

(a)

17 ME- -BERKE @

Hi X Z2REEBEFED A A4157,000%
7T (ZZF — A5 : 148,000 7T ) 529,000/
T (ZZ — N4 34,0008 7T) M E AL %
BERBARRERAE-

HRRAEREBREFEMAKES
HE EREBRBEONBETHNTE K&
BEHEAMEEETREN G 20
ME-BELRZED#R] R[AHKE
EEEIRMERTIHEE (ME16) -
R-ZE-_ZTE+_A=+—BAEHEH
124,578,000/ 7t °

E@Los Blancos #FFTH# R (AIHEChiretefs
ER)NAGHMEENTRE S IER
FREEAEETC -ZAENEREERE
RENMBEACEATRESREEAT
MEHBNESRFR - ERAEESEER
MEZBIREGBTARFBES B
RREERE HTRREERR  BEFRKE
ANEX BRI R B REKRBER TR
RPN E TR ERMOTEIhERSR -
e RRESE Bt RREER AR R
AKERAZDHIRBECIENEER LR
HEBEET - RAEEAEBEREER
0% BB RE-R-_T_FF+ =
A=Z+—B ARBEEERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

18 RIBRARZRE

R_E-_EF+_A=1+—H &ARQ7A
BB A RGBT

18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020
are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

ERERLH
Place of
establishment/ Group's
incorporation Particulars of issued effective Directly  Indirectly  Principal
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest held held  activities
FR3L/ R R @2 B B
AEAR RE%ibE BRARAZREFE ERER & #5E IEER
Total Belief Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
BEAERRA RERIES RERAEIETZEBR REER
Jade Honest Limited BVI 2,700 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% 100% - Dormant
EERZBEE  2L70REREEIETCERER REEBED
Absolute Champ Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share at HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Trading of physical
gold products
BEBRRA B TREREBIET EBR ENESERER
Ace Diamond Trading Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERRES 100k BREEIZT . ERR REARR
Big Trade Investments Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERRES REREBIZT EBR REARR
Bright Rise Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BEEEERAA EBRAHS REGREE XL EBR REER
Cheer Profit Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEERAA EBRAHS REREE1ET EBR REER
Discovery Operating LLC United States of ~ Nil paid 100% - 100%  Dormant
America ("US")
| ([%E]) % REEBEY
ETLA, LLC us Registered capital of US$500 100% - 100%  Investment holding
e FMERS00% T REER
First Continent Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERAHES 1008 BREEIZT ERR RERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18 RMIB AT 2RE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

178

i $:3a40]
Place of
establishment/ Group's
incorporation Particulars of issued effective Directly  Indirectly  Principal
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest held held  activities
R/ R R rEEe B 5F:3
AR REXHE BEARAZREFSE BRER BH BE IEER
First Apex Global Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
RERUES 100 BREE IR EBR REER
Giant Perfect Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERUES 100 BREEIET L EBR REER
Grand Rich Trading Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
BREEFERAA REBUES REREEIET EBR RERR
Happy Light Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
HEEEERAF RERUES RBREEIET EBR RERR
High Luck Holding (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Limited
BEER (FE)ER Bk RERAEIETZEABR RERR
High Luck Group Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Exploration of
oil and gas
BEEREERAR ERRAES 100RBREEIZT LB HREARRAR
Jumbo Hope Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
BHEEERAR BE REREEIETZ EBR RERR
New Times Power Limited BVI 1,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
EEREAHS 1,000k BREEIET ERR REER
New Times Energy Canada Inc. Canada 500,000 Class A common shares of 100% = 100%  Investment holding
CAD0.01 each
mgx 500,000 &R A E0.01 /7T 2 REZR
AFLER
Novastar Capital Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
ERREAHS 100B B REEIET EBR RERR
Power Jet Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Dormant
ERREAHE RERAEIZT I EBR AEEBEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18 RMBRAT2RE (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
i $:3a40]

Place of

establishment/ Group's

incorporation Particulars of issued effective Directly Indirectly  Principal
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest held held  activities

R/ R R @2 B k3
AEER RERBH BETRAZREFSE BRERS BH BE IEER
Techno Wealth Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
BEBRNRA RERUES RERABIXT, EAR REER
United Oil & Resources Trading Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding

Limited

BADHERESBERAT Bk 100k BREEIET ERBR REER
AITRBESERAR* PRC Registered capital of US$1,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding

HE & 741,000,000% 7T RERR
wach OL&) EHBR A PRC Registered capital of US$5,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of petroleum-

related products

H FH{ff & 715,000,000% 7T hARBERES

United Resources Trading Limited BVI/Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 51% = 51%  Commodities
trading
HRERESERDA KERLES/ 10REREBIZTZLER AREH
Bk

e Wholly foreign owned enterprise established under the PRC law * RBFBEDAREMAIEBEDLE
As at 31 December 2020, non-controlling interests was RZZEZTF+_A=+—H"FEEA
attributable to United Resources Trading Limited, which is not R %%EA tHRERESBERQA ﬁ
material to the Group. HAE FXETEKR

Annual Report 2020 e —ZE-ZF %% 179



180

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19 REELECIRE

2020 2019

—E-ZF —ZE-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT T T

Share of net assets DEEETE 941 7,849
2019

—E-NF

HK$'000

T T

At 1 January Rn—HA—H 12,827
Share of results of joint ventures JElEEE RS (4,784)
Exchange differences PE H =R (194)
7,849
Details of the Group's interest in joint ventures, which are FHEREER L bEER (RERE

accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated RERE P 15 i%)\ﬁﬁ)z.ﬁl LU

financial statements, are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

iRy 4 $-3:40]
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of issued effective  Heldbya  Principal
Name of joint ventures and business and paid up capital interest  subsidiary  activities
ALK BETR AE@z -ZHE
RELEER EE 3R BRRAERE BEREE ONRRE TEXHR
Smart Win International Limited BVI 200 ordinary share of US$1 each 50% 50%  Investment holding
HEERERAA EEELEE 200 BRAEEIZT . EBR BAEER
Full charming Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 29.9% 29.9%  Investment holding
KEELES 1REBREEIET LER REER
Hong Kong Oil Development Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 29.9% 29.9%  Investment holding
Co. Limited
ERRBERERAT B REREE BT ERR BAER
BRETERELER PRC Registered capital of Renminbi (“RMB") 28.4% 28.4%  Provision of
6,000,000 oil services
# & A AR #6,000,0007T REAHRS
% Limited liability company established under the PRC law e BERBEEEAMAERET AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (cContinued)

SREMBHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

None of these entities are material to the Group.

The Group’s joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities

whose quoted market prices are not available.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
investments in joint ventures and these entities also had no
material contingent liabilities.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not

individually material:

19

REELEZRE (#)
EEBUAEEHSEREA

rEBZEECER/RRLETARER:
3 8 T35 R (E ©

VEIAABEARERGELRZR
BERMERSERNTYBEEAKAAE

=113

FERERNEELRERLER:

2020 2019
e —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET

Total assets
Total liabilities
Total losses

BERRE
BERRE
B

11,464 29,073
(11,628) (4,052)
(25,784) (16,607)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Equity securities at FVOCI RAREEFAEMRZE
Wz BRARS
— Borealis — Borealis

— Foothills Exploration

— Foothills Exploration

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise equity securities which are not held for
trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition
to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments and the
Group considers this classification to be more relevant.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, fair value loss of approximately
HK$16,060,000 (2019: HK$2,626,000) on the equity securities at FVOCI
was recognised in other comprehensive income. No dividend or other
income from equity securities at FVOCI was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss (2019: Nil).

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value is provided in Note 3.4.

All of the financial assets at FVOCI are denominated in US$. For an
analysis of the sensitivity of the assets to price risk, details of which refer
to Note 3.2(a)(ii).

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

5>
3
i}

B A2 EK

ZEMEE

&

2019

—z-=F et
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
15,925

143

16,068

BARBEAAEGEZERKGEZEREE
BRIFFHEEERERZEAZFES A
SES TR REAE BRI RN
ERHHEETHR EABRKRERLSE
BRALDBE LA

REBEZZ-ZEF+-A=+—HLFE"
FHRRAREESTAEMEZERKSEHNRAEA
BHH QA EEREX16,060,000%E 7T (=
T —NF:2,626,0008 ) REMEEEK
TR MERGEBERRERIEARE
BT A H b 2 RS 9 AR AR 3B 55 B9 AR B 5k
HBMA(ZE—LE &) -

FHEEAABEMEBOTERBRD
AMBRME3 4 -

AR AR BEFALMEZEEEN S H
AEOUERTHE-EFREEHERRAR
B BURE D AT - R IB A 2 BT EE3.2(a)ii)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

21 INVENTORIES 21 7€

2020 2019
—E_EF —E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHIT
Gold held for trading, at cost ERAEREAERINES 15,980 =
Consumables 2 ¥ m 12,756 14,206
Oil products BOmE @ 64 98
28,800 14,304

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an PHRAAIWAAGEEBRRITE

expense and included in consolidated statement of profit or SEIOMWMT:

loss is as follows:

2020 2019
S —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFEZERAEE
(Note 7) (Mt5E7) 5,000,333 224,724
Write down of inventories (Note 8) WoRTFEE (H3E8) - 6,822

5,000,333 231,546
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 EWEZRAKRHMEKRR
|
2020 2019
e —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Trade receivables (Notes (b) and (c)) e E F R K
(M 5E(b) () 61,271 2,505
Other debtors HihEBA 5,168 7,790
Deposits birgeia 5,200 4,488
Amount due from a joint venture ElaEhENSHE
(Note (d)) (FH&Ed)) 565 561
Financial assets measured at BEEKATENEREE
amortised cost 72,204 15,344
VAT recoverable AT el (B R 3,618 10,911
Other tax recoverable H b 0] Uy 0] 74 18 1,858 4,024
Other prepayments H b T8~ 5B 3,469 2,617

81,149 32,896

Reconciliation to the consolidated REEHBERARZEER:
statement of financial position:

Non-current IERB 10,911
Current mE 21,985
32,896
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(b)

The board of directors of the Company considers that the carrying
amounts of deposits, trade and other receivables approximate their fair
values as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Trade receivables are due within 30 days (2019: 30 days) from the date of
billing. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, presented
based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

22

PR B 5 BRI H 2 FE UK

I8 (&

GEE

0 - 30 days 0%£30H

31 - 60 days 31£60H
61 - 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H M

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables. See Note 3.2(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.

The amount due from a joint venture is non-secured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables measured at
amortised cost approximate their fair value and are denominated in the
following currencies:

()

RMB AR
us$ ET

ARS Bl AR FE 4% 3R
HK$ BT

Annual Report 2020

HRAROFESITER FAAEFS
RREE FBRE SRR HE M EKKE
MEEEEREELA R BEMRSE-

EWE ZEFARERERASHEI0H (=
T-NF:300)NEH-BEE SRR
BEAHRNRBRBREIRZERRD
ranT

2020 2019
—z-2f —T-nE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FBT
59,801 2,321

85 -

1,178 =

207 184

61,271 2,505

AEBRBB B BRELRFIRRTEN
B EREREEBRAERE 54
ERARFEAFENRABRAERES
ERRA REG FRASREEERERED
EZFE F2HMES.20) -

WA ERENFAREBERR 28 RE

REHK A B2 RIRE SRR S EHAME
WORIR R BRE (E B E A A EEAAE KA
TEE%E:

2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
40,064 =
27,801 7,843
3,030 3,066
1,309 4,435
72,204 15,344
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR M R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23 g

PROFIT OR LOSS

L3

Listed equity securities (Note (i))
Listed debt securities (Note (ii))
Unlisted debt securities (Note (ii))

EBAE S ()
EmERE S ()
LM EBES (BEEG))

REEFABRRZEHM

24

Unlisted equity-linked securities (Note (iii))3F b 71 & AN #8575 5

Unlisted funds

(B =EGii) )
JEEmES

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

The listed equity securities represent listed shares on the Stock Exchange
and are stated at fair value. Net investment loss of approximately
HK$32,906,000 (2019: HK$6,850,000) has been recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The listed debt securities represent the senior notes listed on the
Singapore Exchange or the Stock Exchange and are stated at fair value.
The unlisted debt securities are issued by a company listed on the
Stock Exchange and are designated as FVPL. Net investment income of
approximately HK$1,599,000 (2019: HK$1,010,000) has been recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The unlisted equity-linked securities represent securities which contained
embedded derivatives, the return of which were determined with
reference to the closing price of certain equity securities listed on the
Stock Exchange. The unlisted equity-linked securities were designated
as FVPL. The unlisted equity-linked securities have been disposed of
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Net investment income of
appropriately HK$1,684,000 (2019: HK$1,612,000) has been recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2020.

GOLD INVESTMENT

(i)

(iii)

Gold

held for investment, at fair value

RIEREzZES BRAAEE

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

2020 2019
—z-=F et
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
53,054 80,618
14,945 30,528
6,091 -
8,027

927

74,090 120,100

ETRABHFBRB R ETRO RIZA
AREBENE - B#E-_Z-_TF+_A=1+—
BIEFE REKBEFEL32,906,0008
7T (ZZF— 114 : 6,850,000/ 7T ) ER B

T EEH BRI A 5 Fr sk B 2 AT
THZEAERREAABENER L
MEHELFE—HRBEIM ETMHAR
BOREERBRAALBEG ABR - RNE
EZ-_TEA+ A+ ALEEZR
B AR EEX1,599,00008 T (—F— 6
1,010,000 7T ) B A 1B 2 AR

FETRAHBEFRABERAXNITE
TAZESR HBHRDHLSEERTRE M
EWZRAFESFZKTEEE - LTR
AEHELFETERIZ AN BET ABZE-
FLETRABBELFERBE-_T=-ZF
F+-AZ+—ALFEHE-REBEE=
T_TF+-_AZ+—BHLFEEZEE
g A H EE 491,684,000 L (=2 — &
1,612,000 7 ) B A 182 AR

24 EERE

2020 2019
—2-FF —FNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET

68,589 =




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

24 GOLD INVESTMENT (continued)

25

The balance represented investment in physical gold bullions
which measured at fair value. The purposes of holding
physical gold bullions are to support the development of the
Group's physical gold trading business, and to achieve capital
appreciation and capture the effectiveness of gold as inflation-
proofing instrument. The fair value gain of approximately
HK$6,119,000 has been recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

For details of the accounting policy, please refer to Note 2.24.

For the fair value measurement of gold investment, please refer
to Note 3.4.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24 ETRE R

EHREREARBETENEYSED
BE-RFBEEMSENEMN I AZHAR
EEEVECEEEBNEE RER
BEABERIMEESERPRENEX
H-RHEEZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H
EFE EREETRERANBEEKE
496,119,000 T (ZE—NF &) o

BREFHRNFE  F2HME2.24 -

BRARSREZAABENE F2H
MtaE3.4

25 RERBRLSEEY

Cash at bank and cash in hand RITIRERFHERE

2020 2019
= —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAERT
640,915 771,662

Notes:

(a) The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

(@ FAEERSIASZEVOREAEUAT

HKS$ BT

us$ ETT

RMB AR
ARS TR 4 3=
Others Hib

EHEHE
2020 2019
S8 5 —T-n&
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FiET
466,853 672,958
163,680 97,167
3,050 27
7,319 1,498

13 12
640,915 771,662

(b) Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$3,034,000 (2019:
HK$11,000) and HK$7,496,000 (2019: HK$1,804,000) are held in the
Mainland China and Argentine Republic respectively, and are subject
to local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control
regulations provide for certain restrictions on exporting capital from the
Mainland China and Argentine Republic.

(b)  EARMEHI

BeNESEEWH3,034,0008 L (=ZF
— L5 £ 11,000 7T) & 7,496,000 7T (=
T — L4 : 1,804,000 7T ) Jv 9 IR AR
Wi KRR LRBEEE  BETE D
SNEE B HIE B - 5% B & O E B K 5] 2
RE B A &P ARG R E A 0B A
BT E TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

=, =,
26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 BENEZRAREMEMRK
15
2020 2019
STEIYY ==
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
= FET FAT
Trade payables B2 SR (i) 5,695 6,401
Other creditors and accrued charges H fth Ji& (< 2 18 &
et &M (iif) 64,524 57,574
Financial liabilities measured at R#BENATFEZ
amortised cost SREE 63,975
Other tax payables H e 118 59
Receipt in advance TE UL FRIE 212
64,246
Notes: B 5
(i) All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one (i) EEMAERNE SRR R M ENRER
year or are repayable on demand. R—FRENHIEEREE-
(i) The following is an ageing analysis of the trade payables presented based (i) RBEEHR ENESERREZEBHZE
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: T2 BRE AT
2020 2019
—E-FF —ZE-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FHAET
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 4,147 3,460
31 - 60 days 31£E60H 50 536
61 - 90 days 61290H 48 1,152
Over 90 days 90H LA |k 1,253
6,401
(i) Included in other creditors and accrued charges was a deposit of (i) HtENREREFERAEEEMEBEYL
approximately HK$44,994,000 (2019: HK$48,880,000) received from two F =W EI444,994,0008 L (ZE—Hh
independent third parties which appointed a subsidiary of the Company F:48,880,0008 L) MiEE ZEE=H
as trustee to pursue an acquisition. The potential acquisition had been ZEARA—HMRBRARAZFEANRTR
cancelled and the deposit is to be returned to those third parties. —HNE ZEEEWEDRIUE RE&E

BRETREE=T-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

27 BORROWINGS 27 B8

2020 2019
—E_EF —E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET

Unsecured term loans due for repayment — 4 (A EI| HA (B 18 2 & K38

within 1 year EHE R 143,067 10,544
Unsecured term loans due for repayment — 4F 1% 5| Hi (8 128 ~ & K 48
after 1 year: EHER:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FIREMFN 138,000
After 2 years but within 5 years MFEBERFR 3,000
R 000 5000 141,000
151,544
Reconciliation to the consolidated B4R S B SRR = O $T AR -
statement of financial position:
Current portion MBS 143,067 10,544
Non-current portion JEmENEB 3,000 141,000
146,067 151,544
The term loans carried fixed interest rates ranging from 4.00% FEHERIZFMENF4.00%%E8.00%
to 8.00% (2019: 5.00% to 8.00%) per annum. (= Z— A4 :5.00%%E8.00% )5t 5 -
The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the BEMNRABENRATESHE:
following currencies:
2020 2019
N —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
HK$ BT 141,316 151,544
RMB AR 4,751 -
146,067 151,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BAS » BT £ EH LB TTIIR)

28 LEASE LIABILITIES 28 HEEE
The Group obtains right to control the use of offices REEFBEERHESE —BRERA
for a period of time through lease arrangements. Lease ZHIRAEEAANEN B E LR
arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis with lease BRI EEER HHARNE=F -F#
terms of from two to three years. For details of right-of-use FRAEEENFE BF28ME17 -
assets, please refer to Note 17.
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRENAEB 2 HERENR_ZE_F
of the Group's lease liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and FRZE-NF+A=+—HBZF
2019: B RIEIEREARR
2020 2019
—E-8E —E-NF
Present Present
value of Total value of Total
the minimum minimum  the minimum Minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REHEE REEE REEE REEE
AREE RBHE FREE ARBE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FHT
Within 1 year —FR 3,162 3,227 834 839
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERFA 3,503 3,792 = =
6,665 7,019 834 839
Less: total future interest expenses i : BRI B RS @5 (354) (5)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEBERE 6,665 834
Represented by: A
Current portion mEE S 3,162 834
Non-current portion EEIE P 3,503 =
6,665 834
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, there was no significant RZEBE_ETEFER_ZE—NE+ A
short-term lease, low-value lease nor lease committed but not —t+—H TESEXEHEE - KEE
yet commenced. HE MECAHBEHRMARHEE -
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SREMBHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

29 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate

29

EaEHEEE

EREREANTENBESRHAEESR
EUNAEAERE AEELEMEHE
[F] — i 5 1% B8 A R B - R Al R AE A TR

to the same fiscal authority. The net amounts are as follows: BEHAETAEKE-

2020 2019
. —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets BEEFRIBEE 6,590 19,208
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE G (21,510) (30,919)
Deferred tax liabilities, net REFRIEE EF5E (14,920) (11,711)

The movement in net deferred tax liabilities is as follows: ER NS
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At 1 January n—H—H (11,711) (31,436)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss Rz (B) 5T A (13,896) 20,257
Hyperinflation adjustments BUERAER 10,687 (532)

At 31 December R+-_A=+—8

(14,920)

All the deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be
recovered after more than 12 months.

(11,711)

PRARERBEENABRBKMN2ME
HigUgm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

29 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 29 FREBHEERE (&)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to FAELEMIBEERBREZEH (KRB
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) R eDERRNEEAEERAT) AT
during the year are as follows:
Provisions Loans Others Total
Deferred tax assets BEHEEE BB &% Hit st

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
et L3 “T-N\F el —T-N 5 it 2l —T-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT Thx FHT Thx THT Fir

At 1 January »-A-R 4,477 14,495 19,208
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss WiEE (%) /FPA (165) (7,511) (6,787)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHBEARE (1,303) (1,098) (4,222) (3,091) (5,831)
At 31 December “+=A=t+-AH 3,009 2,762 6,590

Exploration and Property, plant and

evaluation assets equipment Others Total
Deferred tax liabilities EEHESE BARIMGEE nE BERRE i @it

2020 2020
g g 2.3 F g 2.3 z g 2.3 23 b g 2.3

HKS'000 ' HKS'000 ' HKS'000 ' HK$'000

TEx 7 TR 7 T 7 TEx
A1 January w—-F-8 14,433 , 3312 - 13,174 , 30919
(Credited)/charged to profitor loss R (3 A) /M (2,405) 5 1,465 8,049 \ 7,109
Hyperinflation adjustments ZHBEAR 307 2,941 ERE (19,56) , (16,518)
At 31 December W+ZA=+-8H 12,425 7,718 1,367 21,510
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses fi Pl BE B BAR R ER TR AN E RGN
carry-forward to the extent that realisation of the related Bh& A EERRERRLEMEN
tax benefits through future taxable profit is probable. In BE -RIBEW2. 22T H M ST &
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.22, S B Rt RETHIIEE1E49120,674,000
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect BT (ZZE—LF 112,841,000 1)
of cumulative tax losses of approximately HK$120,674,000 N IETRE)E ERE 459,114,000/ 7T (=
(2019: HK$112,841,000) and impairment of non-current assets T — 5 : 53,291,000/ 7T ) BER IR LT
of approximately HK$59,114,000 (2019: HK$53,291,000) as BEE DHREBBBRAZEELE
it is not probable that future taxable profits against which BE N K ATREHE A AT A LAEK BH B 1B A R 2R
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax FERBL R A - BRBIRITH A HIBEIE
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under EIENR

current tax legislation.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

30 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 0 fTEEmIT A
2020 2019
—ECBF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Liabilities &
Current liabilities mEBAE
Gold future contracts B5eHEEY -
Paper gold mER =

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and
not as speculative investments. For details, please refer to Note
3.2(a)(ii). Since the Group did not adopt hedging accounting,
all derivatives are classified as “held for trading” for accounting
purposes and are accounted for at FVPL.

The maturity dates of the outstanding gold future contracts
and paper gold are within one year and are classified as current
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2020, the notional principal amount of
the outstanding gold future contracts and paper gold was
approximately HK$67,996,000 (2019: Nil) and HK$163,065,000
(2019: Nil) respectively.

For the fair value measurement of derivatives, please refer to
Note 3.4.

PMTETAEERREESHRE E’]
TRARKELEIRE -BHEFS A
2B Y #E3.2(a)i) EHE’\$’$I:[
E%EZW%TFF’S# LS =Ea = L=kl

FRETTETIAASERIHE
EEJ Wik AR EEFABREA
Af o

MATTENEEHEANRESR
TNEHER—FRESERR
BafBd-

RZE-EF+=-A=+—8"
MATTENEPES LY RK
ETHRERELAEBEINAEND
67,996,000 L (ZE—NF: &)
163,065,000 70 (ZZE— & :
£)o

BETAETIENAD
20534 -

REEFE &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

31 PROVISIONS 31 #BE
The carrying amount of the Group’s provisions mainly AEBBE REAETZEREBMEE
represented the provisions for asset retirement obligations for M EREBEEREREETREB - FAE
the upstream business in Argentina. Movements of provisions W MM T

during the year are set out as follows:

2020 2019
—EZEF —T-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T T
At 1 January mn—HA—H 20,504 14,828
(Reversal)/provision during the year FR(EE) HiE (201) 4,029
Hyperinflation adjustments BMERAE (186) 1,647
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 20,117 20,504
Less: amount included under “current & [ BE] B TAEE
liabilities” ke (20,117) (9,968)
10,536
In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations and the R I5 B B8R Bl BOR 48 DA K B2 T i B A
agreements with the surface owners, the Group is obliged ZE AEBERFBRAREEER
to accrue the costs related to the future costs of plugging MEERRKAN BHEHEBRHRR
and abandoning its oil properties, the removal of equipment R RGTHERAERAMR 2
and facilities from lease acreage and returning such land to HEKARBRAZEEHEREEN T
its original condition, and indemnification of surface owners Wi A AR E S - 52 5 A AS I B BE BT 7
for the damages caused by the exploration activities. These OMBEEZ —MREBZMAEREREN
costs reflect the estimated legal and contractual obligations EE-UWEBIENBEHEEE REEK
associated with the normal operation of oil properties and were HER b -BHERESFLMAIKERM
capitalised by increasing the carrying amounts of the related BAITESHEEL 2 REMETMETE

assets. The provisions have been determined by the directors
based on their best estimates of the level of expenditure and
extent of work required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3B 5t BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32 EXkf#E
(a) Share capital (a) B=
(i) Authorised and issued share capital () 2EREZEHTRA
2020 2019
i g 22 —E-NE
No. of shares No. of shares
RAHE gnE 4]
'000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000
TR TER T THT
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January and 31 December R—HA—H &
+-A=+-H
Ordinary shares of BRAEEETZ
HK$0.01 each LAk 200,000,000 pJOLNRONIE 200,000,000 2,000,000

Ordinary shares, issued EER CRETRAR:

and fully paid:

At 1 January and 31 December A—HA—BK+=A
=+-H

Ordinary shares of BRAEEETL

HK$0.01 each TER 8,758,881 8,758,881 87,589
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TR A AGRBIRA R
dividends as declared from time to time and are FERZBRERBERERRR
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the ARELELBRERIE—F-HA
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with RAIZRKBEEMS A
regard to the Company's residual assets. LT RRRNEZB RIS

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REZHERAN
(i) Share premium (i) KEGEE

The application of the share premium account is BOHEEBRZERAXBR
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. E—NN—FRaERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 378 &t BASI - FT A & BHIABTTHIR

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (i) the
difference between the amount by which non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid upon acquisition of
additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2012 and
(ii) the difference between the nominal value of
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate of the share capital and share premiums
of subsidiaries acquired through a reorganisation in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange in October 1998.

(iiij) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations,
including the translation effect for entities operating
in hyperinflating economy. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2.7.

(iv) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial
assets at FVOCI that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see Notes 2.13 and 20).

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

)

32 EXRMHE
(b) HREZHEREN(H)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BXEE
AEBERNEHEEOIETE R
EZEHAEesREEE %

——f+ZRA=+—HL1#F
FEWHEIEZ LN B R REIN
BEENREAREBEZE
M= Ri)ARAIB %17
THRREEREAEEALNT
B& A 7 — LN\ FE 4 A R
RET EmimEBERMKE
WEBRAR ZBRAREKGRE
FEREN T o=

EL#E

E X B EREINEEMS
i&%?ﬁ%%iz}%ﬁﬁl\@%
BEREREMEBEREEE
LEEBNEI AR %%ﬂ

AR TRIEM E2.7/5 &
At R IE

RAREEFE (FHTEYK)
NRhEBEGEE (TR YK)
BERAREBEEFAEMS
MU R R E BRI
ENeRMEEZ R ANE
BEZ2EHFE(REWE2.13K
20) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

v)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group and the
Company represented the credit arising from capital
reduction in prior years.

Under Section 54 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, contributed surplus is available for
distribution as dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws
and provided that immediately following the
distribution, the Company is able to pay its liabilities
as and when they fall due or the realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group's consolidated cash flow statement as “cash flow
used in financing activities”.

32 EXN#E#)

(b) REZMHEERBW (E)

(v) EHEEH
AEBERARRZEBAK
EREFERRRAEL L
R

BEBRE-NN\—FQF
EESME ARBIZEHA
A mRE S IRRE
A E N T HBANES AT -
BEREBYIRE  &NAa1D
BRRNINEBBPEE X
KAREEZIEREET
ZERREEE BEITRA
MR RERBMBATH
ALRAS o

33 HEREER

REMETDNREZHE

TRFAAKRERERETHNEEL
28 SRR RIIFACEH -KAR
BEPMAEREREREDNSHER
KREREKSENBEAKEGZSR
EREXRERIREIZDAAETRE
MEBE-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 38 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 33 HEeEREER (&)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing REMETHNEBEZ2HER(£)
activities (Continued)

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
Hihfg& HEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FTAEL FTAEL
At 1 January 2019 R-ZZ-hE—-A-H 210,792 2,909 213,701
Changes from financing cash flows: REMERSRENEE:
Capital element of lease rentals paid EREEHERTS = (2,075) (2,075)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERREMFSEHS - (91) (91
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (57,400) = (57,400)
Other changes: Hin2%:
Accrued in interest payable JE 1S FEETF B 13,721 91 13,812
Interest paid ERFIE (15,569) = (15,569)
Total other changes Hip & E @t (1,848) 91 (1,757)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-h§+=A=+-A 151,544 834 152,378

Changes from financing cash flows: REMERERENED:

Capital element of lease rentals paid ERAENERS S - (2,160) (2,160)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREEHNFEES - (227) (227)
Proceeds from borrowings R ZFEHE 4,497 - 4,497
Repayment of borrowings BEREE (10,000) = (10,000)
Other changes: Hitn2g:

Accrued in interest payable B AT A2 10,888 11,115
Interest expenses paid BERFIEREY (11,108) (11,108)
Inception of lease contracts FVHERH - ) 7,991
Exchange differences EHEZR 246 246
Total other changes HiZgast 26 ; 8,244
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZ-ZF+=-A=t-H 146,067 ! 152,732
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FBH B LIIR)

34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Max
Sun Enterprises Limited and Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
respectively, which are incorporated in the BVI.

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/
or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 12 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 11, is as
follows:

3 ERFEBARS

RARAEERRAEENEETRAIR
BREERFDMNAREBERHST
MLz EFEEBR AR RChow Tai
Fook Capital Limited

IRZFREMBHREAMS - H— A6k
NEERSIEERANEEEDY B REE
RERBEFEEAFEN NEBEESTA
AR S EA KB A R - BERE T A BER
BA(BIEEEEREKRE FERRRE
HEFHIR)REMER BEIAN
SEBEANBBIEATENER-
RIRIEHI &7 AR R A R

R AU MR AT RESEIN
REBETZEANBR A RZZWMT

() FEZEHEEAEMS
AEBFEEEBEEAENE (B
ENFHEI2MEBEARRES
EWENBEEZESE Taa e
B ZIE)AT

2019
—F-hF
HK$'000
FHET

2 B 48 A
BB R A

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

7,667
31

7,698
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Other related party transactions

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 378 &t BASI - FT A & BHIABTTHIR

)

3 EXBEBARS (&)

(b) HtbEEELS XS

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Rent and management fee paid ENAAREEGRRZ
to an associate of an BenafehEEE
intermediate parent of (F5E)
the Company (Note) 2,302
IT management and support BERNAAREESQRZ
fees paid to an associate of RN N R 57
an intermediate parent of EERIEE
the Company 125
Note: 3T -
The Group entered into lease contracts in respect of its office with AEBEANQREES QA 2B E QRG]
an associate of an intermediate parent of the Company. As at 31 VEBRRAENHESN - R_T_TF

December 2020, the aggregated balance of lease liabilities due to related
party in respect of the leased office was amounting to approximately
HK$6,187,000 (2019: HK$834,000).

(c) Loan from a related party

In December 2020, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with an associate of an intermediate
parent of the Company (the “Lender”), pursuant to
which the Group agreed to accept, and the Lender
agreed to grant, an unsecured loan in the principal
amount of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,497,000) carrying interest at 4% per annum for a
term of one month maturing on 15 January 2021. As at
31 December 2020, included in borrowings (see note 27)
was the aggregated amount of loan and accrued interest
due to the Lender of approximately RMB4,007,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,751,000) (2019: Nil).

35 COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the date
of consolidated statement of financial position:

+ZA=+—B HEERIEESEH
FRHEBBRERRHKG6,187,0008 T
(ZZ— N9 : 834,000 T) °

() EW—EEBAIEXR

m_7_7¢+ A AREEHEK

NEEBEGRARIZHE NG ([E
FDRINER B Bt A5 E
BEEX MEAFREERHAS
A AR #4,000,0007 (EERLD
4,497,000/ 0) 2 EE A E K 1%
FRERLI%TE -BHRA—@A
R-Z-_—F—A+HBEH-®
TE-EE+-A=+—H BE
(RME27)BERENERAZER
N B AAEELK) AR 4,007,000
7t (& R 494,751,000 L) (=
T—NFE)o

35 &iE

NEEMBIRANKRAAEBREE L
AAFEMEWT

EREERFTL

Authorised but not contracted for

zozo 2019
—EC_EF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
236,606 43,608
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36 A2 B BERAE
COMPANY

2020 2019
—ECEF —T-hF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRRIZIEE =
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and AT RIE - e R HEME
other receivables WK IE 222,612 799,165
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFAEBRE
through profit or loss LEMEE 30,816 45,142
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEY 499,116 761,928
752,544 1,606,235
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H b fE SRR 50,915 55,438
Borrowings =P 138,316 10,544
. 189,231 | 65,982
Netcurrentassets _________ HWRBEEFE 563,313 . 1,540,253
Total assets less current liabilities AEERABEE 563,313 1,540,253
Non-current liabilities ERBEME
Borrowings BE 3,000 141,000
Net assets EEFE 560,313 1,399,253
Capital and reserves BARR#E
Share capital % A 32(a) 87,589 87,589
Reserves f# % 37 472,724 1,311,664
Total Equity B 560,313 1,399,253
The statement of financial position of the Company was RARRIMBRAKRER-_E-_—F=
approved by the board of directors of the Company on A+ N\HEARARAEESRBIYAHT
18 March 2021 and was signed on its behalf. WATREREE:
CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart TANG, John Wing Yan
[ KB
Director Director
EZE EZE
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37 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY b NN R 2
$Elﬁa$\%

ﬁ%Z‘%THE%ZE’%,“

RN RIS S E S
BRDAEPR AR

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group's consolidated equity is set

202

out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details AEREZBIRETNRFREA#
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of E= =g (N
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Fair value
reserve
Share Share Capital (non-  Contributed Accumulated Total
capital premium Reserve recycling surplus losses equity
MNEE
1
B& R EE Exfifs  (FREW) EHES 2iEE REiaE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FHL FAL FHAL FHL FAL FHL
At 1 January 2019 WZE-NF-F—H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740,880 (2,263,084) 3,438,461
Total comprehensive loss 2EFBAE
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - (2,039,208)  (2,039,208)
At 31 December 2019 and R=B-AE+-A=1+-AR
1 January 2020 ZE-Zf-8-H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740,880 (4,302,292) 1,399,253
Total comprehensive loss 2EFBAE
Loss for the year ERER (838,940) (838,940)

At 31 December 2020

R-2-8£+-A=1-H
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4,868,181

BRERDE

(4,696)

740,880  (5,141,232)

560,313




Set out below is a summary of the results and a statement of net
assets of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as

appropriate.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS

REVENUE Wz

Continuing operations RELEER
Discontinued operations ERIEREER
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION %A1 (&18) /%A
Continuing operations BELEER
Discontinued operations BRI EETR
INCOME TAX ixs

Continuing operations FERERET
Discontinued operations EREEEER
(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO {5 (&5 #8) /i F
Owners of the Company /NI Z=PN
Non-controlling interests FERER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets EmBEE
Current assets MEEE

Total assets EEAE
Current liabilities mEAE
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Total liabilities BELAE

NET ASSETS BERE

2020
—E-8E

" HK$'000
FET

5,034,518

5,034,518

(64,558)

(64,558)
(14,936)
(14,936)
(79,483)

(1)
(79,494)

2020

- et 5::3
HK$°000
TiEx

130,543
890,625

1,021,168

240,789
21,423

262,212

758,956

TXARAEERBERBMBFE 2 X5
BEFEBRUE DREZAKELZEGR

hFEBEHE

K
T

BHRRICHEBEEBERTENDE-

ES

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HL%E

2019 2018 2017 2016
“ENF —B-AF —F+F _—T—RF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FAL FEL FAET FAEL
236,646 297,989 287,557 57,108

- = - 53

236,646 297,989 287,557 57,161
(2,310,385) (246,447) 95,260 (229,615)
- - - (7,055)
(2,310,385) (246,447) 95,260 (236,670)
20,248 (10,777) 6,437 6,021
= = = 0]

20,248 (10,777) 6,437 6,020
(2,290,086) (257,218) 101,710 (123,349)
(51) (6) (13) (1,672)
(2,290,137) (257,224) 101,697 (125,021)
As at 31 December
W+=A=1+-H

2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-NE —ZE-)\& —Z—+tHF —ZT—RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FTAEL TAEL FTAEL
167,202 2,417,291 2,475,468 2,282,239
928,092 1,062,798 1,308,181 783,190
1,095,294 3,480,089 3,783,649 3,065,429
85,592 154,980 90,522 81,883
163,247 195,133 225,811 332,281
248,839 350,113 316,333 414,164
846,455 3,129,976 3,467,316 2,651,265
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LOSSARY
R

W G)

“BBL"
[BBL |

“BOPD”
[BOPD |

“km2"
[km?]

“MBBL"
[MBBL |

“MMBBL"
[MMBBL |
“MMBOE’
[MMBOE |

“Recoverable Volume”

DEET

“Prospective Resources”
[(RRERE]

"Probable Reserves”

[0 7t &

"Possible Reserves”
[l gefd = |

“Proven Reserves”

[REARE ]

“2P Reserves”

[2P f# = |

Barrel

i

Barrels of oil per day

YEp: P =3E!

Square kilometers
FHRE

Thousands of barrels of oil

TR A

Million barrels of oil, a barrel is equivalent to 42 U.S. Gallons or
0.158987 m3
BEWAOM —WBEN425E N7 30.15898732 5 K

Million barrels of oil equivalent, a barrel is 42 U.S. gallons or 0.158987
m3
BERBEE  —MEN42EM®K0.15898737 77K

Quantities of petroleum anticipated to be commercially recoverable by
the application of development projects to known accumulations, which
at present does not fully meet the definition of Reserves as defined
under the Petroleum Resources Management System (PRMS) due to
pending exploitation permit.

FRERAREMAEPHNERIBR M AIETAXT RO A MES
BREARBFFRKR - BRFARER SO HEIRE IR ZF(PRMS)AT A
EZREZEE

Quantities of petroleum which are estimated to be potentially recovered
from undiscovered accumulations

A AR FRERATRARNAHE

Additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than Proven
Reserves but which, together with Proven Reserves, are as likely as not
to be recovered

ML RARETARAERERSHREBRNEIIMESE HEEKAKS
HAge A AR R

Unproved reserves which analysis of geological and engineering data
suggests are less likely to be recoverable than probable reserves

WERTIRBEINBERIREDRNRFEERENRRARE

Proven oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas which,
by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with
reasonable certainty to be economically producible
RAMRFEDBAWERTIREN T AINGETABEELE L
AAEERHRMEE

Proven Reserves+Probable Reserves

RO 4 R o
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